
1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Salford Civic Centre 
SWINTON 

 

 

MEETING OF COUNCIL 
 

 
 
 

Dear City Mayor and Councillors, 
 

You are invited to attend the Meeting of Council to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated: - 
 
DATE: Wednesday, 22 February 2023 
 
TIME:  9.30 am 

 
PLACE: Council Chamber, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton 

 

Councillors are requested to ensure that their electronic equipment is on silent 

during Council meetings. Approval is given to officers and councillors to use 

social media during the business of council, subject to the protocol and social 

media policy. 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 

 
1   Any announcements or special business (including the 

submission of any urgent business) introduced by the 

Chair.  

 

 

2   Apologies for absence  

 
 

3   Declaration of Interests  

 
(Members must indicate which specific agenda item any 

 

Public Document Pack



2 
 

declaration relates to.) 

 

Disclosure by Members of “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” 
(as defined by The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012), and Members’ “Personal 

Interests” in accordance with paragraph 12.1 of Salford City 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.    

 
4   Report of the City Mayor - 2023/24 Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme  

 

(Pages 4 - 94) 

5   Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 

Services - 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement  

 

(Pages 95 - 179) 

6   Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 

Services - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 - 
2025/26  

 

(Pages 180 - 193) 

7   Senior Manager Appointments and Remuneration  

 
(Pages 194 - 201) 

 SCHEDULED FINISH 12.30 PM  

 

 



3 
 

 

Notes for Elected Members and Members of the Public 
 
(a) Addressing the Ceremonial Mayor during Council Meetings  

 
During Council meetings the City Mayor, Elected Members, Officers and members of 
the public shall address the Ceremonial Mayor as “Chair” when speaking at the 
Council meeting.  

 
(b) Points of Order and Personal Explanations 
 

a) If a Member or Officer stands on a point of order or to give a personal 
explanation: 
 

 the Member shall be heard immediately, and 

 any Member or Officer speaking shall sit down. 

 
b) A point of order shall relate only to an alleged irregularity in the constitution or 
conduct of the meeting, and the Member or Officer shall immediately give details of the 

allegation (if possible, identifying any Standing Order or statute considered to have 
been broken). 

 
c) A personal explanation shall only be to clear a misunderstanding of something 
said by the Member or Officer.  

 
d) The ruling of the Chair on a point of order or a personal explanation shall be at 

his or her discretion. 
 
 

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014’, 
the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting. 

 

 
 

Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive 



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

1 

PART 1 

(OPEN TO THE PUBLIC) 
ITEM NO. 

TO THE CITY COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 22 FEBRUARY 2023 

Subject:  2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Recommendations:  

Members are requested to: 

1. Note and support the risk assessment of reserves and assumptions made in preparing the 
revenue budget for 2023/24, and accordingly approve a revenue budget of £244.692m. 

2. Approve in accordance with the formal resolution set out in Appendix 4: 

1. That the revised revenue estimates for 2022/23 and 2023/24 as set out in this report be 
approved. 

2. That the council confirms the decision of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services on 17 January 2023 to approve the calculation of 73,859 as the council’s council 
tax base for the year 2023/24 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B (1) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended). 

3. That the council confirms the action of the chief finance officer (s151 officer) in approving a 
business rates estimate which shows £101.067m as the council’s share of its retained 
business rates for 2023/24. 

a) That the following amounts be now calculated by the council for the year 2023/24 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act): 

b) £804,453,007  being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (2) of the Act representing the gross revenue budget of the 
council. 

c) £666,906,868 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act. 

d) £137,546,139 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 31A (4) of 
the Act, as its council tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31A 
(4) of the Act). 

e) £1,862.28  being the amount at (c) above, divided by Item T ((2) above) calculated by 
the council, in accordance with Section 31B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its 
council tax for the year. 

3. Approve the HRA budget for 2023/24 as set out in Part 2. 

a) Identifies that the estimated outturn expenditure for 2022/23 is expected to have a 
contribution from HRA reserves of £0.757m and consequently the balances held in reserve 

at 31 March 2023 are forecasted to be £6.835m. 

b) Identifies that the City Mayor has approved a 7% increase in rents for 2023/24. 

4. Request that each Lead Member and Strategic Director monitors expenditure against budget to 
ensure that overall net expenditure is contained within budget, and for the Lead Member for 
Finance and Support Services and the Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer) to report to Overview 

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

2 

and Scrutiny Board on progress with the budget on a corporate basis. 

5. Approve a capital programme of £88.882m for 2023/24 and the proposed sources of funding as 
set out in Part 3 and detailed in Appendix 6, and require all capital proposals be referred to the 
Procurement Board for approval as required by the constitution, supported by detailed funding 
arrangements, prior to contractual commitments being made. 

6. Approve the treasury management prudential indicators for 2022/23 to 2026/27 as set out in 
Part 4. 

7. Approve the delegation of authority to the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) after consultation 
with Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the City Mayor, to make any 
necessary technical adjustments to the figures upon receipt of any further details associated 
with government funding announcements. 

8. For the purposes of section 11B(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply to any long term empty dwelling (that is any dwelling that for a continuous period 
of at least 1 year has been unoccupied and has been substantially unfurnished) within the 
Salford City Council area. 

9. For the purposes of section 11C(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply and the amount of council tax payable in respect of that dwelling and that day is 
increased by 100 percent in respect of any day where a dwelling has no resident and the 

dwelling is substantially furnished. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The 2023/24 settlement 

In December 2022 the government published a local government finance policy statement setting 
out the government’s intentions for the local government finance settlement for the years  2023/24 
and 2024/25, however, funding allocations within the settlement covered only 2023/24. Whilst the 
government has provided some indications of its approach to the implementation of funding 
changes, the impact of these will only be clear once a full settlement is published at local authority 
level for 2024/5 and 2025/26. It should be noted that the government has committed to a wide-
ranging review of local authority finance in 2025/26. 

At a national level, 2023/24 funding headlines included: 

 The increase in core spending power of 9.4% in cash terms with a minimum funding 

guarantee of 3%.  

 The new 3% Funding Guarantee to replace the Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG). 

 No “negative RSG”. 

 New Homes Bonus continues for another year with no legacy payments. 

 £2.3bn of additional grant funding within core spending power, with £2bn for social care 

grants. 

 Services grant has reduced from £822m in 2022/23 to £483m in 2023/24. The reduction 
includes removal of funding for the National Insurance contribution increase in 2022/23 that 

was cancelled. 

Page 5



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

3 

 Band D thresholds will be up to 2.99% in 2023-24, with a further ASC precept of up to 2% 
in 2023-24 and 2024-25. 

 The rural services grant increases to £95m. 

 Fair funding will not be introduced in this parliament. 

For 2024/25 

 Baseline funding level and revenue support grant will be uplifted by inflation, with under-

indexing fully compensated by cap compensation s31 grants. 

 Social care grant amounts and distribution will continue. 

 A review of New Homes Bonus. 

 Council tax Band D referendum limits and social care precepts proposals have been 

confirmed. 

Protecting the council’s priorities - development of the budget 2023/24 

The council’s approach to strategic planning and budget framework planning is set out in the 
Medium-term Financial Strategy, which is being considered by council alongside the budget report. 
A three-year budget strategy has been developed to manage the council’s financial position on a 
longer term basis. This forecasts budget gaps of £12.4m and £23.9m for 2024/25 and 2025/26 
respectively. 

The council continues to progress the transformation of services and is developing an Innovate 
Salford programme to identify opportunities to develop sustainable savings to address future budget 
gaps. 

Service group proposals 

Service Reform 

The Service Reform directorate provides support and enabling services to ensure smooth running 
of the council’s business and ongoing service improvement and redesign. It provides a universal 
customer service through the Gateways and Broughton Hub and is responsible for the collection of 
council tax and business rates. 

The directorate continues to seek ways to improve collection of local taxation – both council tax and 
business rates – in a socially just, fair and responsible way.  The Better Off teams introduced during 
2022 work in a collaborative way with other services to enable a whole system focus on supporting 
residents and business to pay their bills. It is credit to this approach that collection levels were not 
only maintained during 2022/23 but exceeded expectations. 

A key outcome this year has been to ensure a stable, permanent workforce, essential to the 
delivery of high-quality services to residents and business. Working jointly with the trades unions, a 
revised pay structure has been developed to mitigate the risk of losing qualified, experienced staff 
and ensuring that the high calibre is maintained when recruiting new employees. 

In addition, the directorate has led on the development of Innovate – a programme to make a 
fundamental and positive difference to our staff, residents, businesses and place, by building on our 
innovative and transformational techniques and co-design methodologies to deliver the medium-
term financial strategy. 

For 2023/2024, our business plan will focus on three themes: 

Page 6



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

4 

 A modern, safe council which will: deliver a review of governance, decision making and an 
updated constitution; lead on the medium-term financial strategy to ensure an annual 

balanced budget. 

 A high performing council which will: focus on workforce capacity and capability through 
succession planning and talent development; implement the procurement strategy to 

deliver social value and create community wealth building opportunities. 

 An innovative council which will: implement year one of Innovate savings delivered through 
a review of third party spend, a review of the use of overtime and agency working, a review 
of business travel, working more holistically at a neighbourhood level and maximising 

housing subsidy entitlement. 

Children’s Services 

Children’s services continue to tackle their budget pressures by a relentless focus  on effective and 
innovative work to enable more children and young people to stay safely with their families. Route 
29 which is our model to support families on the edge of care, or struggling in care, has proved 
highly successful in meeting needs and has led to a clear reduction in young people entering care 
and a reduced need for placements outside Salford, with intensive support meeting their needs at 
home. However, the significant increase in placement costs nationally has reduced the actual 
financial benefit expected but has led to significant cost avoidance. Other innovations such as our 
Transforming care model for young people with very complex SEND needs has also proved 
successful in supporting families to stay together. 

Our model of neighbourhood working has continued to develop and Salford now has well 
established Family Hubs in our communities which are becoming increasingly well used, with the 
range of services on offer expanding rapidly. The neighbourhood support system linked to our 
partnership with schools, early years settings and our college is helping us manage the increasing 
needs of families due to the on-going impact of Covid on their welfare and wellbeing. A significant 
deterioration in the mental health and children and their parents, increased poverty, and the loss of 
significant people for so many, has resulted in increased complexity of cases referred to Children’s 
Social Care. The effectiveness of practice is being constantly reviewed and developed and children 
are not coming back into care once they have left and once cases are closed to children’s services, 
re-referral rates are low. 

Salford has an increasing number of children and young people identified with special educational 
needs and disabilities and our focus is on meeting needs early. Due to the level of projected 
overspend on the High Needs DSG element of our budget, the Department for Education invited 
Salford to engage in a “Safety Valve” negotiation. An agreement was reached whereby the 
department would pay £15.1m to close our debt by 2025/26 subject to us implementing additional 
innovations to support us to live within our budget. This has proved a highly successful agreement 
with opportunity for the development of further programmes to support the children and young 
people of Salford and these will be implemented in the coming year. 

Salford continues to work in partnership with the CCG through integrated budgets and multi-agency 
delivery systems. We continue to be grateful to the CCG for their level of investment in children and 
the encouragement of innovation. 

Adult Health and Social Care 

As we have recovered from the impact of Covid-19 there has been a significant increase in the 
demand for Adult Social Care services and this has been particularly evident in our homecare 
service where we have seen a growth in the number of people supported by 17%. Adult Social Care 
has also continued to respond to the demand placed on our services through the build-back of 
acute hospital activity and we have continued to work closely and effectively with our colleagues in 
health to meet the need of Salford people as they leave hospital and return home. We have 
continued to address workforce pressures across Adult Social Care and we have been successful 

Page 7



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

5 

in increasing the capacity of our homecare workforce and our community occupational therapy 
teams. 

Through the Covid period additional funding was provided to local authorities to cover the full cost 
of ASC services under certain circumstances. Through 2022/23 we have worked to recovery and 
improve our position on client income, and this is now at pre-Covid levels. 

We successfully completed the DHSC nationally mandated Fair Cost of Care exercise, and we 
have used the learning from this to develop a revised ASC fee rate model, which includes provision 
for the Foundation Living Wage for staff. 

In preparation for the restart of statutory inspections of local authority adult social care services by 
the Care Quality Commissioning, we have developed a programme of CQC readiness. This has 
included a recent ‘peer review’ session facilitated by the LGA. 

Toward the end of 22/23 Salford received addition in-year fund for ASC, specifically to support the 
transition out of hospital for people who require ASC support. This funding has been applied to 
good effect, working with health colleagues and families  

During 2022/23 we have concluded two important procurement exercises. Firstly, working with 
Public Health we awarded a new Ageing Well contract to Age UK Salford for older people of 
Salford. Secondly, we have awarded our statutory Advocacy service to MIND in Salford. 

Despite these pressures, the integrated funding and delivery of services has led to shared decision 
making and priorities and shared management of budget challenges. Salford’s Intermediate Care 
Unit continues to offer rapid and effective preparation for discharge home. We continue to develop 
a new social care model of Community Led Support leading to strengths-based approaches and 
more creative offers for people to maximise their quality of life and the efficiency programs planned 
for the year have been implemented in part. 

Within Adult Social Care, work is underway to undertake Care Act assessments with outcomes to 
meet need that synergizing bespoke support services alongside Community activities. 

The intention is to achieve greater independence and control for the person by enhancing individual 
and community resilience. 

There will be an increase in the use of technology, both digital and technological to achieve greater 
self-control in the person’s community of choice. 

Salford had piloted a new model of community support for adults with significant mental health 
needs over the last three-years called Living Well, and the funding for this is now mainstreamed 
across Salford. The success of this approach is evident and feedback from those using the services 
has been very positive. 

Salford’s wider support for adults in the city has remained highly effective, with significant benefit 
derived from the Welfare Rights and Debt Advice service ensuring people maximise their income, 
access entitlements and manage their debts. 

Housing support services work in partnership to minimise those who become homeless due to 
poverty and to find suitable homes for those who need them. Salford Property Link continues to 
secure manage private accommodation for homeless people, to address low availability of social 
housing. 

Housing services continue to develop housing schemes funded through government initiatives, 
such as the Single Homelessness Programme and the Ukraine Accommodation Programme. 

The Housing Teams have implemented the Homes for Ukraine Scheme. The Health Improvement 

Page 8



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

6 

Service has offered many health support programmes to adults of all ages, including providing 
Covid vaccination schemes and the NHS Health Checks. 

The service has delivered health schemes for families and children, including the Holiday Activity 
and Food Programme. 

The service is working increasingly closely with the Adult Social Care service around community 
support, embedding wellbeing and Community Led Support approach to the pathway. 

Those staff have also worked tirelessly in communities to encourage the take-up of the Covid 
vaccine and have supported the recovery process for people who are experiencing Long Covid.  
Salford Assist has delivered immediate financial support for residents experiencing financial crisis 
and have allocated the Household Support Fund through application and through direct awards via 
practitioners, referral to support remains a key role within the schemes. 

The budget for Adult Social Care will remain a significant pressure for the next year, with the 
commitments of the Health and Care bill being underfunded from a Social Care perspective. 
Partnership working to tackle the pressures will continue to be essential. The development of the 
Integrated Care System for Greater Manchester is complex and still leaves many aspects to be 
clarified for the future in terms of governance and budget management. We are working closely on 
the development of new arrangements for Salford using the strength of our partnership system to 
assist us. 

Public Health 

The council has a statutory responsibility to protect and improve the health of the population and to 
reduce health inequalities. The directorate has been integral to the city’s Covid response – in 
particular understanding and managing covid cases/outbreaks as well as leading infection control, 
protecting health from a number of new emerging and seasonal threats, and supporting business 
continuity for health and care services. 

The difference in life expectancy between different parts of the city is currently around ten years for 
both females and males. The 2021 Census reveals a significant increase in younger people, a 
significant drop in working-age adults aged 45-49 years, and less of an ageing population 
compared to the rest of the country. 

The Salford Locality Plan 2020-25 is our roadmap on how we will improve people's health and 
prevent and reduce illness.  The annual public health annual report describes the next steps in the 
locality plan and the role of public health. Public Health work with local organisations and 
communities to improve people’s health and wellbeing and to avoid or reduce the risk of illness. The 
team are working with communities and voluntary sector colleagues to raise the profile and uptake 
of the public health prevention programmes, and to address historical barriers and inequalities. This 
helps to reach varied and diverse groups of people across the city. 

The council receives public health funding, originally through a grant from the Department of Health 
but since 2017 through the Greater Manchester business rates retention pilot. The funding delivers 
numerous public health services such as infection control and health protection, health 
improvement, sexual health, substance misuse, and 0-19 services. Public health funding also 
supports improvements to wider prevention services in the council to address the wider 
determinants of health. 

The directorate has delivered a balanced budget every year and is forecast to do so in 2022/23. 
From 2015 to 2019, there has been a year-on-year reduction to the national public health funding, 
which has resulted in a cumulative £3.454m reduction in Salford. The King’s Fund estimates that 
the reduction in public health spend means that local authority spending per head on key prevention 
services has fallen by almost a quarter in real terms between 2014/15 and 2019/20. 

Page 9



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

7 

From 2020/21, there has been a welcome annual uplift in public health funding, and additional one-
off grants awarded to Salford during the pandemic. These allocations whether recurrent or one-off 
are being outstripped by the level of demand and inflation. The public health grant for 2023/24 has 
not yet been announced. One-off grants for weight management, children’s early years, mental 
health, and substance misuse clearly highlight the precarious nature of prevention funding. 

The public health team are reliant on public health reserves to invest in prevention in the next two 
years. Currently, the team are exploring high spend areas to deliver savings to the council and the 
NHS so we can continue to live within our means. The public health team and partners will continue 
to bid for one-off funding opportunities to enable us to sustain prevention services in challenging 
times. At a time of increased demand and pressure on services, we remain committed to improve 
health and to tackle inequalities. 

Place 

The Place Directorate drives forward the council’s inclusive growth agenda through economic 
regeneration and development alongside delivering a very broad range of services that touch almost 
every aspect of residents’ daily lives. The work undertaken is highly visible including activities like bin 
collections, keeping the city clean, neighbourhood management, supporting the police in the fight 
against crime, car park management, providing nutritional school lunches, maintaining the Council’s 
fleet and issuing various licenses and other regulatory work. Much of the directorate’s work is a 
statutory requirement (such as the duty to maintain Salford’s highways as one example of many) and 
rely heavily on income generation. 

In 2023/24 the Place Directorate will reduce its budget by a further £0.493m in addition to the £30m 
of previous savings the directorate has had to make over the last 10 years. 

The directorate continues to maximise revenue income streams and make operational changes in 
the delivery of service improvements and efficiencies in maintaining a balanced budget, set within the 
context of a growing population and rising costs in the delivery of our core services. 

The council continues to recognise the importance of vital services in key areas such as street 
cleansing, the upkeep of parks and opens spaces, planning and building control and as such has 
continued to invest in these frontline services. 

For 2023/2024, we will continue to: 

 Deliver essential investment against our skills and work programme, providing a brokerage 
role in providing opportunities to young people progressing into education and work, 
connecting adults to employment and training opportunities, and supporting businesses to 

create sustainable opportunities for local people. 

 Maximise the use of technology in meeting the needs of residents and operational 
responsiveness, with a clear focus on customer outcomes that will continue to drive 

efficiencies. 

 Generate income and explore further opportunities across our commercial services. 

 Deliver effective re-procurement and contract management negotiations in buying products 
and services. 

 Deliver against our growth ambitions, securing further investment and funding to facilitate 
and enable new infrastructure and development into the city, generating further council tax 

and business rates. 

Deliver savings agreed under the 2023/2024 budget. 

Page 10



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

8 

The Budget Report 

This report sets out the specific proposals for the 2023/24 revenue budget and council tax, housing 
revenue account (HRA) budget, capital programme and prudential borrowing limits and is produced 
in 5 parts: 

Part 1 2023/24 revenue budget and council tax 

 Identifies that the outturn for 2022/23 is expected to show a break-even position against the 

budget, with general reserves expected to remain £13.2m. 

 Sets out the key factors taken into consideration in determining the budget and council tax, 
resulting in a proposed 4.99% increase in council tax for Salford’s services which 

includes an additional 2% for adult social care. This gives a band D council tax of 
£1,862.28 for the council’s services of which £245.82 relates to the cumulative precept for 

adult social care. 

 Sets out the details of the government finance settlement for 2023/24 for Salford, which 
gives an increase in core spending power on a like-for-like basis of 10.4%, noting that this 

is partly driven by anticipated increases in council tax income. 

 Identifies that, taking into account a 4.99% council tax increase and government resources 
from the settlement funding process, total net resources of £244.692m are available to 

deliver the desired outcomes for 2023/24. 

 Identifies that savings totalling £5.967m will be required to ensure that net expenditure is 

contained within the available net resources. 

 Recognises that the council continues to maintain its financial health by retaining a 

sufficient level of reserves that is supported by a risk assessment. 

 Notes the proposed Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept of £243.30 at band D 
(£228.30 in 2022/23) and Mayoral general precept (including fire services) of £107.95 at 

band D (£102.95 in 2022/23). 

 Proposes that overall council tax will be £1,475.68 at band A and £2,213.53 at band D, an 
overall increase of £72.34 (band A) and £108.52 (band D) on 2022/23. Single person 

households will pay 25% less. 

Part 2 2023/24 HRA Revenue Budget 

 Identifies that the estimated outturn expenditure for 2022/23 is expected to have a 
contribution from HRA reserves of £0.757m and consequently the balances held in reserve 

at 31 March 2023 are forecasted to be £6.835m. 

 Identifies that the City Mayor has approved a 7% increase in rents for 2023/24. 

Part 3 Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 

 Identifies that funding is available for a capital programme of £88.882m in 2023/24. 

 Identifies that general unsupported borrowing of £40.012m will be used in support and the 
capital financing charges on that unsupported borrowing can be met from the revenue 
budget. Provision for the revenue financing costs of unsupported borrowing has been made 

in the 2023/24 revenue budget and future budget planning. 

 Identifies the priorities for investment to be met from that available funding. 

Page 11



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

9 

Part 4 Prudential Indicators for 2022/23 to 2026/27 

 Identifies the prudential limits for the next three-years required to be set in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance produced by 
CIPFA. These indicate the affordability of the council’s capital expenditure and borrowing 
plans from the revenue budget and housing rents, together with the limits that will be 

adopted in the management of the council’s borrowing and investments. 

Part 5 Summary of Recommendations and Appendices 

 Contains a summary of the recommendations and detailed supporting information, 
including the formal resolutions relating to the setting of the council tax levy for 2023/24 to 

comply with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 at Appendix 4. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Local government finance settlement. 

Working papers held in the finance division. 

 

KEY DECISION: YES 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Budget Strategy, Mayoral team priorities, Business Plans 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

As part of this decision making process, the Public Sector Equality Duty Decision requires council 
staff and elected members to consider what will be the impact on people with protected 
characteristics, whether in the wider city or in our own organisation. The Council needs to 
understand who will be affected, how will they be affected and where possible how to minimise 
unintended negative consequences by planning in mitigations from the start. 

This report sets out the Mayor’s budget proposals for Full Council to set the budget. Some 
proposals will need further development for Cabinet to make a specific decision. For these 
proposals a relevance check is required and, where it is indicated as needed by the relevance 
check, a full Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken to inform the City Mayor when 
making that decision. 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

Paragraph 1.21 in Part 1 of this report contains an assessment by the Chief Finance Officer (s151 
officer) of the risks associated with the revenue budget and Appendix 2 contains a risk assessment 

of the adequacy of reserves expected to be held at 31 March 2023. 

 

1. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Iolanda Puzio – City Solicitor 

Page 12



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

10 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 sets out what the Council has to base its budget 
calculations on and requires the Council to set a balanced budget for the following year by 11 
March. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to the 
advice of the chief finance officer (S151 officer) as to the robustness of the estimates made for the 
purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 

The calculation of the council tax requirement and the formulation of plans and strategies for control 
of the Council’s borrowing, investments, capital expenditure and for determining the Council’s 
minimum reserve position are executive functions. The approval of such plans and strategies is a 
function reserved to full Council. 

The process to be followed to set the budget is therefore that the City Mayor and Cabinet 
recommend a draft budget to Council for approval. If the majority of Council does not approve the 
budget it will be referred back to the City Mayor. The City Mayor will consider the comments of 
Council and then present a further draft budget to Council, which can only be rejected by a two 
thirds majority of Council. 

The financial position must be closely monitored and members must satisfy themselves that 
sufficient mechanisms are in place to ensure the delivery of savings as well as to ensure that any 
new expenditure is contained within the available resources. 

In approving the budget, members must also have regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty in 
making their decision. Further information in respect of this duty is set out earlier in this report. 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted in the preparation of this report and is satisfied that the 
proposals set out in this report comply with the constitutional and legal requirements for the budget 
setting process. 

2. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

This report has been prepared by the council’s finance team in consultation with strategic directors 
and heads of service, and contains full financial implications around the budget, council tax and 
housing rent setting. 

 

Contact officers: 

Joanne Hardman – telephone no. 793 3156 

e-mail: joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk 

Tony Thompstone - telephone no. 793 2016 

e-mail: tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk 

Paul Hutchings (HRA) - telephone no. 793 2574 

e-mail: paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk 

 

 

3. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Anthony Hilton – Strategic Head of Procurement 

The procurement team will continue to work collaboratively with stakeholders, service areas, 
suppliers and partner organisations to deliver improved outcomes, ensuring that revenue budget 

Page 13

mailto:joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk
mailto:tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk
mailto:paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk


2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Executive summary  

11 

savings delivered as part of the Innovate program are captured and reported to enable ongoing 
efficiencies to be maximised. 

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES: Sam Betts – Assistant Director (Human Resources and Organisational 
Development) 

The HR & OD team will continue to work alongside service directorates and the Innovate 
programme team to support the redesign of services in response to new ways of working, place 
based / integrated neighbourhoods' delivery, and new and emerging technologies.  Ensuring 
appropriate workforce strategies and development plans are in place to ensure we have the right 
people in the right place with the right skills maximising the opportunities that the apprenticeship 
levy provides. 

 

5.CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS: Michael Hemmingway – Principal officer climate change 

The Revenue Budget and Capital programme are key to developing infrastructure that can be an 
engine for economic growth whilst helping the City achieve carbon reduction targets.  Investment 
continues in developing a pipeline of proposals to bring forward a reduction in the city’s carbon 
emissions. A key project to be delivered next year will be Solar Farm in Little Hulton which will 
generate electricity and financial savings for the council.  The city council’s estate will also benefit 
from further de-carbonisation measures subject to securing additional Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Grant.  The Zero-carbon pre-implementation budget will help in the development of 
future projects ranging from early steps developing fleet infrastructure to developing a pipeline for 
renewable energy generation projects. 

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

 

All wards 

 

 

Page 14



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Contents  

12 

1 Table of Contents 
PART 1 .................................................................................................................................................. 1 

1 Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 2023/24 ................................................. 15 

1.1 The strategic planning and budget framework process ................................................... 16 

1.2 Review of 2022/23 financial performance ........................................................................ 16 

1.3 The medium-term financial strategy ................................................................................. 17 

1.4 Level of general reserves 31 March 2023........................................................................ 18 

1.5 The local government finance settlement 2023/24 .......................................................... 18 

1.6 Other government funding - New Homes Bonus (NHB) .................................................. 21 

1.7 Other government funding - Schools funding .................................................................. 21 

1.8 Other government funding - Public Health ....................................................................... 25 

1.9 Other government funding - adult social care .................................................................. 25 

1.10 Levies and charges........................................................................................................... 26 

1.11 Council tax ........................................................................................................................ 27 

1.12 Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) .................................................................... 28 

1.13 Collection Fund ................................................................................................................. 30 

1.14 Summary of total available resources .............................................................................. 33 

1.15 2023/24 spending requirement......................................................................................... 34 

1.16 Savings requirement - bridging the budget gap ............................................................... 36 

1.17 2023/24 balanced budget projection and assumptions ................................................... 37 

1.18 General Reserves ............................................................................................................. 40 

1.19 The council tax levy .......................................................................................................... 42 

1.20 Council tax charges for empty homes and second homes .............................................. 45 

1.21 Budget assumptions and risks ......................................................................................... 46 

1.22 Legal considerations ......................................................................................................... 50 

2 Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue budget 2023/24 ................................. 52 

2.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 53 

2.2 Housing priorities .............................................................................................................. 53 

2.3 Review of 2022/23 ............................................................................................................ 54 

2.4 The 2023/24 estimate ....................................................................................................... 54 

2.5 Recommendation.............................................................................................................. 56 

3 Part 3 Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 and Capital Programme 2023/24 ...................... 57 

3.1 Purpose and aims ............................................................................................................. 58 

3.2 Key Principles ................................................................................................................... 58 

3.3 Capital expenditure ........................................................................................................... 59 

3.4 Development Capital Investment Projects ....................................................................... 59 

3.5 Funding Streams .............................................................................................................. 60 

3.6 Governance arrangements............................................................................................... 61 

3.7 Knowledge and Skills........................................................................................................ 61 

3.8 Review of 2022/23 ............................................................................................................ 62 

3.9 Capital expenditure proposals 2023/24............................................................................ 62 

Page 15



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Contents  

13 

3.10 Capital expenditure proposals 2024-2026 ....................................................................... 66 

3.11 Underlying assumptions ................................................................................................... 66 

3.12 Risks ................................................................................................................................. 66 

4 Part 4 Prudential indicators 2022/23 to 2026/27 ..................................................................... 68 

4.1 Background ....................................................................................................................... 69 

5 Part 5 Summary of recommendations ..................................................................................... 72 

6 Appendices .............................................................................................................................. 74 

Appendix 1 2022/23 financial performance ........................................................................................ 75 

Appendix 2 - Risk assessment of general reserves ........................................................................... 78 

Appendix 3 2023/24 revenue budget ................................................................................................. 81 

Appendix 4 Formal resolutions - 2023/24 council tax ........................................................................ 83 

Appendix 5 Housing revenue account (HRA) .................................................................................... 85 

Appendix 6 2023/24 Capital programme - by service £m .................................................................. 86 

 

Page 16



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Introduction 

14 

Introduction 

This report is presented in 5 main parts and is designed to pull together the key components of the 
council’s budget into a single document. 

It is also presented in this format in order to ensure that interrelated decisions between the revenue 
budget and the capital programme, and between the general fund and HRA revenue budgets, are 
taken at the same time and can be seen to be consistent between the different funding sources. 

Finally, it also allows the requirement for the council to set three-year forward prudential indicators 
under the Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance to be 
integrated with the budget setting process, as required by the Code. 

Parts 1 to 4 seek the approval of members of the council to the following: 

Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 2023/24 15 

Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue budget  52 

Part 3 Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 and Capital Programme  57 

Part 4 Prudential indicators 2022/23 to 2026/27 68 

In addition 

Part 5 Summary of recommendations 72 

Page 17



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

15 

 

1 Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 

2023/24 
  

Page 18



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

16 

1.1 The strategic planning and budget framework process 

1.1.1 The council’s approach to strategic planning and budget framework planning is set out in 
the Medium-term Financial Strategy, which is being considered by council alongside the 
budget report. A three-year budget strategy has been developed to manage the council’s 
financial position on a longer-term basis. This forecasts budget gaps of £12.4m and 
£23.9m for 2024/25 and 2025/26 respectively. 

1.2 Review of 2022/23 financial performance 

1.2.1 On 23 February 2022, the council set a budget for 2022/23 of £206.565m with an 
expectation that un-earmarked, general reserves at 31 March 2023 would be £13.2m. 

1.2.2 Throughout 2022/23, the Overview and Scrutiny Board has received regular reports on 
expenditure against the 2022/23 budget and forecast outturn. 

Table 1 forecast full year position as at 30 November 2022 in £m 

Service area Over/(under)spend 

People (Children’s) - GF 4.470 

People (Adults) 0.854 

Place -0.140 

Service Reform 1.513 

Public Health -0.500 

Precepts and Charges 0.000 

Capital Financing -2.200 

Net cost of services  3.997 

Centrally held items:  
Call on central budgets -3.997 

Projected overall position 0.000 

Approved use of general reserves 0.000 

Estimated outturn variation 0.000 

 

1.2.3 The forecast overall position is a balanced budget. However, as indicated above there 
have been significant budget variances. 

1.2.4 The majority of children’s expenditure is incurred via joint commissioning arrangements 
through the integrated fund. A risk share agreement provides that any overspend at the 
year-end will be shared by the partners. The adverse variance in table 1 therefore includes 
an estimate of the council’s share of these pressures which mainly relate to outside 
placements and SEN transport. The remaining non-integrated fund element of the 
children’s service group currently has a budget pressure of £0.275m, which is largely due 
to a forecast underachievement of external income. The service continues to work to 
identify opportunities to address these pressures which are driven by increasing levels of 
demand and rising costs. 

1.2.5 As with Children’s services, the majority of adults (adult social care) expenditure is 
incurred via a joint commissioning arrangement through the integrated fund. A risk share 
agreement provides that any overspend at the year-end will be shared by the partners with 
the council’s share of these budget pressures included in table 1 above. 

Page 19



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

17 

1.2.6 It is anticipated that Place will have an underspend position of £0.140m at year end, mainly 
due to delays in recruitment. However, there are underlying pressures relating to school 
catering and waste and street cleansing driven by inflationary increases in service costs 
which are being mitigated by underspends and income levels within the service. 

1.2.7 The adverse variance within Service Reform mainly arises from a significant budget 
pressure within Legal and Governance services, driven by increasing demand for support 
to other service areas. Work continues to strengthen the oversight of the shared legal 
service, establish a clearer view of the pipeline for legal support and determine the extent 
to which budget pressures can be controlled – this is a long term project. 

1.2.8 The capital financing budget is forecast to underspend by £2.2m at year end. The 
reprofiling of capital expenditure has led to lower levels of borrowing and interest and 
increasing interest rates have generated additional investment interest. 

1.2.9 Central budgets for prices and section 31 grant have been applied which will offset 
pressures within service areas on a short-term basis. 

1.2.10 The forecast year end position is based on projections as at the end of November 2022 
and is subject to potential fluctuations by year end. Any further major variation in service 
group expenditure is expected to be made good in 2023/24 and therefore there should not 
be a continuing impact on the budget. 

1.2.11 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is projected to have a positive variation of £0.986m. 
The DSG and the Safety Valve funding agreement is on track and funding will be used to 
reduce the current deficit balance brought forward from 2021/22. The successful 
achievement of the recovery plan will trigger a payment in 2022/23 which will further 
reduce the deficit. 

1.3 The medium-term financial strategy 

1.3.1 The Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS) takes a three-year view from 2023/2024 to 
2025/2026. The MTFS is the central document for our future financial planning: 

 It plays a key role in the council’s annual budget setting process – the MTFS sets the 
financial and wider context in which the council’s annual resource allocation and budget 
setting is considered. 

 Ensures the budget and our future financial plans are in line with Salford priorities. 

 Covers a three-year period but is updated and reviewed regularly and will be approved 

annually by Council. 

1.3.2 There is a substantial degree of uncertainty surrounding future local government funding. 
Whilst the government has given some indications of its 2024/25 approach, in terms of 
council tax levels and the timing of funding changes, the council has only received a one 
year settlement. The review of business rate retention pilots and the new homes bonus 
scheme represent significant risks in 2024/25. These risks increase in 2025/26 when it is 
anticipated that a revised funding distribution model will be adopted along with a business 
rates reset. Estimates will continue to be revised as more accurate information becomes 
available. 

Page 20



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

18 

1.4 Level of general reserves 31 March 2023 

1.4.1 Section 25(1) (b) of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the chief finance officer (or 
“s151 officer”) to report to the authority on the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves. Guidance from CIPFA is that local authorities, on the advice of their chief finance 
officer, should make their own judgement on a minimum level of reserves, taking account 
of the strategic, operational, and financial risks facing the authority. 

1.4.2 A risk assessment has therefore been undertaken to establish what should be a minimum 
level of general reserves for Salford. The details are provided at Appendix 2. While the 
assessment is not an exact science, the assessment indicates that the level of general 
reserves during 2023/24 should range between a minimum of £13.1m and a desirable 
target of £24.8m. 

1.4.3 A reserves strategy is considered later in this report and in the MTFS. 

Table 2 Non-earmarked general reserves as at 31 March 2023 in £m 

Balance as at 31 March 2022 13.2 

Add: 
 

Planned call on reserves in 22/23 0.0 

Estimated balance as at 31 March 2023 13.2 

 

1.5 The local government finance settlement 2023/24 

1.5.1 The government published its provisional settlement on 19 December 2022. Following 
consultation, the final settlement was published on 6 February 2023. In the final settlement 
the council received an additional £117k services grant and a one-off distribution of £609k 
from the government business rates levy account coming in 2022/23. This will go into 
reserves at the end of 2022/23 to be used as a one off contribution to savings in 2023/24. 

National headlines 

1.5.2 The 2023/24 settlement funding assessment indicated a headline increase of 4.8%. 

Table 3 National Data - 2023/24 settlement 

 
2022/23 2023/24 Change  

 
£m £m £m % 

Local share 14,676 15,232 556   
Revenue Support Grant 1,672 1,905 233   
Settlement Funding Assessment 16,348 17,137 789 4.8% 

 

1.5.3 Other key headlines in the settlement are as follows: 

 The increase in core spending power of 9.4% in cash terms with a minimum funding 

guarantee of 3%.  

 The new 3% Funding Guarantee to replace the Lower Tier Services Grant (LTSG). 

 No “negative RSG”. 

 New Homes Bonus continues for another year with no legacy payments. 

Page 21



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

19 

 £2.3bn of additional grant funding within core spending power, with £2bn for social care 
grants. 

 Services grant has reduced from £822m in 2022/23 to £483m in 2023/24. The reduction 
includes removal of funding for the National Insurance contribution increase in 2022/23 that 
was cancelled. 

 Band D thresholds will be up to 2.99% in 2023-24, with a further ASC precept of up to 2% 
in 2023-24 and 2024-25. 

 The rural services grant increases to £95m. 

 Fair funding will not be introduced in this parliament. 

Local headlines 

1.5.4 The headlines for the council are as follows: 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) – revenue support grant, business rates 
growth and top up 

 Settlement Funding Assessment increase of 4.6% 

 Like-for-like increase in SFA from 2022/23 £5.4m 

 The 2023/24 increase in SFA includes the rolling in of £0.5m of grants from 2022/23 

Council tax 

 Referendum limit for core council tax of 3% 

 Adult social care precept 2% for 2023/24 and 2024/25 

Spending power 

 Spending power +10.4% (2022/23 +7.4%) 

 Net increase in spending power +£30.4m (2022/23 +£19.8m) 

Schools funding 

 DSG +9.82% (including Supplementary/Additional Schools and High Needs Grants) 

 Increased by £24.87m plus £1.83m Supplementary/Additional Schools and High Needs 

Grants 

Social care grants 

 Increase to the social care grant of £8.5m to £22.6m (22/23 £14.1m) that includes the 

rolling in of the independent living fund grant of £0.8m. 

 No change to improved better care fund allocation that remains at £14.1m (22/23 £14.1m). 

 Adult social care market sustainability and improvement fund of £3.1m introduced. This 
includes £0.9m of continuing funding from the 2022/23 market sustainability and fair cost of 

care fund. 

 New adult social care discharge fund of £2.0m that must be pooled as part of the better 

care fund. 

Page 22



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

20 

1.5.5 The council, along with other Greater Manchester authorities, is a 100% BR retention pilot. 
As such, its local share of business rates includes sums that for non-pilot local authorities 
would be distributed separately as RSG and public health grant. The council is not 
disadvantaged by this, as shown below: 

Table 4 SCC Data 2023/24 Settlement £m 

 
Unadjusted 100% 

pilot 
Difference 

Business rates baseline 
   

SCC Local share 45.237 91.396 46.159 

Top up grant 30.114 30.788 0.674 

Total 75.351 122.184 46.833 

Revenue Support Grant      
RSG before grant adjustments 24.232 0.000 -24.232 

Settlement funding assessment 99.583 122.184 22.601 

PH grant (based on the 2022/23 amount) 22.601 0.000 -22.601 
Total 122.184 122.184 0.000 

 

1.5.6 The change from last year’s settlement is shown below. 

Table 5 SCC Data 2023/24 Settlement 

 
2022/23 2023/24 Annual change - like 

for like  
£m £m £m % 

Business rates baseline: 
    

SCC Local share 77.843 91.396 13.553 17.4% 

Top up grant 38.961 30.788 -8.173 -21.0% 

Total  116.804 122.184 5.380 4.6% 

Revenue Support Grant      
RSG before grant adjustments 0.000 0.000 0.000 n/a 

Settlement funding assessment 116.804 122.184 5.380 4.6% 

 

Core Spending Power 

1.5.7 The government continues to use its core spending power calculations to report the 
changes in councils funding. The figures for the council are given in the following table. 
The council’s increase of 10.4% is above the national increase of 9.4%. 

Page 23



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

21 

Table 6 Spending Power Calculation 

 
2022/23 2023/24 Change  

 
£m £m % 

Settlement Funding Assessment 116.804 122.184   

Compensation for under-indexing BR multiplier 7.423 12.835   

Council Tax Requirement 127.542 137.243   

New Homes Bonus 5.012 5.960   

Improved Better Care Fund 14.087 14.087   

Social Care Grant 14.098 22.640   

Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund 0.889 -   

ASC Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund - 3.086   

Lower Tier Services Grant 0.465 -   

ASC Discharge Fund - 1.975   

Services Grant 5.007 2.938   

Grants rolled in 1.260 -   

  292.587 322.948 10.4% 

 

1.5.8 Whilst core spending power is used as a headline indicator of local government funding it 
should be remembered that it does not demonstrate the impacts of inflationary increases 
and the increasing demands on services, which increase councils’ requirement to spend 
just to maintain a continuing service. 

1.6 Other government funding - New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

1.6.1 The NHB is to continue for 2023/24 £5.960m (£5.012m 2022/23) however no legacy 
payments will be generated for future years. A decision on whether NHB will continue in 
2024/25 will be made before next year’s settlement. 

1.7 Other government funding - Schools funding 

1.7.1 School funding is provided by a ring-fenced specific grant, the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG), which is paid by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to local 
authorities. 

1.7.2 The overall Dedicated Schools Grant amount has increased in 2023/24 compared to 
2022/23. The increase in the Schools and High Needs blocks is due to continued pupil 
growth within schools and academies in the city and the uplift in schools and high needs 
funding. Also, additional funding announced in the Autumn Statement 2022 will be 
received in the form of an additional grant for schools and academies in 2023/24 and 
additional funding allocated to the High Needs block. 

1.7.3 DSG funds must either be delegated to schools or used for centrally retained services for 
pupils. Local authorities are required to provide returns on both the budget and outturn 
DSG to demonstrate that the grant has been allocated and expended within the overall 
grant conditions. 

Page 24



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

22 

1.7.4 There have been changes to the distribution methodology of the DSG since 2013-14 to 
reflect the first phase of school funding reforms. The reforms affect the whole of the school 
funding system, including funding for local authority-maintained schools, early years 
providers, local authority centrally retained budgets, academies, free schools and post 16 
special educational needs provision. The government’s central priority of the reforms is to 
simplify and standardise local school funding arrangements, ahead of the introduction of a 
national funding formula. The introduction of the national formula was originally intended 
for 2015/16 but has been delayed for various reasons. The full implementation is expected 
in 2025/26. 

1.7.5 The DSG allocation to the city council for 2023/24 has been allocated for the school’s 
block using a rate per pupil for Primary of £5,058 (£4,799 2022/23) and Secondary of 
£6,679 (£6,308 2022/23). The full time equivalent per pupil amount for the early years 
block is £4,905 (£4,637 2022/23). As detailed above the high needs block is now 
calculated on the High Needs National Funding Formula. 

1.7.6 Salford’s indicative DSG for 2023/24 using the October 2022 pupil numbers for the 
school’s block, an estimated allocation for the early years block and a cash sum for the 
high needs block, is set out below. 

Table 7 DSG block allocations £m 

Block 2022-23 
Revised 

allocation 

2023-24  
initial 

allocation 

increase/ 
decrease 

Schools block 193.707 209.542 15.835 

Early years block note 1,2 below 22.114 23.389 1.275 

High needs block 46.555 54.402 7.847 

Central Schools Services Block 2.190 2.102 -0.088 

sub-total 264.566 289.435 24.869 

Schools Supplementary/ additional Grant 5.501 6.893 1.392 

High Needs Additional Grant 1.792 2.225 0.433 

Total 271.859 298.553 26.694 

1 The 2022/23 allocation is provisionally based on the January 2022 pupil census only. It 
will be adjusted in July 2023 to reflect 5/12ths of the January 2022 census and 7/12ths of 
the January 2023 census. 

2 The 2023/24 allocation is provisionally based on the January 2022 pupil census. It will be 
adjusted in July 2023 to reflect the January 2023 census (5/12ths of) and again in July 
2023 to reflect the January 2024 census (7/12ths). 

1.7.7 The allocation is provisional and, as noted in the table above, subject to a number of 
changes. 

1.7.8 The main factors contributing to the increase in DSG are: 

 Increase in pupil numbers. 

 National schools and high needs funding uplift. 

 The additional funding for schools and high needs announced in the Autumn Statement 
2022. 

1.7.9 The changes are analysed in more detail below. 

Page 25



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

23 

Table 8 DSG increase 2022-23 to 2023-24 (excluding non-block funding) £m 

2022/23 revised allocation 271.859 

Increases in school’s block:  

Pupil number growth 4.031 

Schools Funding Uplift 11.804 

Increases/Decreases in central block  

Funding Uplift / pupil number growth 0.100 

National 20% reduction in historic commitments funding -0.188 

Increases/Decreases in early years block  

Increase in hourly rate for both 2 and 3/4 year old funding 1.275 

Increases in high needs block 7.847 

Schools Supplementary/Additional Grant 1.392 

High Needs Additional Grant 0.433 

2023-24 initial allocation 298.553 

 

1.7.10 Two-year old funding moved to participation funding from 2015/16 based on the January 
census of children accessing funded places. Salford’s initial allocation for 2023/24 is based 
on January 2022 census and is based on an hourly rate of £5.73 (£5.67 in 2022/23). The 
allocation will be updated to reflect January 2023 and 2024 census information. 

1.7.11 There is protection in place, in the form of a guaranteed minimum amount local authorities 
will receive per pupil in 2023/24. It is calculated by dividing the schools block adjusted 
baseline total by the 2022/23 schools block pupil count (without the deductions for pupils in 
high needs places). 

1.7.12 There is a degree of protection in place for schools with falling budgets. The minimum 
funding guarantee (MFG) per pupil for schools is set at +0.5% for 2023/24 which has 
changed from +2% in 2023/23. For schools where pupil numbers are reducing, aggregate 
budgets can still fall in excess of this amount. 

1.7.13 The Pupil Premium grant targets additional money at pupils from the most deprived 
backgrounds to help them achieve their full potential. This grant is in addition to DSG 
funding and is calculated based on pupil eligibility for free school meals using the “Ever 6” 
measure (any pupil eligible for free school meals in any of the previous six years), eligible 
service children and post looked after children based on the October 2022 school census 
(excludes nursery pupils). In addition, there will be funding for looked-after children as 
recorded on the council’s looked after children return as at 31st March 2023. 

1.7.14 Schools have the freedom to spend the Pupil Premium, which is additional to the school’s 
budget, in any way they think best to support the raising of attainment for the most 
vulnerable pupils. 

1.7.15 The Pupil Premium rates for 2023/24 have increased from 2022/23 levels and are set out 
below: 

 Primary schools free school meals Ever 6 rate £1,455 (2022/23 rate: £1,385) 

 Secondary schools free school meals Ever 6 rate £1,035 (2022/23 rate: £985) 

 Primary and secondary schools looked after children rate £2,530 (2022/23 rate: £2,410) 

Page 26



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

24 

 Primary and secondary schools post looked after children rate £2,530 (2022/23 rate: 
£2,410 

 Primary and secondary schools service children rate £335 (2022/23 rate: £320) 

1.7.16 Recovery Premium Grant continues to be allocated for the academic year 2022-23 (Sept 
22 to Aug 23). This funding builds on the pupil premium funding to help schools deliver 
evidence-based approaches for supporting the most disadvantaged pupils. Disadvantaged 
and vulnerable pupils have been particularly impacted by Covid-19 resulting in missed 
education by pupils. 

1.7.17 The grant is allocated to individual schools based on specific pupil numbers and criteria at 
a unit rate of £145 per primary pupil and £276 per secondary pupil for mainstream schools 
and £290 per pupil for special schools, SEN units and alternative provision. 

1.7.18 National Tutoring Programme Grant - The Government offered schools a new expanded 
tutoring offer from the start of the academic year 2021-22. This grant continues and is to 
support schools to address the impact of Covid-19 on pupils’ progress and attainment. 
Disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic have resulted in significant missed 
education by pupils. There are a range of tutoring approaches; both continuing the existing 
work with the NTP and the complementary school-led approach. 

The grant is allocated to individual schools based on eligible pupil criteria multiplied by 15 
hours of expected tutoring. 

1.7.19 Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) was introduced in 2015/16. 3 and 4-year-olds in state-
funded early education will attract EYPP funding if they meet certain criteria. Children must 
be eligible for free early education to attract EYPP funding. They will become eligible at 
different points in the year depending on when they turn 3. 

1.7.20 Salford’s indicative EYPP allocation for 2023/24 is £0.314m. 

1.7.21 In addition to the schools’ budgets, the DSG also funds some central activities e.g. early 
years provision, high cost special educational needs pupils. Any under/overspending in 
these areas in 2022/23 will be carried to the 2023/24 financial year and adjusts the overall 
funds available for use in that year. 

1.7.22 Due to the level of projected overspend on the High Needs block element of this budget, 
the Department for Education (DfE) invited Salford to engage in the “Safety Valve” 
programme. An agreement was reached whereby the department would pay £15.1m to 
close our debt by 2025/26 subject to us implementing additional innovations to support us 
to live within our budget. There is matched funding to the council’s investment in the 
“Safety Valve” business cases to be delivered over the next 4 years . 

1.7.23 The council also receives capital grant allocations from DfE in respect of schools. These 
are: 

 Basic Need allocation for 2023/24 £7.463m, (£0.398m in 2022/23) based upon DfE 

calculation of need to create placements. 

 Capital maintenance indicative allocation £2.127m, (£2.127 in 2022/23). 

 Devolved formula capital grant, indicative allocation £0.386m (£0.386m in 2022/23). 

Page 27



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

25 

Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 

1.7.24 The government makes a grant allocation to fund free meals for children in reception, year 
1 and year 2 in state-funded schools. Whilst no details of 2023/24 allocations / rate per 
pupil have yet been released, it is anticipated that the council will continue to receive 
universal infant free school meals grant in 2023/24, at the same rate as in previous years 
of £2.41 per pupil per day. The allocation is based on the average number of actual meals 
take-up recorded in the October 2023 and January 2024 school censuses. 

1.8 Other government funding - Public Health 

1.8.1 The majority of public health commissioning responsibilities transferred from the NHS to 
local authorities in April 2013. These responsibilities contain a set of mandatory services 
which include population healthcare advice to the NHS, the national child measurement 
programme, sexual health services and cardiovascular health checks. 

1.8.2 In addition to the transfer explained above, with effect from 1st October 2015, the 
responsibility for the commissioning of 0-5 public health services transferred from NHS 
England to local authorities. This involves the commissioning of health visitors and the 
Family Nurse Partnership. 

1.8.3 The public health grant was rolled into 100% business rates retention in 2017/18. The 
trend of reductions in the level of public health funding has been reversed in recent years 
and from 2020/21, there has been an annual uplift in public health funding, and additional 
one-off grants awarded to Salford during the pandemic. These allocations whether 
recurrent or one-off are being outstripped by the level of demand and inflation. In 2022/23 
the public health grant allocation was £22.601m. The public health grant for 2023/24 has 
not yet been announced. 

1.9 Other government funding - adult social care 

Local Reform and Community Voices Grant, Social Care in Prisons Grant and War 
Pensions Disregard Grant 

1.9.1 Local Reform and Community Voices (LRCV), Social Care in Prisons (SCiP) and War 
Pension Disregard (WPD) grants provide funding for a number of additional duties and 
responsibilities of local authorities, arising from the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

1.9.2 The LRCV grant allocation for both 2022/23 and 2023/24 has not yet been confirmed 
(2020/21 £0.189m). It will provide funding to support Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DOLS) in hospitals, Local Healthwatch and the Independent Complaints Advocacy 
Service. 

1.9.3 The SCiP grant allocation for both 2022/23 and 2023/24 has not yet been confirmed 
(2021/22 £0.197m) It will provide funding for meeting the care needs of offenders. 

1.9.4 The WPD grant allocation for both 2022/23 and 2023/24 has not yet been confirmed 
(2021/22 £0.044m) It will provide funding to disregard (for the purposes of social care 
charging) all payments made under the War Pension Scheme with the exception of 
Constant Attendance Allowance. 

Better Care Fund / Integrated Fund for Health and Social Care 

1.9.5 The Better Care Fund (BCF) supports the transformation and integration of health and 
social care services and improves outcomes for patients, service users and carers. 

Page 28



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

26 

1.9.6 The BCF/improved BCF plan for Salford will be presented in the context of the integrated 
care system. The four partners: Salford City Council, GM ICB (formerly NHS Salford 
CCG), Northern Care Alliance (formerly Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust) and Greater 
Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust develop a Service and Financial Plan for 
the integrated care programme which incorporates the use of BCF. 

1.9.7 From 2019/20 expanded integration arrangements have been in place. These integrated 
arrangements incorporate BCF and are set out in more detail at section 1.21.21. 

Independent Living Fund (ILF) 

1.9.8 The council received £0.786m ILF funding in 2022/23. For 2023/24 the funding has been 
rolled into the social care grant. 

Social care grants 

1.9.9 The council receives funding to address demand in social care. The grants are non-
recurrent pending confirmation, from government, of the future funding regime for social 
care. It is not a viable long term solution to the critical national problem of social care 
funding. 

1.9.10 The council will receive £22.6m social care grant funding (including the rolling in of the ILF 
grant of £0.8m), improved better care funding of £14.1m, Adult social care market 
sustainability and improvement fund of £3.1m (including £0.9m continuation of the 2022/23 
market sustainability and fair cost of care fund) and new adult social care discharge fund of 
£2m that must be pooled as part of the better care fund. These grants will be deployed via 
the integrated fund for health and social care. 

1.10 Levies and charges 

1.10.1 The council contributes its share to the costs of the following bodies: 

 Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 

 Waste levy 

 Transport levy 

 Economic development and regeneration functions 

 AGMA functions 

 DEFRA Environment Agency 

1.10.2 The proposed waste levy for 2023/24 is £19.989m compared with £19.383m in 2022/23. 

1.10.3 The transport levy for 2023/24 is £10.466m and a transport statutory charge of £7.996m 
for a total of £18.462m compared with £17.751m in 2022/23. 

1.10.4 The council’s contribution to the other GMCA functions is expected to be £0.795m in 
2023/24 (£0.795m in 2022/23). 

1.10.5 The council will contribute £0.079m to AGMA activities in 2023/24 (£0.066m in 2022/23). 

1.10.6 The Environment Agency levy is estimated to be £0.145m in 2023/24 compared with 
£0.139m in 2022/23. This levy includes the cost of funding new flood defence schemes, 
the maintenance of the river system and existing flood defences together with the 
operation of a flood warning system. 

Page 29



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

27 

1.11 Council tax 

1.11.1 A tax base of 73,859 (71,905 in 2022/23) band D equivalent dwellings was approved by 
the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services on 17 January 2023 under delegated 
powers, an increase of 1,954 dwellings from 2022/23. 

1.11.2 The main reason for the increase in band D equivalent dwellings is new property growth in 
the city. 

1.11.3 Following consultation on the 2023/24 Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS), there will 
be no change in the minimum payment contribution for all eligible working age households 
of 12% but there was an additional provision that any existing and future welfare would be 
classed as disregarded income. 

1.11.4 In line with referendum limits for core council tax, the council intends to raise core council 
tax by 2.99% in 2023/24. 

2% council tax increase for adult social care 

1.11.5 The council intends to raise an adult social care precept of 2% in 2023/24. The 
government limit for 2023/24 is 2%. 

1.11.6 The council tax levy for Salford’s services will therefore increase by 4.99% in 2023/24 
including 2% for adult social care. This is within the referendum level set by the 
government which is described as follows: 

1.11.7 “For 2023-24, the relevant basic amount of council tax of an authority which belongs to the 
category mentioned in paragraph 2(a) is excessive if the authority’s relevant basic amount 
of council tax for 2023-24 is 5% (comprising 2% for expenditure on adult social care, and 
3% for other expenditure), or more than 5%, greater than its relevant basic amount of 
council tax for 2022-23.” 

1.11.8 The share of the expected revenue from council tax in 2023/24 for Salford’s services from 
a 4.99% increase is as follows: 

Table 9 2023/24 council tax revenue - council services 

Band D council tax for the council's services 2022/23  £1,773.76  

Band D council tax 2023/24 with 2.0% ASC increase  £1,809.24  

Impact on band D council tax £35.48   

Band D council tax 2023/24 (4.99% overall increase including 
ASC) 

£1,862.28  

multiplied by the tax base of 73,859 band D equivalent properties  

  £m 

Estimated council tax revenue 2023/24  137.546  

 

1.11.9 The government requires that the council includes a narrative on the council tax bill to 
show the increase attributable to the adult social care precept. The council has levied a 2% 
precept in 23/24. Based on the council tax level shown above the application of this 
increase will add £35.48 to the band D equivalent council tax charge and generate £2.6m 
in council tax revenues. 

Page 30



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

28 

1.12 Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) 

1.12.1 Under the BRRS the government has assumed that the council’s net business rates yield 
in 2023/24 will be £91.396m (at 99% retention - for comparison equivalent to £45.237m on 
a 49% retention basis). 

1.12.2 The council’s 2023/24 estimate is based on the estimated outturn position for 2022/23 and 
takes into account the following: 

 The new rateable value list that commences on 1 April 2023 following the national 

revaluation. 

 An estimate of growth. 

 The national business rates multiplier and small business rates multiplier. The small and 

main business rates multipliers for 2023/24 are 49.9p and 51.2p respectively. 

 Estimates of the impact of various statutory and discretionary reliefs. 

 Potential losses on appeal. 

1.12.3 The council’s 2023/24 estimate is based upon the NNDR1 return to the government which 
indicates a business rates yield of £102.086m to be shared as shown below. 

Table 10 2023/24 business rates estimate £m 

 
Impact on yield 

Gross rates payable (including growth) 146.167 

Small business rate relief -8.908 

Mandatory relief  -9.519 

Empty property relief  -7.108 

Discretionary relief -0.168 

Retail, hospitality and leisure relief -7.564 

Other relief -1.117 

Estimated losses in collection -4.519 

Estimated cost of appeals -4.734 

Costs of collection allowance -0.444 

Renewable energy schemes -0.155 

Net business rate yield 101.931 

Renewable energy scheme rates retained by billing authority 0.155 

Total net business rate yield 102.086 

To be distributed as follows:  
Council share, govt assumption 91.396 

Council share, excess over govt assumption 9.671 

GMCA (fire element) share 1.019 
 

102.086 

 

Page 31



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

29 

1.12.4 The business rates projections continue to be calculated using a prudent approach which 
takes into account estimated growth arising in particular from our regeneration initiatives, 
financial risk to the council arising from potential losses of income due to appeals, 
increases in charitable relief claims and the escalation of business rate avoidance 
schemes, whereby companies exploit loopholes in the existing law. In particular, it is 
difficult to establish a trend for the impacts on our business rate yield resulting from the 
cost of appeals. 

100% Business rates retention 

1.12.5 In 2023/24 Salford will again be part of the 100% rates retention pilot scheme operating 
across Greater Manchester. As a pilot authority, the council retains 99% of locally raised 
business rates with the remaining 1% being distributed to GMCA in relation to its fire 
responsibilities. To ensure that this is fiscally neutral, pilot councils have additional 
responsibilities. Revenue support grant and Public Health Grant are no longer receivable 
but are funded instead through the increased local share. Councils’ tariffs and top-ups are 
adjusted to ensure cost neutrality. 

1.12.6 The system takes account of the changing shape of local government, including the role of 
combined authorities. In the underpinning agreement, pilots are required to deliver at least 
some elements of: 

 devolution of new responsibilities. 

 needs and resource redistribution. 

 the new 100% rates retention system (i.e., some of the technical and financial 
mechanics for how it should operate). 

1.12.7 Greater Manchester (GM) cannot be any worse off than under the previous 50% system. 
The basis of the pilot is that this is to be without detriment to the resources that would have 
been available to the individual local authorities within GM. The calculation is at a GM 
level, with the aggregate position of local authorities. Any gain from the overall GM position 
set out is first used to make good any losses at an individual district level. A decision is 
then required whether any remaining gain is retained at a GM level. The current 
agreement is for the council to retain 75% of the benefit with the remaining 25% being 
passed to GMCA. 

1.12.8 The table below shows the impact of the changes in the 2023/24 government funding as a 
result of the 100% business rates retention pilot. It confirms that the pilot arrangements are 
without detriment to the council. 

Page 32



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

30 

Table 11 Salford City Council Data 2023/24 Settlement £m 

 
Unadjusted 100% 

pilot 
Difference 

Business rates baseline 
   

SCC Local share 45.237 91.396 46.159 

Top up grant 30.114 30.788 0.674 

Total  75.351 122.184 46.833 

Revenue Support Grant  
   

RSG before grant adjustments 24.232 0.000 -24.232 

Settlement funding assessment 99.583 122.184 22.601 

PH grant (based on the 2022/23 amount) 22.601 0.000 -22.601 

Total 122.184 122.184 0.000 

 

1.13 Collection Fund  

1.13.1 The Collection Fund is the account in which the council tax and business rates raised must 
be balanced with that collected. Each year the council is required by legislation to 
determine whether it has a surplus or deficit in collection on the account, taking into 
account its overall expected collection (not just the collection within the year). 

1.13.2 Any surplus or deficit arising on the fund must be shared as follows: 

 Council tax balance – to be shared with the precepting authorities in proportion to each 

authority’s share of the council tax. 

 Business Rates balance - to be shared by the government (prior to the 100% retention 
pilot), council, GM business rate pool and GMCA (fire authority) based on the proportionate 

share in accordance with the rules governing the Business Rates Retention Scheme. 

1.13.3 As a consequence of Covid-19, a new regulation was introduced for calculating the 
2020/21 estimated outturn position on the Collection Fund. If a fund deficit was forecast for 
2020/21 then the financial impact of this was required to be spread over the next three 
financial years rather than just the next one. 

1.13.4 Both the council tax and business rates outturn estimates for 2020/21 for Salford were 
deficits with negative “exceptional balances”. 

1.13.5 The third and final year allocation of the 2020/21 “exceptional balances” will be charged to 
the council and preceptor’s revenue budgets in 2023/24. 

Council tax 

1.13.6 As at 31 March 2023, it is estimated that in respect of council tax the Collection Fund will 
have a surplus of £5.519m. This position was formally approved by the Lead Member for 
Finance and Support Services on 5 January 2023 under delegated powers. 

1.13.7 The main causes for the surplus were the lower than anticipated cost of the council tax 
reduction scheme and an improvement in the estimated collection rate. 

Page 33



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

31 

Table 12 Collection Fund - council tax estimated balance 31 March 2023 £m 

 Impact on yield 

Council tax estimated surplus 31 March 2023 5.519 

To be distributed in 2023/24 based on the 2022/23 council tax levels:  

Council share 4.651 

GMCA (police element) 0.598 

GMCA (general mayoral and fire & rescue element) 0.270 

 5.519 

 

1.13.8 The impact of the 2022/23 surplus in 2023/24 will be a distribution of £5.519m with the 
council’s share being £4.651m. 

1.13.9 The formally approved estimated position for council tax for 2020/21 included a negative 
“exceptional balance” of £8.562m. In accordance with regulation, the third and final year 
spread of this balance will require £2.854m (1/3rd of the balance) to be charged to the 
council and preceptor’s revenue budgets in 2023/24. 

1.13.10 The council’s share of the charge will be £2.414m in 2023/24. 

Table 13 Collection Fund – 2023/24 allocation of the exceptional 2020/21 council tax 
balance £m 

 Allocation 

Council tax 3rd (and final) year allocation of the 2020/21 exceptional 
balance 

-2.854 

To be collected in 2023/24 based on the 2020/21 council tax levels:  

Council share -2.414 

GMCA (police element) -0.306 

GMCA (general mayoral and fire & rescue element) -0.134 

 -2.854 

 

Business rates 

1.13.11 As at 31 March 2023, it is estimated that in respect of business rates the Collection Fund 
will have a surplus of £2.035m. This position was formally approved by the Lead Member 
for Finance and Support Services on 17 January 2023 under delegated powers. 

Page 34



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

32 

Table 14 2022/23 business rates outturn estimate £m 

 
Original 
estimate 

Estimated 
outturn 

Variance 

Gross rates payable (including growth)  127.326 125.888 -1.438 

Small business rate relief -9.865 -10.557 -0.692 

Mandatory relief  -9.214 -9.052 0.162 

Empty property relief  -5.958 -5.958 0.000 

Discretionary relief -0.248 -0.267 -0.019 

Retail, hospitality and leisure relief -7.750 -5.055 2.695 

Covid additional relief fund (CARF) 0.000 -6.994 -6.994 

Other relief -0.073 -0.003 0.070 

Costs of collection allowance -0.434 -0.434 0.000 

Estimated losses in collection -4.240 -1.299 2.941 

Estimated cost of appeals -5.635 -4.200 1.435 

2021/22 outturn adjustment 0.000 3.875 3.875 

2022/23 estimated surplus 83.909 85.944 2.035 

To be distributed as follows:    

Council share (99%) 83.070 85.085 2.015 

GMCA (fire element) share (1%) 0.839 0.859 0.020 

 83.909 85.944 2.035 

 

1.13.12 The main factors in the outturn position are as follows: 

 The original estimate for retail, hospitality and leisure relief (RHL) was calculated based on 
all accounts that may be eligible for the relief. During 2022/23 many ratepayers have 
contacted the council to refuse the relief as the receipt of it would cause them to be in 
breach of the subsidy threshold limit. The reduction in relief awarded has therefore created 

the positive variance for this element. 

 The 2021/22 outturn adjustment relates to the difference between the estimated and actual 

outturns for that year. The main elements contributing to the difference were: 

o a reduction in the value of retail relief awarded. After the initial awarding of relief, 
accounts continued to be updated throughout the year with many ratepayers getting in 
touch to refuse relief on the grounds of it breaching their government subsidy limits. 

o collection rates continued to recover from the impact of Covid-19 better than had been 
anticipated in the original outturn estimate and therefore the estimated value of losses 
in collection was reduced. 

 The 2022/23 NNDR 1 return did not allow authorities to include an estimate for the cost of 
awarding Covid additional relief fund (CARF) and therefore the original estimate for this 
was nil. The government will reimburse the cost of this relief up to a maximum total of 
£7.957m. Total relief of £0.949m was awarded during the 21/22 financial year. Although 
the £6.996m awarded this financial year generates a negative variance within the fund, the 
overall impact of this will be neutral to the council due to the amount awarded being within 
the maximum reimbursable. Regulations require the separation of the costs to the fund and 

the reimbursement to the preceptors. 

 The estimated outturn figure for estimated losses in collection incorporates the allowance 
set aside for the 2022/23 liability year as well as the impact of improved collection rate 
assumptions relating to all prior year liabilities. The awarding of CARF has improved the 
collection rate for the 2021/22 liability year and therefore this has enabled the collection 

allowance for that year to be reduced. 

Page 35



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

33 

1.13.13 The formally approved estimated position for business rates for 2020/21 included a 
negative “exceptional balance” of £19.273m. In accordance with regulation, the third and 
final year spread of this balance will require £6.424m (1/3rd of the balance) to be charged 
to the council and preceptor’s revenue budgets in 2023/24. 

1.13.14 The council’s share of the charge will be £6.360m in 2023/24.  

Table 15 Collection Fund – 2023/24 allocation of the exceptional 2020/21 business rates 
balance £m 

 Allocation 

Business rates 3rd (and final) year allocation of the 2020/21 exceptional 
balance 

-6.424 

To be collected in 2023/24 based on the 2020/21 business rates retention 
shares: 

 

Council share (99%) -6.360 

GMCA (fire element) share (1%) -0.064 

 -6.424 

 

1.14 Summary of total available resources 

1.14.1 The local government financial settlement and other government funding can now be 
brought together with the resource assumptions in the financial strategy, particularly the 
level of council tax and business rates yield, to determine the available resources for 
revenue expenditure in 2023/24. 

Page 36



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

34 

Table 16 2023/24 total available resources (core funding - final financial settlement) £m 

 
2023/24 
Original 

2023/24 
Revised 

Variation in 
core 

funding 
Forecast resources: 

   

Council funding: 
   

Council tax 132.734 137.546 4.812 

Retained business rates:       

> Council share, govt assumption 45.812 91.396 45.584 

> Council share, excess over govt assumption 0.000 9.671 9.671 

Collection fund estimated balances 31/03/2023:       
> Council tax surplus 0.000 4.651 4.651 

> Business rates surplus 0.000 2.015 2.015 

Collection fund 3rd (and final) year allocation of 
exceptional 20/21 balances: 

      

> Council tax -2.414 -2.414 0.000 

> Business rates -6.360 -6.360 0.000  
169.772 236.505 66.733 

Government funding: 
   

> Revenue support grant 21.570 0.000 -21.570 

> Business rates top up 28.274 30.788 2.514 

> Settlement funding changes -6.825 0.000 6.825  
43.019 30.788 -12.231 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS (assuming 
2022/23 amount) 

0.000 -22.601 -22.601 

Total available resources 212.791 244.692 31.901 

Note, the original 2023/24 estimate assumed the council would return to 49% business rates 
retention whereas the revised estimate is based on remaining at 99% retention. 

1.15 2023/24 spending requirement 

The medium-term financial strategy endorsed by Council in February 2022 identified a 
funding gap of £11.295m. 

Page 37



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

35 

Table 17 Original financial projection of forecast resources and funding gap 2023/24 £m 

Council funding:  

Council tax 132.734 

Retained business rates:   

 Council share, govt assumption 45.812 

 Council share, excess over govt assumption 0.000 

Government funding:   

 Revenue support grant 21.570 

 Business rates top up 28.274 

 Settlement funding changes -6.825 

Collection fund 3rd (and final) year allocation of exceptional 20/21 balances:   

 Council tax -2.414 

 Business rates -6.360 

Total resources 212.791 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS 0.000 
Total available resources 212.791 

Opening spending requirement 224.086 
Opening funding gap 11.295 

 

1.15.1 A continuous review of medium-term spending requirements has been maintained as 
developments have unfolded during the year. Using this as a base, a continuation of 
service budget has been developed which takes into account: 

 any expected new spending pressures. 

 changes in the level of specific government grants. 

 issues emerging from 2022/23 budget monitoring. 

 latest forecasts of business rates retained income and council tax. 

1.15.2 Table 18 below includes a number of investments in services:- 

 Creation of a cost-of-living crisis fund to support the community in challenging economic 
circumstances. 

 Additional support to the integrated fund to address significant and growing budget 

pressures in adults’ and children’s social care driven by demand and cost increases. 

 Further investment in social care service provision and preventative services. 

 Step up in investment in skills and work to deliver key outcomes including improving and 
increasing the quality of local jobs, improving the capacity and ability of local providers to 
work with academically vulnerable young people and low skilled adults and improving the 

skills of residents. 

 Increase in provision for the impact of inflation upon service delivery. 

 Implementation of the pay review as part of the Equitable Pay and Reward Strategy 
approved by Workforce panel. 

 Capital financing costs reflecting the proposed capital programme. 

Page 38



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

36 

1.15.3 This review has led to a revised funding gap of £5.967m, after reviewing council tax and 
business rates income assumptions, the settlement and required investments as set out in 
table 18 below. 

1.16 Savings requirement - bridging the budget gap 

Table 18 2023/24 proposed savings summary £m 

Opening funding gap  11.295 

Increase in Settlement Funding Assessment -3.452 

Postponement of Fair Funding Review -6.825 

Business rates - postponement of reset, continuation of 100% pilot and under indexing 
of the multiplier compensation grant 

-27.415 

Additional CT income from increasing charge by 4.99% as per government 
assumptions 

-3.905 

Additional CT income from CT base increase above original assumption -0.907 

Collection fund estimated 22/23 outturn -6.666 

New Homes Bonus -1.594 

Services grant  -2.938 

Deferred use of reserves to reflect revised government timescales 16.376 

Capital financing costs 1.500 

Pay award, pension and NI changes 1.222 

Pay review 4.100 

Price, energy and contract increases 7.164 

Redistribution of funds by GMCA -3.169 

Use of non-recurrent funding to create a cost of living crisis fund 3.169 

Existing service pressures 8.018 

Net investment in social care 9.994 

Revised funding gap 5.967 

2023/24 Savings Proposals   

Residual budget linked to previous closure of Deli Delicious -0.015 

Reduction of community devolved budget -0.100 

Reduced lease costs - Eccles -0.078 

Increased fee income relating to street lighting, planning and CCTV services -0.300 

Reduction in net cost of bonfire events -0.035 

Assessment and release of service reserves -0.854 

Increased income from the sale of services to partners and additional commission on 
payments 

-0.135 

Review of budget capacity by the core public health team -0.100 

Application of reserves - Local Tax Income Guarantee (LTIG) grant -1.090 

Application of reserves - MTFS smoothing reserve -0.774 

Application of reserves – BR levy account distributed funds -0.609 

Innovate savings -1.877 

Actions to address funding gap -5.967 

Savings surplus or shortfall 0.000 

 

Page 39



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

37 

1.16.1 The council will still need to make difficult choices and further changes to services if it is to 
deliver balanced budgets for the three-years set out in the MTFS. Whilst the government 
has provided some indications of its approach to the implementation of funding changes, 
the impact of these will only be clear once a full settlement is published at local authority 
level for 2024/25 and 2025/26. 

1.16.2 The medium-term strategy as set out within this agenda includes estimated budget gaps of 
£12.4m and £23.9m for 2024/25 and 2025/26 respectively. Work will begin early in the 
financial year to identify options for closing these gaps, however, it should be noted that 
substantial risks remain including funding changes and inflationary pressures. 

1.17 2023/24 balanced budget projection and assumptions 

1.17.1 The proposals for a balanced budget, producing a net spending requirement of 
£244.692m, are shown below. 

Page 40



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

38 

Table 19 2023/24 balanced budget projection in £m 

 
Original 
estimate 
2023/24 

Revised 
estimate 
2023/24 

Savings / 
budget 

reductions 

Budget 
Assump-

tions. 
Note ref. 

Forecast resources 
    

Council tax 132.734 137.546 4.812 1 

Retained business rates:       2 

   > Council share, govt assumption 45.812 91.396 45.584 
 

   > Council share, excess over govt 
assumption 

0.000 9.671 9.671 
 

Government funding:       
 

   > Revenue support grant 21.570 0.000 -21.570 3 

   > Business rates top up 28.274 30.788 2.514 4 

   > Settlement funding changes -6.825 0.000 6.825 5 

Collection fund estimated balances 
31/03/2023: 

      6 

   > Council tax surplus 0.000 4.651 4.651 
 

   > Business rates surplus 0.000 2.015 2.015 
 

Collection fund 3rd (and final) year 
allocation of exceptional 20/21 balances: 

      7 

   > Council tax -2.414 -2.414 0.000  

   > Business rates -6.360 -6.360 0.000  

Total resources 212.791 267.293 54.502 
 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS 0.000 -22.601 -22.601 8 

Total available resources 212.791 244.692 31.901 
 

Spending requirement       
 

Base budget 206.565 206.565 0.000 9 

Capital financing requirement 0.000 1.500 1.500 10 

Pay inflation  3.505 11.105 7.600 11 

Price inflation 1.459 8.623 7.164 12 

National Insurance contribution rate 0.000 -1.085 -1.085 13 

Pension contribution rate 1.193 0.000 -1.193 14 

Increments 0.220 0.220 0.000 15 

Other funding issues 0.100 2.918 2.818 16 

New Homes Bonus 0.645 -0.949 -1.594 17 

Adult and Children's social care provision 10.447 30.772 20.325 18 

Government specific grant changes 8.940 -26.896 -35.836 19 

Business Rates reserve changes -6.900 0.000 6.900 20 

Business Rates S31 grant reserve 13.680 13.680 0.000 21 

Reserve changes -3.916 3.598 7.514 22 

Collection Fund reserve -12.460 0.000 12.460 23 

2022/23 investments and savings step up 
and downs for 2023/24 

0.608 0.608 0.000 24 

2023/24 savings proposals 0.000 -5.967 -5.967 25 

Total spending requirement 224.086 244.692 20.606   

Funding gap 11.295 0.000 -11.295 
 

 

Page 41



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

39 

1.17.2 The key assumptions made in constructing the continuation of service budget shown 
above are as follows. 

Note ref Budget assumption 

1.  Council tax – assumes a council tax increase of 4.99% (including 2% adult 
social care precept) on an increased council tax base of 73,859 band D 
equivalent dwellings. 

2.  Retained business rates – reflects growth and changes in the level of reliefs 
and the appeals provision. Original assumption based on a reset of growth 
and the return to 49% rates retention. Revised estimate based on no reset 
and continuation of the 100% rates retention pilot where the council’s share 
is 99%. 

3.  Revenue support grant would have been receivable under 49% rates 
retention whereas this is removed under the continuing 100% pilot 
arrangements. 

4.  The top up grant has been adjusted for the 2023 business rates revaluation. 

5.  Original estimate assumed the government’s fair funding review would be 
implemented in 23/24 but this is now expected in 25/26 at the earliest 
instead. 

6.  Collection fund estimates 22/23: 

Council tax – reflects the council’s share of a £5.519m surplus arising mainly 
from the lower than anticipated cost of the council tax reduction scheme and 
a slight improvement in the estimated collection rate. 

Business rates – reflects the council’s share of a £2.035m surplus arising 
mainly due to improved collection rates and a reduction in retail, hospitality 
and leisure relief. 

7.  Collection fund 3rd and final year allocation of exceptional 20/21 balances. 

8.  Public Health grant is to be funded internally by the council from additional 
business rates under the 100% rates retention pilot arrangements. The 
allocation for 2023/24 is yet to be announced. 

9.  Base budget - the base position is the approved budget for 2022/23. 

10.  Revenue consequences of capital spend estimates within the capital 
programme being reprofiled. 

11.  Estimated impact of the 23/24 pay award and pay review. 

12.  Prices - general provision for the impact of inflationary increases on the 
council with specific provision for a small number of items including energy 
costs and levies. 

13.  Reflecting a change in government policy, the council will no longer need to 
meet the costs of an additional 1.25% employers’ national insurance levy to 
fund social care. This adjustment therefore reflects the removal of this cost 
from previous budget assumptions. 

Page 42



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

40 

Note ref Budget assumption 

14.  Originally assumed an increase in the pension contribution rate but this has 
not materialised. 

15.  Increments – potential cost of increments with budget set aside for specific 
requirements. 

16.  Other funding issues addressing existing service pressures and capital 
maintenance. 

17.  New Homes Bonus – Year 13 will attract a NHB reward for one year in 
2023/24. 

18.  Increased expenditure on adults’ and children’s services incorporating 
additional grant support and adult social care precept. 

19.  Changes to government specific grants including services grant, social care 
funding, and business rates section 31 grant. 

20.  The reserve is to smooth the transition from the business rates reset but this 
is now expected to be delayed until at least 25/26. 

21.  Reversal of the 2022/23 use of reserved business rates section 31 grant for 
extended retail relief and nursery discount. 

22.  Reserve changes reflecting revised assumptions and timing of funding 
changes. 

23.  Reserve to offset the impact of collection fund pressures. 

24.  Net 2023/24 impact of 2022/23 service investments and savings step ups 
and reversals. 

25.  Net impact of saving proposals for 2023/24. 

 

1.18 General Reserves 

1.18.1 As part of the budget’s development, the position with reserves needs careful 
consideration to ensure that risks are adequately covered and that budget plans do not put 
them under undue strain. 

1.18.2 The risk assessment undertaken for the 2022/23 revenue budget identified minimum and 
desirable levels of general fund non-earmarked reserves as follows: 

 Minimum level of reserves  £12.9m 

 Desirable level of reserves £24.6m 

1.18.3 The assumptions made in the 2022/23 revenue budget with regard to the forecast level of 
general reserves over the next three-years were as follows: 

Table 20 2022/23 reserves assumptions £m 

 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Balance at 31 March 13.2 13.2 13.2 

Page 43



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

41 

 

1.18.4 An assessment of the outturn expenditure for 2022/23 currently shows an anticipated 
variation on service expenditure of £3.997m against budget, arising through demand 
pressures. The council has identified central resources to meet this overspend and the 
forecast net position for 2022/23 is a nil variation. The balanced budget is expected to be 
achieved without a call on general reserves, leaving reserves in hand at 31 March 2023 of 
£13.2m.  

General Reserves strategy for 2022/23 to 2025/26 

1.18.5 A full risk assessment of reserves is included at Appendix 2 but, in summary, an indication 
of the level of reserves likely to be needed based upon the degree of risk considered 
appropriate is set out below. 

Table 21 Risk assessment of general fund non-earmarked reserves £m 

2022/23 Assessment 
 

Risk 2023/24 Assessment 

Minimum Desirable 
  

Minimum Desirable 

1.404 2.538 
 

Pay 1.079 2.158 

1.053 4.210 
 

Prices 1.585 4.756 

0.250 0.500 
 

Property maintenance 0.250 0.500 

2.500 4.500 
 

ICB contributions and risk share 2.500 4.500 

4.000 6.000 
 

Government funding 4.000 6.000 

1.250 2.500 
 

Business rates retention scheme 1.250 2.500 

1.450 2.900 
 

Non-achievement of savings 1.450 2.900 

1.000 1.500 
 

Other unforeseen expenditure 1.000 1.500 

12.907 24.648 
 

Total 13.114 24.814 

 

1.18.6 Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Section 151 Officer (Chief 
Finance Officer) to report to the Council when it is setting its Budget/Council Tax on the 
“robustness of the estimates” and the “adequacy of the reserves”. 

1.18.7 Equally the Council should not hold usable Balances at too high a level as this would not 
be making the most effective use of the Council’s overall resources when faced with 
significant demands for increased levels of service. 

1.18.8 Based on this assessment, the level of reserves to be held by 31 March 2024 would be: 

 Minimum level of reserves  £13.114m 

 Desirable level of reserves £24.814m 

1.18.9 The projected level of reserves at 31 March 2024 is £13.2m. 

1.18.10 The use of reserves to reduce net expenditure should be done in a planned manner that 
adopts the following principles: 

 Does not support recurring expenditure. 

 Is only therefore used in a one-off manner. 

 Identifies a strategy for ensuring reserves are maintained at an appropriate level. 

Page 44



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

42 

1.18.11 The proposed reserves strategy for 2022/23 to 2025/26 is to maintain the current level of 
general fund reserves. The reserves strategy is shown in the MTFS. 

Table 22 Proposed reserves strategy 2022/23 to 2025/26 £m 

 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Previous forecast 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.2 

Revised forecast 

   

 
Opening balance 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.2 

Use of reserve to cover overspend 0 0 0 0 

Reductions in reserve to reflect reducing 
risks 

0 0 0 0 

Additions to reserve to provide for 
increased risk 

0 0 0 0 

Closing balance 31 March 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.2 

 

1.18.12 The projected level of reserves in the table above does not include DSG schools funding 
or HRA funding which is maintained separately. 

Earmarked reserves 

1.18.13 Reserves are held for various reasons. They may be statutory or discretionary and, 
depending on their purpose and type, they may have restrictions on their use or, for some 
technical reserves, not be useable at all. 

1.18.14 For budget setting and financial management, the relevant set of reserves are known as 
useable reserves. These include both the general reserve and “earmarked” reserves. 

1.18.15 The general reserve is held to provide against general events and emergencies. 
Earmarked reserves are held to provide against specific, quantified risks. In determining its 
reserves strategy, the council must have regard to the CFO’s risk-based assessment of 
reserves. 

1.18.16 The current time is a period of unprecedented financial stress for local government. The 
following factors all create a high-risk environment for the council: 

 Uncertainty of funding beyond 2023/24. 

 Increasing demand for services. 

 Impact of inflation on the council and wider economy. 

1.18.17 The council holds earmarked reserves, these are set aside to manage specific risks and 
provide financing for future expenditure plans. 

1.19 The council tax levy 

1.19.1 If the revenue budget is set at £244.692m this would lead to a council tax requirement 
calculated as follows: 

Page 45



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

43 

Table 23 2023/24 council tax requirement £m 

Net budget 244.692 

PH grant funded by BRRS 22.601 

Adjusted net budget 267.293 

Less:   

 Government funding via SFA top-up grant 30.788 

 Retained business rates - council share per government estimate 91.396 

 Retained business rates - council share in excess of government estimate 9.671 

 Collection Fund surplus 31/03/2023 – Council tax 4.651 

 Collection Fund surplus 31/03/2023 – Business rates 2.015 

 Collection Fund 3rd (and final) year allocation of exceptional 20/21 balance – 
Council tax 

-2.414 

 Collection Fund 3rd (and final) year allocation of exceptional 20/21 balance – 
Business rates 

-6.360 

Council tax requirement 2023/24 137.546 

Divided by the council tax base (number of band D dwellings) 73,859 
Council tax for council services 2023/24 

 

 Band D £1,862.28 

 Band A £1,241.52 

Council tax increase 2023/24 4.99% 

 

1.19.2 The level of council tax for the council’s services will be £1,862.28 (for a band D property) 
which represents a 4.99% increase. It should be noted that the final council tax increase is 
also dependent on precepts: 

 Mayoral police and crime commissioner precept. 

 Mayoral general precept (including fire services). 

1.19.3 The precepts for 2023/24 as proposed by the Greater Manchester mayor and agreed by 
GMCA are set out in the table below. 

Table 24 2023/24 precepts and impact on the council tax level 

 
Precept Precept at 

Band D 
Precept 
increase 

Council tax level 
increase 

 
£m £ £m £ % 

Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner 
Precept 

17.970 243.30 1.554 15.00 6.57 

Mayoral General Precept (including Fire 
Services) 

7.973 107.95 0.570 5.00 4.86 

Total 25.943 351.25 2.124 20.00 6.04 

 

1.19.4 Salford’s overall council tax for 2023/24 will therefore be as follows. 

Page 46



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

44 

Table 25 2023/24 council tax level (Band D) 

 
2022/23 2023/24 Increase 

 
£ £ £ % 

Salford City Council 1,773.76 1,862.28 88.52 4.99 

Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 228.30 243.30 15.00 6.57 

Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 102.95 107.95 5.00 4.86 

Total council tax at band D 2,105.01 2,213.53 108.52 5.16 

 

1.19.5 For taxpayers in Salford, the most common property banding is band A, the charge for this 
including precepts, will be £1,475.68. 

1.19.6 Single persons will pay 25% less. 

1.19.7 Council tax amounts at each tax band are as shown in the following table: 

Table 26 Council tax levels (including precepts) 2023/24 £ 

 
2022/23 2023/24 Change from 2022/23 

 
Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount) 

2 or more 
person 

households 

Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount) 

2 or more 
person 

households 

Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount) 

2 or more 
person 

households 

Band A minus 877.08 1,169.44 922.30 1,229.73 45.22 60.29 

Band A 1,052.51 1,403.34 1,106.76 1,475.68 54.25 72.34 

Band B 1,227.92 1,637.22 1,291.22 1,721.63 63.30 84.41 

Band C 1,403.34 1,871.12 1,475.68 1,967.57 72.34 96.45 

Band D 1,578.76 2,105.01 1,660.15 2,213.53 81.39 108.52 

Band E 1,929.59 2,572.78 2,029.06 2,705.41 99.47 132.63 

Band F 2,280.42 3,040.56 2,397.98 3,197.31 117.56 156.75 

Band G 2,631.26 3,508.35 2,766.91 3,689.21 135.65 180.86 

Band H 3,157.52 4,210.02 3,320.30 4,427.06 162.78 217.04 

 

Council tax referendum 

1.19.8 The Localism Act places a requirement on local authorities to hold a referendum on the 
level of council tax if the increase in any year is considered to be excessive. 

1.19.9 The Secretary of State has announced the principles for 2023/24 which state that the 
following would be deemed excessive:  

 the relevant basic amount of council tax of an authority which belongs to the category 
mentioned in paragraph 2(a) is excessive if the authority’s relevant basic amount of council 
tax for 2023-24 is 5% (comprising 2% for expenditure on adult social care, and 3% for 
other expenditure), or more than 5%, greater than its relevant basic amount of council tax 

for 2022-23. 

 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority in relation to: 

Page 47



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

45 

o Police and Crime Commissioner component – any increase at more than 
£15.00 greater than its relevant basic amount of council tax for 2022-23 

(applicable to the police element of the mayoral precept). 

o Mayoral general (including fire) component – no referendum principles were set, 
meaning that there are no limitations to an increase in precept for this element. 

1.19.10 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 includes a definition for the relevant basic 
amount of council tax used in the referendum principles. Effectively it means the cap will 
be based simply on the increase in the level of the council’s band D council tax. 

1.19.11 The council’s increase of 4.99% and the precept increases are within the applicable 
referendum threshold and therefore neither the council nor the precepting authorities will 
be required to hold a referendum for this purpose. 

1.20 Council tax charges for empty homes and second homes 

1.20.1 Under current legislation, a council tax premium can only be charged on residential 
properties that are long term unoccupied and substantially unfurnished. The 100% 
premium applies after a property has been empty for 2 years. If a property remains empty 
the premium increases at 5 years to 200% and at 10 years to 300%. 

1.20.2 Also under current legislation, the maximum council tax that can be charged for a ‘second 
home’ is a full 100% charge for a property band. Second homes are furnished properties 
that are not someone’s sole or main residence. These could be properties being held by 
someone who lives elsewhere to come and stay in occasionally. Or they could be 
properties let out on ordinary tenancies or short term lets that are currently not let out so 
are in between tenants/short stays. 

1.20.3 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill anticipated to be passed in early 2023, introduces 
new powers for billing authorities to increase the charges for second homes and to charge 
a premium for empty homes from an earlier point. 

1.20.4 Clause 75 of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill is intended to permit billing authorities 
to implement the empty homes premium after an unoccupied and substantially unfurnished 
property has been empty for 1 year rather than the current 2 years. The power to do this 
comes into effect from 1 April 2024. 

1.20.5 Clause 76 of the same bill is intended to permit billing authorities to also apply a premium 
to the council tax charge for second homes. Currently the maximum charge that can be 
applicable for a second home is a full council tax band charge with no discount and Salford 
City Council has adopted this. The power to implement a premium for second homes also 
comes into effect on 1 April 2024 but the bill will require billing authorities to make a 
decision to use this particular power at least one year in advance of the date it intends to 
bring it into force. And a billing authority can vary or revoke a decision to use this power 
before the beginning of the financial year it relates to. 

1.20.6 Whilst the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill has not yet been passed, it is anticipated 
that this will happen before 31 March 2023. 

Page 48



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

46 

1.20.7 In anticipation of the bill being passed, and in order to ensure that the council can use the 
powers that the above two clauses introduce for the financial year starting on 1 April 2024, 
it is recommended that a decision is made to declare the intention to use both powers. The 
option to revise or revoke the decision before it would come into effect on 1 April 2024 will 
remain and this gives the opportunity to provide more accurate potential income forecasts 
in preparation for the 2024/25 billing year. And it also provides the opportunity to consider 
whether it is appropriate to taper the point at which a second home premium would apply 
in order to consider the impact of the premium on landlords of properties in between lets 
and any other relevant groups. 

1.21 Budget assumptions and risks 

1.21.1 It is a requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 that the Chief 
Finance Officer (the council’s s151 officer) reports to the council on the robustness of the 
estimates and the assumptions made in compiling the budget and the adequacy of 
reserves. This section of the report seeks to fulfil that requirement. 

Financial health 

1.21.2 The financial health of the council will remain stable by maintaining a satisfactory level of 
general reserves during 2023/24. 

1.21.3 General reserves are expected to be approximately £13.2m by 31 March 2023. A risk 
assessment has been undertaken which identifies that the level of reserves would still be 
below the desirable level, taking account of key risks, but above the minimum requirement. 

1.21.4 In addition, provisions for irrecoverable bad debts on sundry debtor accounts continue to 
remain at appropriate levels, and reserves to provide against other future liabilities are 
maintained to reflect the higher levels of risk within our overall finances. 

1.21.5 As part of the budget setting process, the level of reserves is assessed with the intention of 
releasing reserves to support the revenue budget when safe to do so using a risk rated 
approach. 

1.21.6 Council tax and business rates are key funding sources for the council. The local council 
tax support scheme and the business rates retention scheme are being managed 
effectively, but there is a degree of risk inherent in them, in particular associated with the 
collection of income required to meet budget targets and in appeals against the rating 
system. The calculations of council tax and business rates revenue therefore continue to 
include prudent provisions for irrecoverable amounts. 

1.21.7 There are significant funding risks after 2023/24. Whilst the government has provided 
some indications of its approach to the implementation of funding changes, the impact of 
these will only be clear once a full settlement is published at local authority level for 2024/5 
and 2025/26. It should be noted that the government has committed to a wide ranging 
review of local authority finance in 2025/26. 

1.21.8 The medium-term financial strategy will continue to address these and other issues in a 
structured and considered manner to ensure that the financial health of the council is 
maintained. 

Inflation 

1.21.9 An allowance has been made for the impact of inflation based on current estimates. 

1.21.10 Whilst the outcome of pay discussions is not yet known, a prudent estimate has been 
provided for within the base position. 

Page 49



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

47 

1.21.11 Increases for price inflation have been limited to meeting specific risks relating to energy 
costs and external levies. Otherwise, no inflationary increases have been allowed and 
service groups will be expected to absorb any price increases that may arise from within 
the budget allocations made. Actual inflationary increases will require close monitoring and 
scrutiny as any new budget pressures flow through the budget, and the risk of inflation 
greater than allowed for is reflected in our general fund reserve. 

Other budget assumptions 

1.21.12 Key assumptions made in drawing up the revenue budget are contained at section 1.177 
above. These assumptions have been made on the latest available information and with 
prudence in mind. Assumptions will be revisited throughout the budget monitoring process. 

Potential spending pressures 

1.21.13 Demand needs continue to place financial pressures on children’s and adult’s care 
services. Services are developing strategies to manage needs-led pressures through the 
Innovate Salford programmes. 

1.21.14 The areas of greatest risk from spending pressures have been addressed in the risk 
assessment of reserves. 

Savings 

1.21.15 It is assumed that service groups will contain expenditure within budgets, developing 
robust action plans to achieve efficiencies and address areas of budget pressure. This will 
require rigorous monitoring during the year by lead members, strategic directors and 
scrutiny boards. 

1.21.16 Regular reports on the progress being made by service groups will be reviewed by 
Corporate Management Team, Cabinet, and the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

1.21.17  As a final resort, a risk of funding unachieved savings has been reflected in the general 
fund reserve. 

Partnerships 

1.21.18 Partnerships with other external public, voluntary and private sector organisations play an 
increasing role in the council’s budget plans. Clearly, funding changes relating to such 
organisations can impact the council’s financial plans. 

1.21.19 Budget plans assume the appropriate provision based upon the most up-to-date 
information regarding the likely level of commitment to these partnerships and 
collaborative arrangements. Any variation to the budget provision will need to be managed 
by the relevant service groups within the allocation provided to them. 

1.21.20 Key formal partnerships exist with the following organisations. 

1.21.21 Health and social care related partnerships: 

a. Integrated Commissioning 

In 2019/20, Salford City Council and Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
(SCCG), implemented an Integrated Fund for Health and Social Care. This Integrated 
Fund brought together the majority of those budgets for services currently funded by 
Children’s, Adults, Public Health and Primary Care funding across the two organisations. 

From July 2022 SCCG ceased to exist and the Greater Manchester Integrated Care 

Page 50



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

48 

Board (GM ICB) was formed. The Integrated Fund has continued albeit in a different form 
with revised governance arrangements. Management of the Fund is supported by a risk 
share arrangement with a differential risk share operating across the Fund in relation to 
risks at the time of the establishment of GM ICB and an equal risk share (and potential 
benefit share) for risks emerging from this change to governance arrangements. 
Contributions into the fund are agreed annually by partners at the start of each financial 
year and take into account funding changes, efficiency/savings requirements and 
transformational benefits of integration. 

b. Pooled budgets 

[Greater Manchester ICB] 

The Health and Care bill set out the future of health and care including the statutory 
creation of Integrated Care Systems. In July 2022 the GM ICB was formed and became 
party to previous integrated commissioning arrangements between Salford City Council 
and Salford CCG. These arrangements enable the council and its partners to bring 
resources together to both commission and provide services jointly, allowing flexible and 
integrated support and care to be offered. 

c. Integrated care organisation (ICO) 

[Northern Care Alliance (NCA)] 

Under a contract for services and a section 75 agreement. The Integrated Care 
Organisation within the Northern Care Alliance is the provider partner in the integrated 
care system. Bringing provision into one organisation allows the full integration of a broad 
range of health and social care services and transformational change envisaged by the 
partners in the system. 

1.21.22  Other partnerships: 

d. Salford Community Leisure (SCL) 

A not-for-profit trust, providing leisure and cultural services and managing leisure and 
community centres, libraries and museums owned by the council, for which a budgeted 
management fee of £3.345m is included in current council budget plans. 

e. Shared legal service  

[Manchester City Council] 

The shared legal service is a service arrangement to provide legal services to Salford 
and Manchester, hosted by Manchester City Council. 

f. GMCA / AGMA 

[Other Greater Manchester councils] 

The Corporate Procurement team work collaboratively with a range of partner 
organisations on a wide range of projects and contracts, including our approach to Social 
Value, along with contracts covering areas such as: 

o Fresh and frozen food for school kitchens. 

o Staffing services. 

o Highways and infrastructure services. 

Page 51



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

49 

o Construction and regeneration projects. 

o ICT services and equipment. 

The above list is not exhaustive but highlights the range of contract areas that we both 
lead on, and participate in, across GM, with an emphasis on delivering value for money, 
improving service delivery and creating efficiencies. 

Capital Programme 

1.21.23 Capital receipts in 2023/24 are estimated to be £5.0m, compared to the current estimate 
for 2022/23 of £8.6m. The existing policy is to utilise such receipts to pay down debt. 

1.21.24 To maintain continued capital investment in essential service improvement, the capital 
strategy has needed to focus upon the use of unsupported borrowing to replace capital 
receipts as the prime source of generating the council’s own funds, particularly where 
match funding is required to complement grant available from government and other 
sources. 

1.21.25 The revenue budget incorporates the provision for capital financing costs on the use of 
£40.012m of new general unsupported borrowing in funding the 2023/24 capital 
programme. 

1.21.26 The revenue budget makes provision for future annual maintenance costs relating to  
completed schemes, and any additional running costs from new facilities, together with 
savings from invest to save schemes, but otherwise assume that there will be no 
significant revenue implications arising. 

Control of Risk 

1.21.27 Risk will be controlled through a combination of: 

 The detailed tracking of physical and financial progress with the implementation of savings 

proposals; 

 Regular service group level budget monitoring reports to service groups’ senior 

management and lead members identifying service pressures; 

 Meetings between the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and other lead 
members as appropriate, to agree action plans from issues arising from monthly budget 

monitoring and other developments not budgeted for; 

 Regular corporate budget monitoring reports will be reviewed by Corporate Management 
Team, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Board. These will identify issues, agree 

appropriate action and call for special reports on issues of concern; 

 Within those reports, a commentary on the progress being made with the implementation 

of savings proposals by service groups; 

Pay review 

1.21.1 Significant challenges have recently been felt across all sectors regarding recruitment and 
retention of high-quality staff. Salford City Council has not been immune to these 
challenges and has experienced a marked increase year on year in staff turnover as well 
as problems filling vacancies, particularly for specialist positions and senior officer posts 
which in turn can have a detrimental impact on service delivery as it affects the capacity 
and capability to deliver quality services for residents and businesses. 

Page 52



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

50 

1.21.2 These problems have been exacerbated by the offering of more competitive pay rates by 
similar and neighbouring local authorities, leading to many staff seeking similar positions 
elsewhere. Additionally, Salford City Council’s exemplary commitment to being a 
Foundation Living Wage employer, whilst pertinent, has presented an issue for fair pay 
with the erosion in differentials between pay levels as living wage rates have increased on 
an annual basis. 

1.21.3 In July, the council committed to undertake a council-wide review of our pay structures to 
address the differences with some of our pay levels and those in other local authorities. 
Both the council and recognised trade unions started with agreeing key principles of the 
review and identified the problems we were jointly trying to fix in our current arrangements. 

1.21.4 One of our key principles is that the revised pay model will “be equitable, equal pay 
compliant through an equal pay audit and consider any gender and race pay gaps”. To 
help us achieve this principle, the council undertook an online equality survey. 

1.21.5 The model proposal went out for consultation in December and there was an 
overwhelmingly positive response from members of our three recognised trade unions, 
with 97% voting to accept the revised new pay model. 

1.21.6 The revised pay model has been approved for implementation by workforce panel and has 
been included in the budget proposal for 2023/24 and in the medium-term financial 
forecast. 

1.22 Legal considerations 

1.22.1 In coming to decisions in relation to the revenue budget and council tax, the council has 
various legal and fiduciary duties. The council is required by the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 to make specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated 
income leading to the calculation of the council tax requirement, the basic amount of 
council tax and the setting of the overall budget and council tax. The amount of the council 
tax requirement must be sufficient to meet the council’s legal and financial commitments, 
ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties and lead to a balanced budget. 

1.22.2 In exercising its fiduciary duty, the council should be satisfied that the proposals put 
forward are a prudent use of its resources in both the short and long term; that the 
proposals strike a fair balance between the interests of council tax payers and ratepayers 
on the one hand and the community’s interests in adequate and efficient services on the 
other; and that they are acting in good faith for the benefit of the community whilst 
complying with all statutory duties. 

1.22.3 The Local Government Finance Act 2003 requires the section 151 officer to report to the 
authority on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations and 
the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The council has a statutory duty to have 
regard to the section 151 officer’s report when making decisions about the calculations. 
The section 151 officer’s report in relation to the reasonableness of the estimates and 
adequacy of the reserves is set out in section 1.18 of this report. 

1.22.4 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on the council to 
monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income against the budget 
calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary situation has deteriorated, the 
council must take such action as it considers necessary to deal with the situation. This 
might include, for instance, action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, or to increase 
income, or to finance the shortfall from reserves. 

Page 53



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  1. Revenue budget and council tax levy  

51 

1.22.5 Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, where it appears to the 
section 151 officer that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it 
proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums 
borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure, the section 151 officer has a duty to 
make a report to the council. The report must be sent to the council’s external auditor and 
every member of the council and the council must consider the report within 21 days at a 
meeting where it must decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the views contained in 
the report and what action (if any) it proposes to take in consequence of it. In the 
intervening period between the sending of the report and the meeting which considers it, 
the authority is prohibited from entering into any new agreement which may involve the 
incurring of expenditure (at any time) by the authority, except in certain limited 
circumstances where expenditure can be authorised by the section 151 officer. Failure to 
take appropriate action in response to such a report may lead to the intervention of the 
council’s external auditor. 

Other Statutory Duties 

1.22.6 In considering its budget, the council must also consider its ongoing duties under the 
Equality Act to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance 
equality of opportunity between all, irrespective of whether they fall into a protected 
category such as race, gender, religion, etc. 

1.22.7 Having due regard to these duties, the council must consider how its decisions will 
contribute towards meeting the duties in the light of all other relevant circumstances such 
as economic and practical considerations. 

1.22.8 In determining the final set of proposals, the City Mayor has had regard to the equality 
duty. Equality impact assessments will be identified and completed where required by 
each service group prior to final decisions being made. 

Reasonableness 

1.22.9 Finally, the council has a duty to act reasonably taking into account all relevant 

considerations and not considering anything which is irrelevant. This report, together with 
the other budget related reports on the agenda, set out a total picture of the proposals from 
which members can consider the risks and any arrangements for their mitigation. 

Governance 

1.22.10 The budget approval procedure is that the City Mayor, in consultation with the Cabinet, 
recommends the budget calculations (as set in Appendix 4) to council for approval. If the 
majority of council does not approve the budget calculations, they are referred back to the 
City Mayor who should then present alternative budget calculations. The council can only 
further reject the alternative budget calculations by a two thirds majority. In accordance 
with section 30(6) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the budget must be fixed 
before 11 March. 

 

Page 54



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  2. Housing revenue account (HRA) 

52 

2 Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue 
budget 2023/24 

 

  

Page 55



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  2. Housing revenue account (HRA) 

53 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 From 1 April 1990 it became a statutory requirement for local authorities to maintain a 
separate ‘ring-fenced’ account, known as the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which sets 
out the expenditure and income relating to the provision, supervision and management of 
council housing, flats and accommodation. 

2.1.2 Under the ‘ring-fencing’ arrangements the council cannot call upon the general fund or 
council tax related services to subsidise any losses that may be incurred by the HRA. 

2.2 Housing priorities 

2.2.1 The notable achievements in 2022/23 (incorporating HRA and general fund services) have 
been: 

 Anticipated delivery of 154 affordable homes in 2022/23 through working with Registered 
Provider partners and Derive including 104 high energy efficient homes completed for 
Derive RP. Good progress on site across the next 3 schemes which will deliver 
approximately 300 homes from 23/24 onwards. 

 Continued regeneration of Pendleton with Phase 3 under construction with 44 properties 
having now completed including 4 affordable lets. Further affordable completions will 
continue into 23/24. Required amendments to the master plan (linked to the Leisure Centre 
offer) have resulted in some delays to the planning application and now expected in Spring 
2023 with a start on site by Autumn 2023. 

 Establishment of Derive RP Board and ongoing negotiations with the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RoSH) regarding Derive RP’s registration. 

 Eccles and Barton landlord licensing schemes and additional city-wide HMO licensing 
scheme approved. 

 Successful bids to Homes England to deliver additional affordable housing including 2 x 
Rough Sleeper Accommodation Programme (RSAP) schemes and 189 affordable homes at 
Longshaw Drive, St Lukes and Irwell Valley. 

2.2.2 The highlighted actions for 2023/24 can all be linked to the three priorities identified in the 
Council’s housing strategy which will help to deliver the Council’s housing vision that ‘ 
Salford will be a great place to live, work and prosper. Where a range of affordable, good 
quality and energy efficient homes can be found within well planned and desirable 
neighbourhoods. 

 Ongoing regeneration at Pendleton to include further completions in Phase 3 and a start on 

site on Phases 2 and 4 following the granting of planning permission. 

 Ongoing fire safety works across the Pendleton high rise blocks and the installation of 

sprinklers in individual flats. 

 Establishment of Derive RP as a Registered Provider within a new Derive governance 

structure and the transfer of 129 homes into the ownership and management of Derive RP. 

 Progressing the Council’s direct delivery programme including existing schemes on site 

and the appointment of Project Managers to progress a further 400 homes across 5 sites. 

 Progression of a number of extra care/supported housing schemes with partner Registered 
Providers including St Simon Street supported housing project and RSAP schemes. 

Page 56



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  2. Housing revenue account (HRA) 

54 

 Progressing the development of a new 5 year selective landlord licensing scheme in 
Broughton area subject to consultation and relevant approvals. 

 Implementation of the City’s new Homelessness Strategy ‘Homelessness is Everyone’s 
business 2023-2028’ following anticipated approval in March 23. 

2.3 Review of 2022/23 

2022/23 Approximate Outturn 

2.3.1 The original HRA budget for 2022/23 was approved by council on 23rd February 2022 and 
provided for gross expenditure of £15.172m. This expenditure was to be funded by income 
from rents, service charges and credits relating to the Pendleton PFI scheme, and 
proceeds from the transfer to Salix Homes.  

2.3.2 Appendix 5 shows the variations between the original HRA budget and the anticipated 
position at the end of the year. As can be seen from the appendix, the anticipated impact at 
the start of the financial year was of a contribution from balances of £0.469m. This has 
worsened in year, with the forecasted outturn position improving to a contribution to 
balances of £0.757m.  

2.3.3 The contribution from balances against plan has been as a result of a reprofiling of income 
in relation to the Salix VAT shelter which was established at the point of the transfer and a 
reduction in costs, particularly with regards to the contribution to the capital programme.  

2.4 The 2023/24 estimate 

2.4.1 The 2023/24 estimate reflects gross HRA expenditure of £16.365m including a contribution 
from balances of £1.229m.  

2.4.2 A summary of the HRA budget for 2023/24 is shown in Appendix 5. 

Resources 

2.4.3 Rental income projections are based upon a 7% rent increase. 

2.4.4 Rent would increase from its current average level of £86.63 per week on a 52 week basis 
to £92.69. Tenants currently pay rent on a 48 week basis giving a weekly increase of £6.57 
from £93.85 to £100.42. 

2.4.5 The government has reaffirmed that authorities are expected to set reasonable and 
transparent service charges which reflect the cost of services being provided to tenants. 
During 2022/23, Pendleton Together and the Council have continued to review current 
service charge levels and have proposed revised charges which address any imbalances 
between expenditure and income at a local level. Good practice requires a comparison of 
the costs of service provision with the income generated from service charges with the aim 
of ensuring that the charging policy is fair and equitable and that general rental income is 
not subsidising the cost of services to individual tenants. 

 

Page 57



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  2. Housing revenue account (HRA) 

55 

Table 27 impact of changes to average service charges £ 

  Average Charge 2022/23 Average charge 2023/24 Variation Variation 
(%) 

High Rise 19.94 21.88 1.94 9.73 

Low Rise  5.17 5.55 0.38 7.35 

Sheltered 33.23 35.04 1.81 5.47 

 

2.4.6 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) credits have been included within the HRA on the basis of 
the agreement finalised during 2013/14. A contribution from the PFI smoothing reserve has 
also been assumed in line with the contractual commitments associated with the PFI 
contract.  

2.4.7 An on-going income stream is assumed relating to the transfer of VAT arrangements. 
Further work is being undertaken with Salix Homes to determine the value of future 
receipts. 

Expenditure 

Central Internal charges 

2.4.8 These costs mainly represent transactions between the HRA and the Council’s other funds 
such as the General Fund and the Insurance Fund. Further reductions have been assumed 
in future years with the intention of managing down the charge in a planned and 
sustainable manner.  

Pendleton PFI 

2.4.9 There are two elements of costs relating to the PFI scheme. 

 Team costs relating to monitoring of the scheme  

 Charges relating to the operational phase of the scheme based upon the contractual 

agreement. 

Bad Debt Provision 

2.4.10 The contribution to the impairment allowance for doubtful debt reflects the rental income 
base within the HRA and equates to approximately 3% of rental and service charge 
income.  

HRA Reserves 

2.4.11 HRA reserves stood at £7.592m at the beginning of 2022/23. Taking into account the 
forecast 2022/23 outturn budget, it is anticipated that general balances will be £6.835m at 
31/03/2023. 

Page 58



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  2. Housing revenue account (HRA) 

56 

Table 28 General reserves £m 

Reserves as at 31 March 2021 7.167 

Contribution to balances 2021/22 0.425 

Reserves as at 31 March 2022 7.592 

Estimated contribution from balances 2022/23 (0.757) 

Estimated reserves as at 31 March 2023 6.835 

 

2.4.12 Reserves held are required to ensure the long-term sustainability of the HRA. The long 
term HRA business plan indicates this current level of reserves is essential for the future 
operation of the HRA.  

2.4.13 Members are reminded of the volatile nature of the HRA and the need, particularly under 
ringfencing, to maintain reserves to meet unforeseen circumstances which might arise and 
to minimise the effects of: 

 Income suppression through Right to Buy applications, collection levels and government 

rent setting policy 

 Any possible adverse performance issues 

 Impact of inflation upon service costs 

 Budget variations identified during the year 

 Trends in void properties 

 New legislative requirements 

 Environmental and estate investment 

2.4.14 In addition to the general reserve three other reserves are currently held for HRA 
purposes:- 

 PFI reserve, the main function of which is to smooth out the timing of PFI contractual costs 
and credits. This reserve established at the start of the PFI scheme will gradually reduce in 

later years. It is anticipated that the full balance will be used by the end of the scheme. 

 Major Repairs Allowance. Due to profiling of capital expenditure and funding, an element of 
the Major Repairs Allowance was carried forward into 2022/23. A review of public sector 
housing capital costs is being undertaken to determine whether there will be any residual 

balance to be released into the HRA during 2023/24. 

2.4.15 Given the pressures facing the HRA in future years it is anticipated that any funds released 
from these reserves will be transferred to the general HRA reserve and ultimately be used 
to support the HRA business plan.  

2.5 Recommendation 

2.5.1 Being mindful that, under Section 76(3) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
on the basis of the best available information, the Housing Revenue Account will not be in 
deficit, members are asked to approve the proposed HRA budget for 2023/24. 

Page 59



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

57 

 

 

3 Part 3 Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 and Capital 

Programme 2023/24  

Page 60



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

58 

3.1 Purpose and aims 

3.1.1 The overarching aim of the council’s Capital Strategy is to optimise the availability and 
effective use of resources to support capital projects. The Capital Strategy is intended to 
benefit the council, its partners, Salford residents and businesses by providing a framework 
for optimising and managing the capital resources available to the Council, develop its 
overall asset infrastructure and support the achievement of its priority outcomes. 

3.1.2 The council has a number of strategies and plans that influence the Capital Strategy. Many 
of these include assessments of the value, sufficiency and suitability of assets utilised by 
the council in delivering its services. They also include indications of future capital 
investment that the council will need to make to achieve their stated objectives and provide 
information around bids and submissions for resources to various external sources of 
finance. 

3.1.3 The main outcome of the Capital Strategy is to ensure capital investment and associated 
activities provide value for money and are in line with the Council’s priority outcomes. This 
strategy will develop and maintain firm foundations and clear guidelines and objectives for 
the council’s capital activities. 

3.2 Key Principles 

3.2.1 There are a number of key guiding principles that underpin the application and ongoing 
development of the Capital Strategy:- 

Accountability – to be promoted and demonstrated by officers and members 

throughout the capital planning processes, including the use of effective monitoring and 
reporting mechanisms. 

Affordability – future revenue consequences of capital projects, including the cost of 

capital financing will be taken into account in determining the council’s revenue budget. 

Prudence – the council will deliver a capital programme that is financially affordable, 

prudent and sustainable. 

Efficiency – the Capital Strategy will support ways to minimise costs and generate 

efficiencies, particularly through invest to save initiatives, taking account of local and 
national targets and regional strategies and initiatives. 

Improvement – the Capital Strategy will promote and support achievement of 

improvements in service delivery and the use of resources. 

Priorities – the Capital Strategy will enable resources to be directed into council 

priorities arising from the great eight. 

Sustainability – the Capital Strategy is a key component of the council’s drive to 

ensure all its resources are utilised and managed in a sustainable manner. 

Provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the underlying debt as set out in the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

Value for Money – projects will be effectively appraised to ensure they promote, 

achieve and demonstrate value for money in the provision of services and the use of 
resources. 

Realistic and Deliverable – capital investment projects must be developed with 

realistic timescales and budgets. 

Risk Management – in accordance with the Council’s risk management strategy, risk 
assessment and management principles and activities will be embedded throughout all 
aspects of the Capital Strategy and programming processes. 

Page 61



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

59 

3.3 Capital expenditure 

3.3.1 An understanding of what constitutes capital expenditure is fundamental to realising the 
benefits that an authority can obtain under the prudential framework. Unless expenditure 
qualifies as capital it will normally fall outside the scope of the framework and be charged 
to revenue in the period that expenditure is incurred. If expenditure meets the definition of 
capital, there may be opportunities to finance the outlay from capital receipts or by 
spreading the cost over future years’ revenue. The councils policy is to repay debt with 
capital receipts. 

3.3.2 There are three ways in which expenditure can qualify as capital under the Prudential 
framework: 

 The expenditure results in the acquisition, construction or enhancement of fixed assets 
(tangible and intangible) in accordance with 'proper practices'. 

 The expenditure meets one of the definitions specified in regulations made under the 2003 
Local Government Act. 

 The Secretary of State makes a direction that the expenditure can be treated as capital 
expenditure. 

3.3.3 The capital strategy defines and outlines the Council's approach to capital investment and 
is fundamental to the financial planning process. It aims to ensure that:- 

 Capital expenditure contributes to the achievement of the "Great Eight" priorities. 

 An affordable and sustainable capital programme is delivered. 

 Use of resources and value for money is maximised. 

 A clear framework for making capital expenditure is provided. 

 A corporate approach to generating capital resources is established. 

 Access to sufficient long-term assets to provide services are acquired and retained. 

 Borrowing to fund invest to save or self-financing proposals is also a realistic proposition, 
provided a business case is made that savings through efficiency or income can meet the 

capital financing costs of the borrowing. 

3.4 Development Capital Investment Projects 

3.4.1 There are a number of activities and mechanisms that may instigate capital investment 
proposals, key elements include: 

 Specific allocation of capital resources – the council receives notification from government 
departments and other funding bodies of capital grant awards and contributions, which are 

allocated for specific purposes. 

 Submission of funding bids – the council is invited to submit bids and plans for capital 
funding available through Government Departments and other funding bodies, usually to 

address specific aims and objectives; 

3.4.2 Individual capital investment projects are identified that will deliver specific priority 
outcomes within a given timeframe. Often, there is no specific funding stream available for 
these projects. 

Page 62



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

60 

3.4.3 Proposed capital investment projects must clearly demonstrate how the investment will 
address specific needs or achieve certain outcomes, including how they will support 
specific council priorities (Salford's Great Eight), strategies and plans. Key steps in 
developing capital investment projects include: 

Project Appraisal – proposed projects will need to demonstrate that they are the best 

option available to deliver the expected outcomes, provide value for money and assess 
the impact of risks associated with cost assumptions and funding sources. This 
includes the affordability within the revenue budget of any direct additional revenue 
implications of implementing the capital project. It also includes the affordability within 
the revenue budget over the long term of the debt repayment and interest costs 
associated with any prudential borrowing undertaken to fund capital projects. 

Project Management – project management is essential in delivering effective capital 

projects. 

Capital Programme Control and Monitoring – an essential element of overall project 

management requires that regular reports and updates are produced to provide 
information on the progress and outcomes of capital projects to ensure they are being 
delivered effectively. 

Post Project Evaluation – all major capital projects should be subject to a final 

evaluation, setting out what it delivered against what was planned. 

Strategy Review – the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme will be reviewed and 

updated annually. 

3.5 Funding Streams 

3.5.1 The capital programme is funded from a mix of sources including:- 

 Prudential borrowing – the introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004 allowed the council 
to undertake unsupported borrowing itself. This borrowing is subject to the requirements of 
the Prudential Code for Capital Expenditure for Local Authorities. The Council must ensure 
that unsupported borrowing is affordable, prudent and cost effective. This funding can also 
be used to front fund development to stimulate growth. This has provided the Council with 
the flexibility to raise capital funding as demand and business need have dictated. This 
form of borrowing has revenue implications for the council in the form of financing costs. It 
will be necessary to continue to use unsupported borrowing to provide the necessary 
resource in 2023/24 to deliver a fully funded capital programme that delivers the desired 
priority outcomes. Unsupported borrowing continues to be the primary source of the council 
generating its own resources towards funding capital investment, with capital receipts being 

used to repay debt as and when asset disposals can be realised and give fair value. 

 External grants – the largest form of capital funding comes through as external grant 

allocations from central government departments. 

 External contributions (including Section 106) – elements of the capital programme are 
funded by contributions from private sector developers and partners. Growth in Salford has 
resulted in Section 106 contributions from developers accounting for significant elements of 

funding of the capital programme in recent years. 

 Revenue funding – the council can use resources to fund capital projects on a direct basis. 
However, the impact of austerity on the Council’s revenue budget has reduced options in 
this area and therefore the preference is for invest to save options to be adopted where 

feasible. 

 Capital receipts – the council can generate capital receipts through the sale of surplus 
assets such as land and buildings. The Council seeks to maximise the level of these 

resources and are applied in the first instance to repay debt when they are received. 

Page 63



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

61 

3.6 Governance arrangements 

3.6.1 The Authority’s constitution and financial regulations govern the capital programme as set 
out below: 

 All capital expenditure must be carried out in accordance with the financial regulations and 

the Council’s Constitution. 

 The expenditure must comply with the statutory definition of capital purposes as defined 

within this document and wider financial standards. 

 The Capital Programme approved by Full Council as part of the Council’s annual budget 
report sets the capital funding availability for the Council, the prioritisation of funding and 

the schemes receiving entry into the Capital Programme. 

 All schemes are formally approved into the capital programme by following a process as 

set out in the financial regulations. 

 Officers are not authorised to commit expenditure without prior formal approval as set out in 

the financial regulations. 

 Each scheme must be under the control of a responsible person/project manager. 

 Any agreements (such as section 106) which contractually commit to procure capital 
schemes will need to follow the same approval process as other capital expenditure before 

it can be formally incorporated into the capital programme. 

 The prudential system requires the chief finance officer to recommend prudential borrowing 
indicators to the council, the determination of the capital programme needs to be aligned 

with the revenue budget by considering and approving them at the same council meeting. 

 In recent years the council has adopted the strategy of using unsupported borrowing (in lieu 
of capital receipts) to support its capital programme for schemes requiring general support. 

For 2023/23 £40.012m of unsupported borrowing has been approved. 

3.6.2 The main internal bodies that are responsible for the governance and management of the 
capital programme are the Full Council and Cabinet. 

3.7 Knowledge and Skills 

3.7.1 The council utilises the knowledge and skills of its internal officers when considering capital 
investment decisions and where necessary it also relies on the expert knowledge of 
specialist external advisors. 

3.7.2 The council employs professionally qualified legal, finance and property officers who can 
offer advice and guidance when considering any capital investment decisions. 

Finance 

3.7.3 Finance staff are professionally qualified to advise the council on all financial aspects of 
capital decisions. They also have the necessary experience of how the council works 
having been in post for several years. Finance staff also undertake Continuous 
Professional Development and the council is an accredited body of the CIPFA (Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance Accountancy) CPD scheme. They maintain knowledge and skills 
through regular technical updates from appropriate bodies. 

Page 64



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

62 

Property 

3.7.4 The property team is made up of a number of Chartered Surveyors. They are all members 
of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and comply with the RICS’s rules in 
relation to Continuing Professional Development. The team have extensive property 
knowledge and have worked in partnership with the council for a number of years. 

Legal 

3.7.5 Legal Staff are professionally qualified as either solicitors or legal executives and are 
regulated by their respective professional bodies. The staff undertake Continuing 
Professional Development and their rules of conduct require that they have an appropriate 
level of skill and expertise to deal with the matter with which they are dealing. All staff are 
aware of the operational structure of the council. They maintain knowledge and skills 
through regular technical updates from appropriate bodies. 

External Advice 

3.7.6 The council uses external advisors where necessary in order to complement the 
knowledge its own officers hold. 

3.8 Review of 2022/23 

3.8.1 A capital programme of £138.208m for 2022/23 was originally approved by council last 
February, funded by government grant of £51.113m and unsupported borrowing of 
£26.070m and invest to save borrowing of £61.025m. 

3.8.2 Variations to the original programme occurred when previously estimated government 
grant funding was confirmed and re-profiled allocations were rolled forward from 2021/22 
to 2022/23. All programme adjustments have been reported and approved as part of the 
monthly budget monitoring process. 

3.8.3 Based on the Capital Programme report to cabinet on the 25 January, indicative outturn 
capital expenditure was expected to be £111.636m, funded by government grant of 
£47.742m £30.703m invest to save m and borrowing of £33.191m. A further £72.257m of 
the programme was re-profiled from 2022/23 into 2023/24 of which £15.617m was to be 
funded from unsupported borrowing, £24.346m from grant/other and £32.295m of invest to 
save/self-financing. 

3.9 Capital expenditure proposals 2023/24 

3.9.1 On the basis of the council’s priorities for capital investment, and having regard to the 
estimate of available resources, a capital programme amounting to £88.882m is proposed, 
as summarised in the table below: 

3.9.2 Uncommitted capital schemes from 23/24 will be reassessed alongside new bids when 
determining the capital programme for future years and will not automatically roll into the 
future capital programmes. 

Page 65



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

63 

Table 29 Capital programme sources of funding in £m 

  
USB  
2023-24 

Grant 
2023-24 

Invest to 
Save 
2023-24 

Other 
Facility 
2023-24 Total 

People 0.394 12.633   13.027 

Place 38.848 17.838 18.050 0.350 75.086 

Service Reform 0.770    0.770 

Grand Total 40.012 30.471 18.050 0.350 88.882 

 

A schedule of the schemes contained in the proposed capital programme is included at 
Appendix 6. 

3.9.3 All new capital proposals have been subjected to scrutiny by Cabinet members. 

3.9.4 Approval to the proposed capital programme at this stage should therefore be seen as 
giving consent to an initial programme of those schemes that are at present contractually 
uncommitted proceeding to design and tender stage. Approval to commit capital 
expenditure on individual projects will continue to be referred to Procurement Board, as at 
present, to ensure that projects will only be committed if funding is available or certain to 
become available. 

3.9.5 It should be noted at this stage that the capital programme can be subject to change as the 
year unfolds, with new schemes being introduced as funding sources are confirmed and 
schemes being removed if the expected funding proves not to be available and 
expenditure forecasts change. 

3.9.6 The capital programme will be continuously reviewed during 2023/243 to reflect any 
significant variations that may arise, any new priorities that may emerge and the impact of 
2022/23 capital outturn.  

Regeneration 

3.9.7 Growth is a key priority for the city, and regeneration is a major driver for delivering the 
council’s inclusive economic growth agenda. The ability to influence and achieve economic 
growth in the city defines the council’s choices for capital investment. 

3.9.8 Over the past five years, Salford has seen growth of over 14,500 new homes (over 2,900 
per annum) and almost 212,000 sqm (2.3 million sq. ft) of commercial floorspace 

3.9.9 In the next 20 years, further investment is an anticipated to bring additional growth of circa 
67,000 new homes and 1m sqm of commercial floorspace. 

3.9.10 As a result further council tax and business rate revenue can be achieved as a result of 
this growth to support the delivery of key Council services. 

3.9.11 Salford Quays, Western Gateway and City Centre Salford, are the focus for investment, 
economic growth and job creation in the city. The regeneration of Salford towns is also part 
of the city’s strategic growth programme and work in progressing the vision for Swinton 
and Eccles Town Centre continues as we look to create the conditions to attract inward 
investment, new homes and jobs; and support existing businesses in the area. 

3.9.12 The council also continues to work with a number of partners to improve the housing offer 
across the city. 

Page 66



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

64 

3.9.13 The council is driving new delivery models to provide truly affordable housing in Salford 
notably through investment in Derive and rolling out the Council’s own self build housing 
programme.  The direct delivery programme will deliver a choice of high design, high 
quality and energy efficient homes for the people of Salford to live in at social and 
affordable rents, as well as options for private rent and sale. Further investment will also 
continue to assess, develop and bring forward additional housing sites in the city. 

3.9.14 The momentum of investment in the city continues at pace. The presence of many major 
developers, house builders and financial institutions investing within the city and working in 
partnership with the council creates the opportunity for the council to integrate resources 
and programmes effectively and to gear the use of the council’s own resources to 
maximise this investment potential. Careful targeting of the council’s resources can 
stimulate and shape other investment to promote the regeneration and economic growth of 
the city and better services. 

3.9.15 There are a significant number of projects underway or planned that will have major long-
term impact on the city, creating new employment, training opportunities and industries of 
the future. These developments include Crescent, Salford Quays, MediaCity, New Bailey, 
Middlewood Lock, Greengate and Port Salford. 

3.9.16 The Greater Manchester Strategy and the devolution agenda bring new opportunities for 
investment; funds such as the Greater Manchester Investment Fund (GMIF) and Housing 
Investment Fund will support business, investment and major infrastructure projects, 
alongside government funding opportunities like Levelling Up and UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund. 

Transport and Infrastructure 

3.9.17 Significant and continued economic growth is creating significant transport and 
infrastructure challenges for Salford, but by meeting these challenges head on with 
commitment and creativity, transport and infrastructure can be an engine for economic 
growth whilst helping us achieve carbon reduction targets and improve the quality of life for 
everyone in Salford. 

3.9.18 The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 sets out an Infrastructure Programme 
that will, over the next decade, continue to underpin the overall Regeneration programme 
providing the critical infrastructure to enable major regeneration programmes to proceed 
and ensuring that we have a transport network that is fit for purpose, reliable, cost effective 
and safe for our residents and businesses alike. The majority of capital investment needed 
will come from sources outside the council including Department for Transport and other 
government funding (Including Network Rail and Highways England) matched with private 
sector investment driven by major regeneration schemes. 

3.9.19 Significant government transport and infrastructure funding will be available to the council 
via competitive bids direct to Government or as devolved funding to Greater Manchester 
via the City Region Sustainable Transport Fund. We are working closely with TfGM, other 
districts and other partners (Network Rail and Highways Agency) to ensure that our 
priorities are understood, embedded in the wider GM programme and that our funding 
needs are met. 

3.9.20 Investment also continues to maintain and improve the City’s existing highway 
infrastructure and structural assets to ensure continued longevity of the assets and benefits 
of investment. 

Page 67



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

65 

Planning Policy and Climate Change 

3.9.21 Tackling the Climate Emergency is one of eight key priorities known as the Great Eight. 
Investment continues to develop a pipeline of zero / low carbon proposals or contributing to 
wider initiatives to bring forward a reduction in the council and other stakeholders carbon 
outputs.  Investment will also be made to assess the delivery of sustainable development 
and ensure that the city council has the right land supply for growth, meaning that it is able 
to also protect important assets such as green spaces. 

Schools 

3.9.22 The Education Asset Management Plan (AMP) sets out the need to provide high quality 
education in accommodation that stimulates a learning environment for school pupils and 
members of the community. A program of surveys informs the Condition related building 
priorities within Salford schools. 

3.9.23 The council’s capital programme for schools is largely driven by government funding 
initiatives to address increasing demand for pupil places within the City along with an 
annual capital maintenance grant to improve the condition of Salford’s school buildings. 

Health and Social Care 

3.9.24 The small amount of capital funding received from government grants is applied through 
the capital strategy with the aim of improving life chances and promoting the independence 
of people in Salford. There is a whole system approach towards health and social care in 
partnership with users and carers, Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Trusts, the 
voluntary sector, independent providers and others to shape services across all areas. 

Environment 

3.9.25 The capital strategy is targeted at supporting the regeneration of the city, promoting health 
and wellbeing through the Parks for People strategy, addressing national targets with 
regards to waste management and recycling, meeting health and safety requirements in 
cemeteries and crematoria, and providing investment in the re-purposing or maintaining 
sustainability of key heritage and community assets.  The council’s financial commitment to 
transform Buile Hill mansion continues. 

3.9.26 Investment continues to replace the council’s fleet to ensure effective operations of key 
services and where possible, to look to replace with lower emission vehicles as part of our 
commitment to reduce air pollution and improved air quality in the city. 

Regulatory Services 

3.9.27 The council continues to provide a range of interventions to support vulnerable residents to 
improve their homes, whether that be via small scale works or measures to tackle fuel 
poverty. Interventions are also in place to reduce the impact of crime through target 
hardening or specific area-based security reduction initiatives. 

Page 68



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

66 

Property 

3.9.28 The capital strategy aims to ensure adequate investment in our property portfolio to ensure 
they are  fit for purpose in supporting services  to meet their plans and priorities, focussing 
currently on core operating sites, supported by other satellite offices. The office 
accommodation strategy also embraces the property requirements of new ways of working, 
opportunities to rationalise the estate, share accommodation with partners and new 
commercial investment.  The ability to respond and implement new and safe ways of 
working within a workspace context has also been accelerated as a result of the current 
pandemic. Ensuring council assets are compliant and provide a safe space for employees 
and users of these spaces is critical going forward. The council’s estate will also benefit 
from further de-carbonisation measures subject to securing additional Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Grant from GMCA. 

Leisure and Culture 

3.9.29 Capital investment is focussed in sustaining and improving key cultural assets, notably 
Orsdall Hall and The Lowry. Investment will also be made as a member of Salford Culture 
and Place Partnership to support Suprema Lex, the cities strategy for culture, creativity and 
place. 

3.10 Capital expenditure proposals 2024-2026 

3.10.1 Capital expenditure beyond for 2024/25 and 2025/26 has provisionally been identified by 
services, but no commitment at this stage has been given to these schemes or level of 
funding. 

Table 30 Capital expenditure by internal and external sources of finance £m 

 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 Total 
 Internal External Internal External  

Total 
Requirement 72.624 36.249 60.634 21.787 191.294 

 

3.11 Underlying assumptions 

3.11.1 A total of £40.012m will be borrowed using unsupported borrowing powers. The borrowing 
will be used in general support and the capital financing charges on that unsupported 
borrowing can be met from the revenue budget. Appropriate provision has been made in 
the General Fund revenue budget to fund the unsupported borrowing to be used in funding 
of the capital programme. 

3.11.2 Usable capital receipts estimated at £8.580m from asset disposals will be applied in the 
first instance to the repayment of historic unsupported borrowing accumulated from 
previous years in respect of General Fund capital expenditure. 

3.12 Risks 

The key risks and the way in which they will be mitigated are set out below: -. 

3.12.1 Unsupported borrowing will be over-committed or the cost of borrowing will increase 
making associated costs unaffordable to the revenue budget. The potential revenue impact 
associated with the proposed capital programme is discussed with lead members as part 
of the budget setting process. Full provision is made for the costs of this borrowing within 
revenue budget projections.  

Page 69



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  3. Capital 

67 

3.12.2 Government grants not being realised. Capital projects which are reliant on grant support 
will not be commissioned unless a grant approval has been received. All proposed capital 
expenditure will be subject to the approval of the Procurement Board, who must be 
satisfied with the certainty of grant support.  

3.12.3 Cost overruns. Current and forecast levels of inflation could impact upon the deliverability 
of schemes within existing allocations. Expenditure on capital schemes is monitored 
regularly with reports provided to lead members and Cabinet.  Services are expected to 
manage any cost overruns within overall resource allocations with permission for any 
virement of funds being requested in accordance with the council’s constitution. 

Page 70



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  4. Prudential indicators 

68 

4 Part 4 Prudential indicators 2022/23 to 2026/27 

  

Page 71



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  4. Prudential indicators 

69 

4.1 Background  

4.1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires each local authority to determine its own 
affordable borrowing limits and to have regard to specified codes of practice when 
determining these limits. 

4.1.2 Regulations issued pursuant to the Act endorsed a code of practice produced by CIPFA 
(the Prudential Code for Capital Finance) which a local authority should follow in 
determining its borrowing limits.  

4.1.3 This report therefore sets out the limits for 2023/24, and indicative values over the medium-
term, to establish the affordability of the council’s capital investment and treasury 
management plans. More detail is set out in the Treasury Management Strategy, Annual 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement which is also being 
presented to council. Limits are continuously monitored by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Table 31 Prudential limits 2022/23 to 2026/27 £m 

 
21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 

Capital Expenditure 82.6 111.6 161.1 95.4 84.9 20.0 

Capital financing requirement (CFR) 657.8 689.1 753.7 933.6 947.4 915.1 

Gross debt 497.8 491.9 523.4 711.7 748.7 725.0 

Annual Change in CFR             

Capital expenditure financing 28.8 63.9 106.0 232.7 63.2 20.0 

Debt repayment provision MRP -44.0 -32.6 -41.4 -52.7 -49.3 -52.4 

Total -15.2 31.3 64.5 180.0 13.8 -32.4 

 

4.1.4 The capital financing requirement is a measurement of the council’s underlying need to 
borrow to support its capital programme.  

4.1.5 The operational boundary limit for external debt reflects a prudent, but not worst case, 
scenario without the additional headroom included within the authorised limit. It is possible 
that the limit will be breached for specific, operational reasons, but any such breach would 
be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the first opportunity. 

Table 32 Treasury Indicators, the operational boundary £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 666.0 651.1 688.5 712.7 672.3 

Other long-term liabilities 189.1 182.5 325.1 314.7 304.7 

Operational boundary total 855.1 833.7 1,013.6 1,027.4 977.1 

 

4.1.6 The authorised limit represents an absolute boundary that should meet all possible 
eventualities that may arise in the council’s treasury management activities. Authority is 
delegated to the Chief Finance Officer as Section 151 Officer to effect movement between 
the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities, in urgent 
circumstances to exceed these limits without council approval, and to report any such 
changes to the council at its next meeting following the change. (NB. Such a course of 
action, if deemed necessary, is permitted within the CIPFA code). 

Page 72



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  4. Prudential indicators 

70 

Table 33 Treasury Indicators, the authorised limit £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 844.7 787.1 771.7 752.7 712.3 

Other long-term liabilities 219.1 212.5 355.1 344.7 335.7 

Authorised limit total      1,063.8  999.6 1,126.8 1,097.4 1,048.1 

 

4.1.7 It has not been necessary to invoke this delegation since the inception of prudential 
borrowing on 1st April 2004 and, accordingly, there have been no breaches of these limits 
in 2022/23. 

4.1.8 Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment and are based on the availability of funds after 
each year-end. 

Table 34 Upper limit for investments beyond 365 days £m 

  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 year 
end 

Upper limit for investments 
beyond 365 days 

40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 0.0 

 

4.1.9 Maturity structure of borrowing - These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing and are required for upper and 
lower limits. 

 

Page 73



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  4. Prudential indicators 

71 

Table 35 Maturity structure of borrowing 

  

        

Estimated 
position 
at year 

end 

    All Years     

Maturity structure for fixed rate borrowing   Upper 

Limit 

Lower 

Limit 

% £m 

Under 12 months   75% 0% 35% 181.9 

12 and within 24 months   50% 0% 6% 33.2 

24 months and within 5 years   50% 0% 15% 79.6 

5 years and within 10 years   50% 0% 8% 42.1 

10 years and above   100% 25% 36% 186.6 

            

Maturity structure for variable rate borrowing   Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

% £m 

Under 12 months   10% 0% 0% 0.0 

12 and within 24 months   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

24 months and within 5 years   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

5 years and within 10 years   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

10 years and above   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

 

 

Page 74



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  5. Recommendations 

72 

5 Part 5 Summary of recommendations 
 

5.1.1 Members are requested to: 

1. Note and support the risk assessment of reserves and assumptions made in preparing the 
revenue budget for 2023/24, and accordingly approve a revenue budget of £244.692m. 

2. Approve in accordance with the formal resolution set out in Appendix 4: 

1. That the revised revenue estimates for 2022/23 and 2023/24 as set out in this report be 
approved. 

2. That the council confirms the decision of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services on 17 January 2023 to approve the calculation of 73,859 as the council’s council 
tax base for the year 2023/24 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B (1) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, as amended). 

3. That the council confirms the action of the chief finance officer (s151 officer) in approving a 
business rates estimate which shows £101.067m as the council’s share of its retained 
business rates for 2023/24. 

4. That the following amounts be now calculated by the council for the year 2023/24 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act): 

a) £804,453,007  being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (2) of the Act representing the gross revenue budget of the 
council. 

b) £666,906,868  being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act. 

c) £137,546,139 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 31A (4) of 
the Act, as its council tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31A 
(4) of the Act).  

d) £1,862.28  being the amount at (c) above, divided by Item T ((2) above) calculated by 
the council, in accordance with Section 31B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its 
council tax for the year. 

3. Approve the HRA budget for 2023/24 as set out in Part 2. 

a) Identifies that the estimated outturn expenditure for 2022/23 is expected to have a 
contribution from HRA reserves of £0.757m and consequently the balances held in reserve 

at 31 March 2023 are forecasted to be £6.835m. 

b) Identifies that the City Mayor has approved a 7% increase in rents for 2023/24. 

4. Request that each Lead Member and Strategic Director monitors expenditure against budget to 
ensure that overall net expenditure is contained within budget, and for the Lead Member for 
Finance and Support Services and the Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer) to report to Overview 
and Scrutiny Board on progress with the budget on a corporate basis. 

5. Approve a capital programme of £88.882m for 2023/24 and the proposed sources of funding as 
set out in Part 3 and detailed in Appendix 6, and require all capital proposals be referred to the 
Procurement Board for approval as required by the constitution, supported by detailed funding 

Page 75



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  5. Recommendations 

73 

arrangements, prior to contractual commitments being made. 

6. Approve the treasury management prudential indicators for 2022/23 to 2026/27 as set out in 
Part 4.  

7. Approve the delegation of authority to the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) after consultation 
with Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the City Mayor, to make any 
necessary technical adjustments to the figures upon receipt of any further details associated 
with Government funding announcements. 

8. For the purposes of section 11B(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply to any long term empty dwelling (that is any dwelling that for a continuous period 
of at least 1 year has been unoccupied and has been substantially unfurnished) within the 
Salford City Council area. 

9. For the purposes of section 11C(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply and the amount of council tax payable in respect of that dwelling and that day is 
increased by 100 percent in respect of any day where a dwelling has no resident and the 
dwelling is substantially furnished. 

 

 

Paul Dennett 

City Mayor 

 

    

Page 76



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendices 

74 

6 Appendices 
 

Appendices 

Re: part 1 – The revenue budget and council tax levy 2023/24 

1. 2022/23 financial performance 

2. Risk assessment of general reserves  

3. 2023/24 revenue budget  

4. Formal resolutions – 2023/24 council tax 

Re: part 2 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revenue budget 2023/24 

5. Summary of HRA forecast outturn 2022/23 and budget 2023/24 

Re: part 3 –Capital programme 2023/24 

6. Capital programme 2023/24 – proposed programme  

 

Page 77



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 1 financial performance 

75 

Appendix 1 2022/23 financial performance 
 

Table 36 2022/23 service group allocations and variations from the approved budget £000 

Services  Revised 
estimate  

Provisional 
outturn  

Variation  

People (Children's) - GF 102,958 107,428 4,470 
People (Adults) 70,770 71,624 854 

Place 40,577 40,437 -140 

Service Reform 11,759 13,272 1,513 

Public Health 19,059 18,559 -500 

Precepts and Charges  38,932 38,932 0 

Capital Financing  37,146 34,946 -2,200 

Net cost of services  321,201 325,198 3,997 

Central costs: 

   

Reversal of depreciation charges -36,934 -36,934 0 

Contribution to / (from) specific reserves, funds 
and provisions 

-11,809 -11,809 0 

PFI, new homes bonus and other specific non 
ring-fenced grants 

-68,984 -72,756 -3,772 

Pay/price inflation/efficiencies and centrally held 
grants 

17,614 17,614 0 

Other non-distributed costs including prior year 
pension costs and notional financing 
adjustments 

8,078 7,853 -225 

Central costs total -92,035 -96,032 -3,997 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS  -22,601 -22,601 0  
206,565 206,565 0 

Transfer to / (from) General Fund reserves  0 0 0 

Net expenditure 206,565 206,565 0 

 

The revised estimate is the council’s budget forecast at November 2022. It is an updated version of 
the budget originally approved for 2022/23, adjusted for the latest information at the time. Revisions 
include allocations from the provision for inflation and contingencies for items which were provided 
for in the original budget but not allocated to service groups at that time. 

The variation between the revised estimate and the forecast outturn relate to items identified in the 
budget monitoring exercise and detailed in the following table. 

 

Page 78



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 1 financial performance 

76 

Table 37 Variation from the approved budget to provisional outturn budget £000 

Approved budget 2022/23 
 

206,565 

Major service variations 
  

People (Children's) - GF       

Children’s integrated fund risk share (mainly driven by SEN transport 
and LAC) 

4,195  

Specialist Services 28  

Education and Helping Families 247  
 

 4,470 

People (Adults)   

Adults integrated fund risk share  854  

  854 

Place   

Planning and Transport -998  

Housing, Communities and Neighbourhoods -42  

Environment and Community Safety 412  

Culture and Leisure 0  

Regeneration -94  

Property 582  
 

 -140 

Service Reform   

Service Divisions 1,513  
 

 1,513 

Public Health   

Core staffing -500   
 -500 

Precepts and Charges    
0  

 
 0 

Capital Financing   

Capital Financing -2,200  

  -2,200 

Variation in service costs  3,997 

Central costs   

Application of section 31 grants and other centrally held income -3,772  

Pension increase charges -225  

  -3,997 

Outturn budget 2022/23  206,565 

  

Page 79



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 1 financial performance 

77 

Table 38 Forecast general fund reserves in £m 

General fund reserves 

Balance as at 31 March 2022 13.2 

Add: 
 

Planned call on reserves in 22/23 0.0 

Estimated balance as at 31 March 2023 13.2 

Page 80



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme          Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves 

78 

Appendix 2 - Risk assessment of general reserves 
 

Table 39 Risk assessment of reserves £000 

2022/23 Provision 
Risk assessment of reserves 2023/24 

Reserves requirement 

Minimum Desirable Area of 
Expenditure 

Explanation of Risk/Justification for Reserves Minimum Desirable 

      

1,404 2,538 Pay If the pay award for 2023/24 is not kept within the existing budgetary 
provision there maybe additional pressure on the general fund. 
 

1,079 2,158 

1,053 4,210 Prices Continuing uncertainty over energy costs in 2023/24, costs may exceed 
the budgeted provision. Other budgets may struggle to adjust to the rate 
of inflation. 
 

1,585 4,756 

250 500 Repairs and 
maintenance 

The requirement to make previous savings relating to our property 
portfolio while at the same time absorbing price inflation and applying 
restrictions on discretionary spending areas has resulted in a substantial 
reduction in the level of repairs and maintenance in recent years.  

250 500 

P
age 81



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme          Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves 

79 

2022/23 Provision 
Risk assessment of reserves 2023/24 

Reserves requirement 

Minimum Desirable Area of 
Expenditure 

Explanation of Risk/Justification for Reserves Minimum Desirable 

      

2,500 4,500 Integrated 
health and care 
fund pooled 
budget 
(combined) 

With the creation of the integrated care board (ICB) there is continuing 
uncertainty around the ICB risk sharing arrangements and contributions. 
The fund also continues to have significant pressures to manage. 
 

2,500 4,500 

4,000 6,000 Government 
funding 

Whilst the government has provided some indications of its approach to 
the implementation of funding changes, the impact of these will only be 
clear once a full settlement is published at local authority level for 2024/5 
and 2025/26. It should be noted that the government has committed to a 
wide-ranging review of local authority finance in 2025/26. 

4,000 6,000 

1,250 2,500 Business Rates 
Retention 
Scheme (BRRS) 

Bills for business will rise as the effect of reliefs will be more than matched 
by the impact of revaluations. 

1,250 2,500 

1,450 2,900 Non-
achievement of 
savings 

The risk assessment continues to recognise the pressure put on council 
services by the cumulative effects of savings proposals, and the budget 
being balanced by savings from innovate. 
 

1,450 2,900 

P
age 82



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme          Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves 

80 

2022/23 Provision 
Risk assessment of reserves 2023/24 

Reserves requirement 

Minimum Desirable Area of 
Expenditure 

Explanation of Risk/Justification for Reserves Minimum Desirable 

      

1,000 1,500 Other 
unforeseen 
expenditure or 
income 
shortfall 

There is a risk that unexpected events may arise which require 
expenditure to be incurred or income to be foregone, that have not been 
budgeted for. In this regard, CIPFA recommend that sufficient 
contingency is kept to meet emergencies that are not covered by other 
means such as insurance, including Covid. The risk assessment is based 
broadly on 0.5% of the net revenue budget for cover for low risk, 0.75% 
for medium risk and 1% for high risk. 

1,000 1,500 

12,907 24,648 Total   13,114 24,814 

  P
age 83



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 3 revenue budget 

81 

Appendix 3 2023/24 revenue budget 
  

Table 40 Service group allocations and variations from the approved budget £000 

Services Revised 
estimate 
2022/23 

Revised 
estimate 
2023/24 

Variation 

People (Children's) - GF 102,958 103,298 340 
People (Adults) 70,770 71,531 761 

Place 40,577 40,870 293 

Service Reform 11,759 9,755 -2,004 

Public Health 19,059 18,950 -109 

Precepts and Charges 38,932 40,820 1,888 

Capital Financing  37,146 40,557 3,411 

Net cost of services  321,201 325,781 4,580 

Central costs: 

   

Reversal of depreciation charges  -36,934 -36,934 0 

Contribution to / (from) specific reserves, funds and 
provisions 

-11,809 -215 11,594 

Use of new homes bonus and other specific non ring 
fenced grants 

-68,984 -101,054 -32,070 

Unallocated pay/price inflation/efficiencies and 
centrally held grants 

17,614 71,637 54,023 

Other non distributed costs including prior year 
pension costs and notional financing adjustments 

8,078 8,078 0 

Central costs total -92,035 -58,488 33,547 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -22,601 -22,601 0  
206,565 244,692 38,127 

Transfer to / (from) General Fund reserves  0 0 0 

Net expenditure 206,565 244,692 38,127 

 

A subjective analysis of the above variation is shown in the following table: 

 

Page 84



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 3 revenue budget 

82 

Table 41 Analysis of budget changes 2022/23 to 2023/24 £m 

2022/23 approved budget   206.565 

Inflationary and other increases outside the direct control of the 
council 

    

Pay awards 11.105   

Pay - increments 0.220   

Reversal of National Insurance contribution rate increase -1.085   

Price inflation 8.623   

    18.863 

Service issues     

Other service commitments – revenue maintenance of capital 
projects etc 

2.918   

Adult and Children's social care provision 30.772   

    33.690 

Government funding issues     

New Homes Bonus grant -0.949   

Services grant 2.069   

Social Care grant increase (net of ILF grant rolled in) -7.756   

ASC Discharge Fund -1.975   

ASC Market Sustainability and improvement fund -2.197   

BR S31 grants including under indexing of the multiplier 
compensation 

-17.968   

Other specific grant changes 0.931   

    -27.845 

Investments and savings     

2022/23 investments and savings step up and downs for 2023/24 0.608   

2023/24 savings proposals -5.967   

    -5.359 

Financing adjustments     

Capital Financing costs 1.500   

Reserve changes 3.598   

Business Rates S31 grant reserve 13.680   

    18.778 

2023/24 revenue budget   244.692 

 

Page 85



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 4 formal resolutions 

83 

Appendix 4 Formal resolutions - 2023/24 council tax 

1. That the revised revenue estimates for the year 2022/23 and 2023/24 as set out in this report 
be approved. 

2. That the council confirms the decision of the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
on 17 January 2023 to approve the calculation of 73,859 as the council’s council tax base for 
the year 2023/24 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B (1) of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, as amended). 

3. That the council confirms the action of the chief finance officer (s151 officer) in approving a 
business rates estimate which shows £101.067m as the council’s share of its retained business 
rates for 2023/24. 

4. That the following amounts be now calculated by the council for the year 2023/24 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act): 

a) £804,453,007 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (2) of the Act representing the gross revenue budget of the 
council. 

b) £666,906,868 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the 
items set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act. 

c) £137,546,139 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at (b) above, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 31A (4) of the 
Act, as its council tax requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31A (4) of 
the Act).  

d) £1,862.28 being the amount at (c) above, divided by Item T ((2) above) calculated by 
the council, in accordance with Section 31B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its 
council tax for the year. 

e) The amounts attributable to the valuation bands as shown in the following table being the 
amounts given by multiplying the amount at 4(d) above by the number which, in the 
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular 
valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings 
listed in valuation band D, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the 
Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of 
dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

Table 42 Basic amount of counci tax for the year £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 

1,034.60 1,241.52 1,448.44 1,655.36 1,862.28 2,276.12 2,689.96 3,103.80 3,724.56 

5. That it be noted that for the year 2023/24 the Greater Manchester mayor has stated the 
following amounts in precepts issued to the council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of the dwellings shown below.  

  

Page 86



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 4 formal resolutions 

84 

Precept Valuation bands 

Table 43 Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 

135.16 162.20 189.23 216.26 243.30 297.36 351.43 405.50 486.60 

 

Table 44 Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 

59.97 71.96 83.96 95.95 107.95 131.93 155.92 179.91 215.90 

6. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 4(e) and 5 above, the 
council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of council tax for the year 2023/24 for each 
of the categories of dwellings shown below:  

Table 45 2023/24 council tax £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 

1,229.73 1,475.68 1,721.63 1,967.57 2,213.53 2,705.41 3,197.31 3,689.21 4,427.06 

7. For the purposes of section 11B(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply to any long term empty dwelling (that is any dwelling that for a continuous period 
of at least 1 year has been unoccupied and has been substantially unfurnished) within the 
Salford City Council area. 

8. For the purposes of section 11C(1) of the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 the Council 
determines that with effect from 1st April 2024 the discount under section 11(2)(a) of the Act 
shall not apply and the amount of council tax payable in respect of that dwelling and that day is 
increased by 100 percent in respect of any day where a dwelling has no resident and the 
dwelling is substantially furnished.  

 

 

Page 87



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 5 HRA revenue budget  

85 

 

Appendix 5 Housing revenue account (HRA)  
 

Table 46 forecast outturn 2022/23 and budget 2023/24 £000 

HRA 
2022/23 

Original Budget 
2022/23 Outturn 

Forecast 

2023/24 
Estimated 

Budget 

Expenditure 

   
Recharge to HRA including strategy 229 253 255 

Private Finance Initiative - 
implementation 

302 279 285 

Central Internal Recharges 219 215 215 

Contribution to capital programme 150 75 75 

Provision for bad debts 258 129 135 

Other costs including SLAs 58 53 54 

Loan charges/interest 49 49 49 

PFI 14,239 14,436 15,297 

Contribution to/(from) balances 0 0 0 

Expenditure - total 15,504 15,489 16,365 

Income 
   

Rental income (5,453) (5,483) (5,714) 

Other income (911) (865) (1,070) 

PFI credits (7,511) (7,511) (7,511) 

Proceeds from Salix transfer (1,160) (873) (841) 

Contribution from PFI reserves (469) (757) (1,229) 

Income - total (15,504) (15,489) (16,365) 

Net budget 0 0 0 

 

 

Page 88



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 6 Capital programme  

86 

Appendix 6 2023/24 Capital programme - by service £m 
 

Table 47 2023/24 Capital programme - by service £m 

  USB   Grant  Invest to  
Save  

Other 
funding 

Total 

People 
     

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
 

2.500 
  

2.500 

DFC 
 

0.387 
  

0.387 

Family Hubs transformation 0.220 
   

0.220 

Pupil Place Planning 
 

3.275 
  

3.275 

Salford Family Nurseries 0.174 
   

0.174 

School Condition 
 

3.655 
  

3.655 

Secure Accommodation 6 beds 
 

0.689 
  

0.689 

SEND 
 

2.127 
  

2.127 

Place 
     

Environment 
     

Bereavement infrastructure 0.200 
   

0.200 

Citywide 0.140 
   

0.140 

Fleet replacement  2.470 
   

2.470 

Greenspace & Streetscene 0.760 
  

0.300 1.060 

Waste Containers  0.485 
   

0.485 

General 
     

General pre-imp growth/zero carbon 0.250 
   

0.250 

UKSPF - Communities and Place 
 

0.100 
  

0.100 

Place workforce 3.107 
   

3.107 

Highways 
     

Capitalised highways maintenance  2.200 
   

2.200 

Crash Barrier Investment Programme  0.120 
   

0.120 

CRSTS network management & 
devolved highways 

- 0.500 
  

0.500 

Flood Risk Management (DIP / CIP) 0.250 
   

0.250 

Highway Design  - 0.225 
  

0.225 

Highways Investment Programme & 

Const. 

3.567 
   

3.567 

Structures - Adopted / Non-adopted 0.840 0.950 
  

1.790 

Housing Strategy 
     

Council self build pipeline development  - 0.100 - - 0.100 

Derive 3.400 2.500 14.650 
 

20.550 

Duchy Travellers Site  0.150 
   

0.150 

Infrastructure 
     

Infrastructure capitalised salary 0.132 
   

0.132 

Strategic Connections  - 2.000 
  

2.000 

Western Gateway - CoSCoS junction 
imp. 

- 0.200 
  

0.200 

Planning Policy and Climate Change 
     

Local Plan  0.178 
   

0.178 

Zero Carbon - Housing Retrofit Support 0.100 
   

0.100 

Zero Carbon Fleet Infrastructure 0.250 
   

0.250 

Zero Carbon Renewable Energy 
Generation 

- 
 

0.500 
 

0.500 

Page 89



2023/24 Revenue budget and capital programme  Appendix 6 Capital programme  

87 

  USB   Grant  Invest to  
Save  

Other 
funding 

Total 

Property 
     

Acquisition Fund 0.894 
   

0.894 

Buile Hill mansion  1.500 
   

1.500 

Carbon management pipeline and 
delivery 

0.630 0.387 
  

1.017 

General  1.500 
   

1.500 

Regeneration 
     

City Centre Salford  0.275 10.876 
  

11.151 

Quays / MCUK 0.350 
   

0.350 

Strategic Regeneration  0.254 
 

1.500 
 

1.754 

Town Centres  0.300 
   

0.300 

Regulatory Services 
     

Affordable Warmth 0.080 
   

0.080 

Community Safety / Standing Together  0.090 
   

0.090 

Handyperson  0.300 
   

0.300 

Housing Crime Reduction  0.085 
   

0.085 

Winter Welfare 0.020 
   

0.020 

SCL / Leisure 
     

Lowry Investment  0.274 
   

0.274 

Ordsall Hall  - Shelter and Play Trail  - 
  

0.050 0.050 

SCL IT Kit 0.100 
   

0.100 

Suprema Lex  0.097 
   

0.097 

Property      

Acquisition Fund 12.600  1.400  14.000 

Service Reform 
     

HOST Dilapidation Costs 0.270 
   

0.270 

Hardware Refresh 0.500 
   

0.500 

Capital programme total 40.012 30.471 18.050 0.350 88.882 

 

Page 90



 
The Conservative Group alternative budget proposals 2023/24  
 
Proposed By Councillor Arnold Saunders 
 
Seconded by Councillor Adam Kealey 
 
I wish to move an amendment to the City Mayors Budget at item 4. This amendment will present 
an alternative 2023/24 budget to that proposed by the City Mayor, this amendment is within    
rule 18.VII of the Council Procedure rules of the Constitution.  
 
We propose to amend the City Mayors budget in line with the following headlines. 
 

 No increase in core council tax compared to the 2.99% increase included within the City 
Mayor’s budget report.  This will result in reduced income of £3.917m compared to the 
City Mayor’s proposal. The 2% adult social care precept increase will be retained 

 Deferral of the implementation of the council’s pay review. The pay review will not be 
implemented until April 2024 with the full cost of the review being incurred in 2025/26 
instead of 2024/25 as currently reflected in budget proposals. 

 Reduction in the size of the council’s communications team leading to a corresponding 
reduction in core budget of £0.309m 

 Reduction in the value of the cost of living crisis fund to £2.750m on the basis that all 
households will benefit from the proposed removal of 2.99% core council tax increase 

 Remove financial support to the working class movement library on a permanent basis, 
generating a recurrent saving of £0.025m. 

 Increase the frequency of street cleaning with those streets currently being cleaned on 
a three weekly basis to be cleaned on a fortnightly basis as a cost of £0.600m 

 Review and invest in the provision of children’s crossings at a potential cost of £0.336m. 

 

The impact of these changes on the 2023/24 budget is set out in the following table. 
 

Page 91



  
 
 
 
Aside from the changes detailed above, all other elements of the City Mayor’s proposed 
budget, for example service and Innovate savings proposals, are retained.  
 
Whilst these proposals will enable a balanced budget position to be achieved in 2023/24 it is 
recognised that funding gaps will increase for the remainder of the medium term strategy 
period. These are mainly driven by the short term nature of the delay in implementation of the 
pay review.  
 
The Section 151 Officer has advised that sustainable, recurrent  savings must be identified to 
bridge this funding gap given the financial uncertainty facing the local government sector. If 
recurrent savings are not identified, the impact upon the council’s medium term financial 
strategy will be as set out within Appendix 1, placing further stress upon the council’s budget 
position. 
 
At the point of the budget council meeting these savings are still to be identified. It is our 
intention to work with members, officers and external advisors to identify these savings during 
2023/24 with initial work to be undertaken on rationalisation of the council’s asset base through 
the disposal of office space. 
 
The net result of this alternative proposal is reflected in the revised council tax resolution 
included in Appendix 2. Total council tax, at Band D, is £2,160.49 including the GM mayoral 
precepts for Police and Crime Commissioner and the General precept including Fire. 
 
 
 
. 

2023/24
£m

City Mayor's budget proposal - funding gap 0.000

Funding reduction

No core council tax increase in 2023/24. 3.917

Investments

Street Cleaning - increased frequency 0.600
Investment in Children's crossings 0.336

Revised funding gap 4.853

Proposals to balance the budget

Pay Review -deferred implementation -4.100
Reduction in cost of living crisis fund to 
£2.750m -0.419
Reduction in Communications Team -0.309
Removal of funding for working class 
movement library -0.025

Funding gap 0.000

Page 92



 
 
Appendix 1 – Impact of proposals on the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
  £m £m £m 
City Mayor's budget proposal - funding 
gap 0.000 12.441 23.906 
       
Funding reduction       

No core council tax increase in 2023/24.  3.917     
       
Investments      
       
Street Cleaning - increased frequency 0.600    
Investment in Children's crossings 0.336    
       
Revised funding gap 4.853 12.441 23.906 
       
Proposals to balance the budget      
       
Pay Review -deferred implementation -4.100 3.200 0.900 
Reduction in cost of living crisis fund to 
£2.750m -0.419 0.419   
Reduction in Communications Team -0.309    
Removal of funding for working class 
movement library -0.025    
        
Funding gap 0.000 16.060 24.806 

 
 
  

Page 93



Appendix 2 Formal resolutions - 2023/24 council tax 

1. That the following amounts be now calculated by the council for the year 2023/24 in accordance with 
Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act): 

a) £800,535,525 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the items set out 
in Section 31A (2) of the Act representing the gross revenue budget of the council. 

b) £666,906,868 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the items set out 
in Section 31A (3) of the Act. 

c) £133,628,657 being the amount by which the aggregate at (a) above exceeds the aggregate at (b) 
above, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 31A (4) of the Act, as its council tax 
requirement for the year. (Item R in the formula in Section 31A (4) of the Act).  

d) £1,809.24 being the amount at (c) above, divided by Item T ((73,859) calculated by the council, 
in accordance with Section 31B (1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the year. 

e) The amounts attributable to the valuation bands as shown in the following table being the amounts 
given by multiplying the amount at 1(d) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 
5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number 
which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the council, 
in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in 
respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

Basic amount of counci tax for the year £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 

1,005.13 1,206.16 1,407.18 1,608.22 1,809.24 2,211.30 2,613.35 3,015.40 3,618.48 

2. That it be noted that for the year 2023/24 the Greater Manchester mayor has stated the following 
amounts in precepts issued to the council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of the dwellings shown below.  

 
Precept Valuation bands 

Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 
135.16 162.20 189.23 216.26 243.30 297.36 351.43 405.50 486.60 

 

Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 
59.97 71.96 83.96 95.95 107.95 131.93 155.92 179.91 215.90 

3. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 1(e) and 2 above, the 
council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of council tax for the year 2023/24 for each of 
the categories of dwellings shown below:  

2023/24 council tax £ 

A minus A B C D E F G H 
1,200.26 1,440.32 1,680.37 1,920.43 2,160.49 2,640.59 3,120.70 3,600.81 4,320.98 

 
 

Page 94



 

1 

 

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

 

TO THE CITY COUNCIL ON  

 22 FEBRUARY 2023 

  

TITLE:   2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Members are asked to approve the strategy for 2023/24 including: 

 The Treasury Management Strategy 

 Annual Investment Strategy for Treasury management and non- Treasury management 
investments and specifically: 

 Approve the policy for the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision  

 Approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The Treasury Management Strategy details the expected activities of the treasury function for the 
coming financial year 2023/24. Its production and submission to the council is required under the 
CIPFA Code, which requires this to cover non-treasury management investments. 

The Annual Investment Strategy is a separate requirement under the Local Government Act 2003. 
This includes non-treasury management investments. 

It is logical, convenient, and informative to consider these strategies together. They are presented 
to council alongside the budget report for the forthcoming year. 

 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 5



 

2 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

Local Government Act 2003 

Guidance on Local Government Investments (CLG 2018) (“CLG Investment Guidance”) 

Capital finance, guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (CLG 2018) (“MRP guidance”) 

Treasury Management in the Public Services, Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 
(CIPFA 2018) (“the CIPFA Treasury Management Code”) 

Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2017) (“the Prudential Code”) 

Treasury Management Practice statements TMP1 to TMP12 

Other working papers within the Finance Division. 

 

 

KEY DECISION: YES / NO 

 

 

DETAILS:   per report continued over 

  

Page 96



 

3 

 

1 Background 

1.1 The council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 
during the year will meet cash expenditure. The first main function of the treasury 
management service is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being 
available when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or 
instruments commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity 
before considering investment return. 

1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the council’s 
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure that the council can meet its capital 
spending commitments. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short-term loans or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion any debt previously 
drawn may be restructured to meet council risk or cost objectives. 

1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and Capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” 

1.4 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as the 
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity, or the ability to meet spending 
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects. The 
treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment 
income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash balances 
generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of 
the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund 
Balance. 

1.5 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, 
these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital 
expenditure), and are separate from the day-to-day treasury management activities. 

2 Capital strategy 

2.1 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local authorities to 
prepare an additional report, a capital strategy report, which will provide the following:  

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 

2.2 The aim of the capital strategy is to ensure that elected members understand the overall 
long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, governance 
procedures and risk appetite. 

2.3 The capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, although non-treasury investments will also be reported in the TMSS. The TMSS 

Page 97



 

4 

brings together the reporting of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield 
principles, and investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset, whereas the capital 
strategy will show: 

 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities. 

 Any service objectives relating to the investments; 

 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution.  

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs.  

 The payback period (MRP policy).  

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value.  

 The risks associated with each activity. 

2.4 Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, , ongoing 
costs and investment requirements and any credit information will be disclosed in the capital 
strategy, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash. 

2.5 Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be 
an explanation in the capital strategy of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG 
Investment Guidance and CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to.  

2.6 If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, 
the strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the 
capital strategy. 

2.7 To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations (the main focus of the 
TMSS) and the non-treasury operation (the main focus of the capital strategy), high-level 
comparators are shown throughout this report. 

3 Reporting Requirements 

3.1 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, five main reports each year, 
which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.  

3.2 Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy (this report) 

3.2.1 The first, and most important, report covers: 

 the Capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time); 

 the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 
organised) including treasury indicators; and  

 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed). 

3.3 A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report 

Page 98



 

5 

3.3.1 This will update members with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.  

3.4 Two Quarter-Year Treasury Management Reports 

3.4.1 These will update members with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision for Q1 and Q3. 

3.5 An Annual Treasury Management Report 

3.5.1 This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

3.5.2 The council has adopted the following reporting arrangements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code: 

Table 1 Areas of responsibility: 

Area of Responsibility Council/Committee/ 

Officer 

Frequency 

Treasury Management Policy 
Statement  

Full council Annually 

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy 

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

Annually before the 
start of the year 

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy – midyear report 

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

Reported in the third 
quarter 

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy – updates or revisions at other 
times  

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

As required 

Annual Treasury Outturn Report Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

Annually by 30th 
September after the 
end of the year 

Treasury Management Practices Chief Finance Officer  Whenever amendments 
are required 

Scrutiny of treasury management 
performance 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Board 

As part of mid-year and 
outturn reports and 
quarterly reporting (end 
of June/end of 
December) 

 

Page 99



 

6 

4 Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 

4.1 The strategy for 2023/24 covers: 

4.2 Capital issues 

 Capital expenditure plans and the prudential indicators 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy 

4.3 Treasury management issues 

 the current treasury positions 

 prudential and treasury indicators and treasury limits  

 prospects for interest rates 

 the borrowing strategy 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need 

 debt rescheduling 

 the investment strategy 

 creditworthiness policy  

 policy on the use of external service providers. 

4.3.1 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC 
Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code. 

4.4 Training 

4.4.1 The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  

4.4.2 Furthermore, there is an expectation within the code that all organisations have a formal and 
comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the effective acquisition and 
retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for those responsible for 
management, delivery, governance and decision making. 

4.4.3 The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the organisation’s 
treasury management needs.  Organisations should consider how to assess whether 
treasury management staff and board/ council members have the required knowledge and 

Page 100



 

7 

skills to undertake their roles and whether they have been able to maintain those skills and 
keep them up to date.  

4.4.4 As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review knowledge 
and skills:  

 Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor attendance is 
identified.  

 Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and board/council 
members.  

 Require treasury management officers and board/council members to undertake 
self-assessment against the required competencies (as set out in the schedule that 
may be adopted by the organisation).  

 Have regular communication with officers and board/council members, encouraging 
them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.” 

4.4.5 In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better Governance Forum 
and Treasury Management Network have produced a ‘self-assessment by members 
responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management’. A copy is included in appendix J. 

4.4.6 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed and a record 
of all training is kept and officers attend Link training events scheduled throughout the year. 

4.5 Treasury management consultants 

4.5.1 The council uses Link Group, Link Treasury Services Limited as its external treasury 
management advisors. 

4.5.2 The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our 
external service providers.  

4.5.3 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The council will ensure that 
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly 
agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  

5 ital Prudential Indicators 2023/24 To 2026/27 

5.1 The council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. 
The outputs of the capital expenditure plans are reflected in the prudential indicators, which 
are designed to assist member overview and confirm Capital expenditure plans.  

5.2 Capital Expenditure 

5.2.1. This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s Capital expenditure plans, both those 
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 2022/23 revised estimates 
are based on November budget monitoring and 2023/24 figures reflect the potential re-
profiling of 2022/23 capital expenditure based on this and the draft 2023/24 capital 

Page 101



 

8 

programme. This table does not include assets acquired by leases. Members are asked to 
note the Capital expenditure forecasts: 

Table 2 Capital expenditure in £m actuals or estimates 

  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  

Capital expenditure 82.6 111.6 161.1 95.4 84.9 20.0 

 

5.2.2 Table 3 Shows assets acquired by lease such as leasing arrangements that already include 
borrowing instruments. 

Table 3 Assets acquired by lease in £m actuals or estimates 

  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  

Capital expenditure 0.0 0.0 0.0 159.9* 0.0 0.0 

*£159.9m for 2024/25 represents leases coming on balance sheet with the delay in the 
introduction of IFRS 9 

5.2.3 Table 4 below summarises how the capital expenditure is being financed by capital or 
revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding (borrowing) need (the 
council’s policy is to use capital receipts to pay down debt).  

 

Table 4 Financing of capital expenditure in £m actuals or estimates 

  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  

Capital grants and receipts forecast 63.7 51.6 63.7 27.6 26.8 5.0 

Revenue 6.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Net financing need for the year (excluding 
capital receipts) 

12.4 60.0 97.4 67.7 58.2 15.0 

 

5.3 The Capital Financing Requirement 

5.3.1 The second prudential indicator is the council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The 
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding Capital expenditure which has not yet been paid 
for from either revenue or Capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the council’s 
underlying borrowing need. Any Capital expenditure in the table above, which has not 

Page 102



 

9 

immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. Increases in the CFR will lead to an 
increase in the budget required for capital financing. 

5.3.2 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each 
asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of Capital assets as they are used. 

5.3.3 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g., PFI schemes, finance leases). Whilst 
these increase the CFR, and therefore the council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
schemes include a borrowing facility and so the council is not required to separately borrow 
for these schemes. The council currently has £159.1m of such schemes within the CFR. 

5.3.4 IFRS 16 is an accounting standard that replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 regarding 
leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or 
the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or 
finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting remaining substantially unchanged 
from the IAS 17 approach.  

5.3.5 CIPFA has deferred the implementation of IFRS16 until the 2024/25 financial year. 

5.3.6 The impact of adopting IFRS 16 will be disclosed in the financial statements for the year 
ending 31 March 2025. Since it will require all leased assets to be recorded on the council’s 
balance sheet, the council’s prudential indicators on other long-term liabilities will need to 
reflect these changes. As a consequence, the prudential indicators have been revised to take 
into account an initial estimate of the likely effect of these changes in 2024/25 accounts. The 
assets identified as affected so far are vehicles, the council leases (car club vehicles), multi-
function printers and property leases. The anticipated impact of leased-in assets on the 
capital financing requirement is shown in Table 3. 

5.3.7 The current financing and CFR projections are set out below: 

Table 5 Movement in CFR in £m actuals or estimates 

 

Table 6 Capital financing requirement in £m actuals or estimates 

 

  2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23  
Estimate 

2023/24  
Estimate 

2024/25  
Estimate 

2025/26  
Estimate 

2026/27  
Estimate 

Net financing requirement 
Including capital receipts 

28.8 63.9 106.0 232.7 63.2 20.0 

Less MRP/ARP and other  
financing 

-44.0 -32.6 -41.4 -52.7 -49.3 -52.4 

Annual change in CFR -15.2 31.3 64.5 180.0 13.8 -32.4 

  2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23  
Estimate 

2023/24  
Estimate 

2024/25  
Estimate 

2025/26  
Estimate 

2026/27  
Estimate 

Capital financing requirement 657.8 689.1 753.7 933.6 947.4 915.1 

Annual change in CFR -15.2 31.3 64.5 180.0 13.8 -32.4 

Page 103



 

10 

5.4 Core funds and expected investment balances  

5.4.1 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources  
(asset sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year-end balances for each resource. 
The difference between total core funds and investments arises primarily because of timing 
differences in premiums paid on debt rescheduling and their ultimate recognition in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, leading to a deficit in long term capital 
over the medium term.  

Table 7 Resources over time in £m 

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these will be different mid-year  

5.5 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement 

5.5.1 The council is required to make an annual charge to its income and expenditure account to 
provide for the repayment of debt incurred as a result of financing Capital expenditure. Local 
authorities are required to make this charge by regulations issued under statute by central 
government (Local Government Act 2003). The council’s policy for determining the MRP is 
set out in Appendix A to this report. 

BORROWING 

5.6 The treasury management function ensures that the council’s cash is organised in 
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet 
the council’s capital payments obligations. This will involve both the organisation of the cash 
flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities. The 

  2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23  
Estimate 

2023/24  
Estimate 

2024/25  
Estimate 

2025/26  
Estimate 

2026/27  
Estimate 

Fund balances/reserves 
Bfwd 

333.0 339.9 339.9 338.9 328.7 303.7 

Movement on reserves/ 
Provisions 

7.0 0.0 -1.0 -10.2 -25.0 -10.4 

Fund balances/reserves 
Cfwd 

339.9 339.9 338.9 328.7 303.7 293.3 

Working and long-term 
Working capital 

-72.2 -70.4 -68.6 -66.8 -65.0 -63.2 

(Under)/over borrowing -160.1 -197.2 -230.3 -221.9 -198.7 -190.1 

Expected investments 107.6 72.3 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 

Page 104



 

11 

strategy covers the relevant treasury/prudential indicators, the current and projected debt 
positions, and the annual investment strategy.  

5.7 Current Portfolio Position 

5.7.1 The council’s treasury portfolio position as at 31 March 2022 and as at the time of this report 
are shown below for both borrowing and investments. 

Table 8 Treasury portfolio 

  Actual Actual Current Current 

  31.03.2022 31.02.2022 11.01.2023 11.01.2023 

Treasury investments £000 % £000 % 

Banks 20,720 19% 10,470 9% 

DMO 0 0% 5,000 4% 

Local authorities 20,000 19% 69,000 56% 

Money Market Funds 56,920 53% 33,380 27% 

Financial institutions 10,000 9% 5,000 4% 

Total treasury investments 107,640 100% 122,850 100% 

  
    

Treasury external borrowing 
    

PWLB 107,600 32% 107,600 32% 

Market Loans 6,200 2% 6,200 2% 

LOBOs 219,000 66% 219,000 66% 

Total external borrowing 332,800 100% 332,800 100% 

  
    

Net treasury investments / (borrowing) (235,160) 
 

(209,950) 
 

 

Page 105



 

12 

5.7.2 The forward projections are summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt 
(the treasury management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need (the 
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing. 

Table 9 Current resource in £m 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Debt at 1 April 359.9 332.9 332.8 370.8 416.6 464.0 

Expected change in debt -27.0 0 38.0 45.8 47.3 -12.8 

Expected debt at 31 March 332.9 332.8 370.8 416.6 464.0 451.2 

other long-term liabilities at 
1 April 

172.0 164.9 159.1 152.5 295.1 284.7 

Expected change in OLTL -7.0 -5.9 -6.6 142.6 -10.3 -11.0 

Expected LTL at 31 March 164.9 159.1 152.5 295.1 284.7 273.7 

Expected gross debt at 31 
March 

497.8 491.9 523.4 711.7 748.7 725.0 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

657.8 689.1 753.7 933.6 947.4 915.1 

(Under)/over borrowing -160.0 -197.2 -230.3 -221.9 -198.7 -190.1 

 

5.7.3 The gross debt includes the effect of under borrowing, which is the use of reserves and 
provisions to reduce the amount required to be borrowed externally. As a consequence, the 
capital financing requirement is in excess of the gross debt. By borrowing less externally, the 
council would save on interest and borrowing costs and reduce counterparty risk on 
investments.  

5.7.4 Within the range of prudential indicators there are several key indicators to ensure that the 
Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the Authority 
needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short-term, exceed the total of the 
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2023/24 and the 
following two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes. As 

Page 106



 

13 

the total debt at the end of 2023/24 is forecast to be £523.4m and the forecast CFR is 
£947.43m, this control has been complied with. 

5.7.5 The Chief Finance Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential indicator in 
the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  This view takes account of 
current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in this budget report.   

5.8 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity  

5.8.1 The following borrowing limits are detailed in Appendix B.  

5.9 The Operational Boundary 

5.9.1 This is the monitoring limit which external debt is not normally expected to exceed.  

Table 10 Operational boundary in £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 666.0 651.1 688.5 712.7 672.3 

Other long-term liabilities 189.1 182.5 325.1 314.7 304.7 

Total 855.1 833.7 1,013.6 1,027.4 977.1 

 

5.10 The Authorised Limit 

5.10.1 This prudential indicator represents a control on the absolute maximum level of debt 
allowable. This is a statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government 
Act 2003. It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in 
the short term but is not sustainable in the longer term.  

Table 11 Authorised limit in £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 844.7 787.1 771.7 752.7 712.3 

Other long-term liabilities 219.1 212.5 355.1 344.7 335.7 

Total 1,063.8 999.6 1,126.8 1,097.4 1,048.1 

 

Page 107



 

14 

5.10.2 The Operational Boundary and Authorised limit are detailed in Appendix B. 

5.11 Liability Benchmark 

5.11.1 A third and new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark (LB).  The Authority 
is required to estimate and measure the LB for the forthcoming financial year and the 
following two financial years, as a minimum. 

5.11.2 There are four components to the LB: - 

 Existing loan debt outstanding: the Authority’s existing loans that are still 
outstanding in future years.   

 Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR definition in the 
Prudential Code and projected into the future based on approved prudential 
borrowing and planned MRP.  

 Net loans requirement: this will show the Authority’s gross loan debt less treasury 
management investments at the last financial year-end, projected into the future and 
based on its approved prudential borrowing, planned MRP and any other major 
cash flows forecast.  

 Liability benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net loans requirement 
plus short-term liquidity allowance.  

Table 12 Liability Benchmark 

    

 

Page 108



 

15 

The liability benchmark is the lowest risk level of debt with cash and investment balances kept to a 
minimum level of £40m at each year-end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. If 
the LB is more than existing borrowing it indicates an overborrowed position and if it is less, it 
indicates a need to borrow. 

The difference between the CFR and external borrowing is internal borrowing which is where the 
Council has used its own resources to fund its borrowing requirement. 

The gap between the borrowing portfolio and the liability benchmark indicates a borrowing need as 
it identifies maturities needed for new borrowing to match future liabilities. 

5.12 Prospects for Interest Rates 

5.12.1 The council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of the service is to 
assist the council to formulate a view on interest rates. The following table gives their view in 
December 2022. 

5.12.2 The implications have been factored into the council’s revenue budget projections.  

Table 13 Interest rate forecast 

 

5.12.3 A more detailed view on interest rate forecasts is contained within Appendix C to this report. 

5.12.4 The MPC at December’s meeting raised the Bank Rate by 0.5% to 3.5%. This increase is 
reflected in the above forecast where it is anticipated that there will  be a further 0.75% 
increase in March 2023. Longer term forecasts indicate  another increase during 2023 before 
rates begin to fall during 2024 and 2025, decreasing to 2.5% by the end of 2025. This is with 
the view that the MPC is currently much more heavily focused on combating inflation than on 
protecting economic growth. 

5.12.5 The longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to decrease, albeit 
gently. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional 
levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments 
and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any time during the 
forecast period.  

5.12.6 In addition, PWLB rates are subject to ad hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change the 
margin over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates. In recent years the government have sought 
to use PWLB rates to control the commercial investments undertaken by some councils. 

5.12.7 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. The above forecasts will be liable to further amendment depending on 
how economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next year. 
Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts 

Page 109



 

16 

for average investment earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily 
dependent on economic and political developments.  

5.13 Investment and borrowing rates 

5.13.1 Investment returns are expected to drop back later in 2023. In the short term anticipated 
investment earnings rates for return on investments placed for periods up to three months 
during each financial year are as follows:  

 2023/24  4.40% 

 2024/25 3.30% 

 2025/26 2.60% 

 2026/27  2.80% 

5.13.2 In recent years the council’s strategy has been to utilise cash balances supplemented by 
temporary borrowing when necessary to make interest savings, whilst recognising the need 
to use PWLB borrowing, where appropriate, to finance elements of the capital programme.  

5.13.3 A detailed view of the current economic background is contained within Appendix H to this 

report. 

5.14 Borrowing Strategy 

5.14.1 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the capital 
borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with loan 
debt. Instead, cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as interest costs are reduced and 
counterparty risk on investments is managed.  

5.14.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted 
with the 2023/24 treasury operations. The Chief Finance Officer will monitor interest rates in 
financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: If it was felt 
that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in long and short term rates (e.g. due to a 
marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks of deflation), then long term 
borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short 
term borrowing will be considered. 

5.14.3 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper rise in long and short term 
rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an increase in economic activity or a 
sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, 
fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be 
in the next few years. This would increase the budget required for capital financing costs.  

5.14.4 Any decisions will be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the 
next available opportunity. 

5.15 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need  

5.15.1 The council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 
considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the council 
can ensure the security of such funds. 

5.15.2 In determining whether borrowing will be undertaken in advance of need the council will: 

Page 110



 

17 

 Ensure that there is a clear link between the Capital programme and maturity profile 
of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need to take funding in advance of 
need. 

 Ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the future 
plans and budgets have been considered. 

 Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 
timing of any decision to borrow. 

 Consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding. 

 Consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate periods 
to fund and repayment profiles to use. 

 Consider the impact of borrowing in advance on temporarily increasing investment 
cash balances and the consequent increase in exposure to counterparty risk, and 
other risks, and the level of such risks given the controls in place to minimise them. 

5.16 Debt Rescheduling 

5.16.1 Rescheduling of current borrowing in the council’s debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there 
is still a difference between premature redemption rates and new borrowing rates. 

5.16.2 Although such opportunities are likely to be extremely limited, should any rescheduling be 
undertaken it will be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the 
earliest briefing meeting thereafter. 

5.17 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing 

5.17.1 Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both HRA and Non-
HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be given to borrowing from the 
following sources for the following reasons: 

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities up to 3 years with rates typically 
lower than the Certainty Rate 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also 
some banks, with the option of fixing rates for a loan taken at a set time in the future 
for budget certainty) 

 Municipal Bonds Agency (possibly still a viable alternative depending on market 
circumstances prevailing at the time) 

5.17.2 The degree to which any of these options would be more advantageous than PWLB Certainty 
Rate is  subject to regular review. 

6 Annual Investment Strategy (Treasury Management) 

6.1 Investment policy – management of risk 

6.1.1 The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and CIPFA have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments. This section deals solely with financial investments (as managed by the treasury 
management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding 
assets, are at section 9. 

Page 111



 

18 

6.1.2 The council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2021 (“the Code”)  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021   

6.1.3 In considering investments, the order of the council’s priorities will be security, portfolio 
liquidity and yield (return). 

6.1.4 The above guidance from DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the management of 
risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its  risk 
appetite by the following means: - 

6.1.5 Credit criteria are defined and applied in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy 
counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. 
The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and long-term ratings.  

6.1.6 Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; the council’s advisors 
assist in the assessment of the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and also 
take account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets.  

6.1.7 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other such 
information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust scrutiny 
process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 

6.1.8 The council has defined the types of investment instruments that the treasury management 
team are authorised to use. There are two lists in appendix D under the categories of 

‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.  

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to a 

maturity limit of one year. 

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality or may be for 

periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require 
greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use. 

6.1.9 The council will pursue value for money in treasury management and will monitor the yield 
from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment performance. 
Regular monitoring of investment performance will be undertaken during the year. 

6.1.10 There are two proposed changes in the risk management policy for 2023/24:= 

 increase the Debt Management Office’s maximum investment limit to £30m from 
£15m  

increase the maximum limit that may be invested in UK banks and building societies with a 
minimum credit rating of A/F1/C/3 to £45m from £30m Both of these proposals are assessed 
low risk and ensure greater flexibility in investments. 

 

Page 112



 

19 

6.2 Creditworthiness Policy 

6.2.1 The council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group utilising credit 
ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of Credit Default Swaps 
(CDS) spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate 
the relative creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are used by the council 
to determine the suggested duration for investments. The council will therefore use 
counterparties within the following durational bands:  

 Yellow/dark pink/light pink 5 years 

 Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 

 Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 

 Purple  2 years 

 Blue  1 year (nationalised or semi nationalised UK banks) 

 Orange 1 year 

 Red  6 months 

 Green  100 days 

 No colour not to be used 

6.2.2 All credit ratings will be monitored weekly, and also at the point of each decision to transact 
with any counterparty. The council is alerted to changes to ratings from all three credit rating 
agencies through its use of the Link Group creditworthiness service. 

6.2.3 If a downgrade results in the counterparty or investment scheme no longer meeting the 
council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately. 
Conversely, if a counterparty is upgraded to a level that meets the council’s criteria it will be 
added to the list. 

6.2.4 In addition to the use of credit ratings the council will be advised of movements in other 
market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the council’s lending list. 

6.2.5 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition, the council will 
also use market data and information, details of government support for banks and the credit 
ratings of that government support. The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Finance and Support Services, currently has delegated authority to approve 
investments outside of the above parameters. This will be subject to the counterparties 
satisfying all due diligence with regard to security of the invested sums and the investment 
period being commensurate with the overall Treasury Management Strategy.  

6.3 Country Limits 

6.3.1 The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the UK and 
from countries with a minimum sovereign rating of AA- from any of the three major rating 
agencies.  

6.3.2 Appendix E sets out the countries that currently satisfy these criteria. 

Page 113



 

20 

6.3.3 In addition to approving the above sovereign ratings, members are asked to approve the 
continued use of local authorities and financial counterparties registered in the UK which 
meet the criteria for inclusion on Link Group’s creditworthiness list.  

6.3.4 Consideration is given to group structures to limit risk, for example the Lloyds Banking Group 
is comprised of Lloyds TSB, Halifax, and Bank of Scotland. The limit of funds which may be 
placed in any of those three institutions was originally £15M but the group limit means that it 
may be invested with any one or in combination up to an overall maximum of £15M. 

6.4 Investment Strategy 

6.4.1 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow requirements  of 
the council and the outlook for short term interest rates i.e. rates for investments up to 12 
months. 

6.4.2 The city council currently has no treasury management investments with a duration of more 
than 12 months. 

6.4.3 Bank Rate is forecast to rise from 3.5% currently to 4.0% by the end of the financial year, 
increasing investment earnings from money market-related instruments from the high levels 
in 2022/23. 

6.4.4 Anticipated investment earnings rates for return on investments placed for periods up to three 
months during each financial year are as follows:  

 2023/24  4.40% 

 2024/25 3.30% 

 2025/26 2.60% 

 2026/27  2.80% 

6.4.5 The overall balance of risks to these forecasts is currently towards interest rates rising, but 
this depends on how strong GDP growth turns out and how quickly inflation pressures rise. 

6.4.6 Having regard to the council’s liquidity requirements, the council has set an upper limit for 
investments held beyond 365 days. 

6.4.7 The investment limits are detailed in Appendix D. 

6.5 Investment risk benchmarking 

6.5.1 Investments – internal returns aim to be above the 7 day SONIA rate. 

6.6 End of Year Investment Report 

6.6.1 At the end of the financial year, the council will report on its investment activity as part of its 
Annual Treasury Report. 

6.7 Scheme of Delegation 

6.7.1 Please see Appendix F 

6.8 Role of the S151 Officer 

6.8.1 Please see Appendix G 

Page 114



 

21 

7 Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices 

7.1 In accordance with the Code, it is recommended that the council approves the following 
treasury management policy statement. 

7.2 ‘The policies and objectives of treasury management activities in Salford City Council are 
defined as follows:-  

7.3 Salford City Council defines its treasury management activities as: 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”. 

7.4 Salford City Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be 
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 
measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 
focus on their risk implications for the council. 

7.5 Salford City Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed to 
the principles of achieving best value in treasury management, and to employing suitable 
performance measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.’ 

7.6 Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) set out the manner in which the council will seek to 
achieve its treasury management policies and objectives (as set out in the Treasury 
Management Policy Statement) and how it will manage and control its treasury management 
activities. 

7.7 The Chief Finance Officer has reviewed the council’s treasury management practices 
(TMPs). They are detailed in Appendix I. 

8 Annual Investment Strategy (Non-Treasury Investments- Loans And Non-Financial 
Investments) 

8.1 Commitments 

8.1.1 Underlying the council’s 2023/24 capital programme is an assumption of approximately 
£55.628m (including reprofiled schemes from 2022/23) of capital expenditure to be funded 
by unsupported borrowing. Other schemes are approved as part of the capital programme 
on the basis that they are invest-to-save or self-financing. In addition, the council has made 
loans to third parties and has entered leases. The sum of self-financing/invest to save 
(2016/17 to 2022/23), lease principal and loan commitments is £371m.  

8.1.2 Whilst each invest to save or self-financing scheme would be supported by a business case, 
these commitments are long term in nature and the risks that relate to them include failure to 
generate anticipated income or savings – all of which has a potential impact upon the revenue 
account. Similarly, if the loans to third parties are not repaid there will be additional pressure 
on the revenue budget. The council has a number of reserves and provision (£60m) 

Page 115



 

22 

associated with these non-treasury investments which could be used to mitigate pressures 
on the revenue budget. 

8.2 Liquidity 

8.2.1 These commitments are relatively illiquid, so any financial pressures associated with 
underperformance will need to be managed through the use of associated reserves, 
provisions and the revenue budget. 

8.3 Loans 

8.3.1 The council has 2 types of loans on its balance sheet, those originally forming part of the 
capital programme and other loans. The council is required to set limits for the types of loans 
it will make. 

Table 14 Loans in £m 

  Current 
position 

Maximum 
position 

Capital 64.0 200.0 

Non-capital  14.7 24.0 

Total 78.7 224.0 

 

8.3.2 The limit for non-capital loans is lower as, if these loans are not repaid, they represent a 
charge to the general fund. The maximum position is set as the forecast value of the 
earmarked reserves relating to loans and general fund balances for that year. 

8.3.3 The limit for capital loans is higher as the charge to the revenue account on these loans, if 
they were not repaid, would be the MRP due over the remaining useful asset life of the asset 
the loan was initially provided for.  

8.4 Proportionality 

8.4.1 The council is required to set a limit that cannot be exceeded for gross debt compared to the 
net budget. The limit for gross debt to net budget has been set as a multiplier of 5. The 
forecast for this measure over the coming years is shown below. At this level of debt around 
37% of the council’s budget would be paying for MRP and interest, this is considered to be 
the maximum that could be sustained (assumes flat rate MRP over 25 years). 

Table 15 Net budget to gross debt. 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

net budget £m 175.6 206.6 236.1 253.2 250.7 255.8 

limit for gross debt to revenue 

budget at x5 

878.2 1,032.8 1,180.3 1,266.0 1,253.3 1,279.2 

Gross Debt  497.8 491.9 523.4 711.7 748.7 725.0 

(Under)/over borrowing (160.0) (197.2) (230.3) (221.9) (198.7) (190.1) 

Gross debt without under/over 
borrowing 

657.8 689.1 753.7 933.6 947.4 915.1 

 
 

Page 116



 

23 

Table 16 Capital financing budget to net budget £m 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Capital financing budget (before 
effects of PFI and leases) 

44.0 41.4 47.1 51.7 56.4 57.9 

net budget £m 175.6 206.6 236.1 253.2 250.7 255.8 

Capital financing to net budget 
ratio 

0.25 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.22 0.23 

 

8.4.2 Capital financing is forecast to increase as a proportion of the revenue budget from 20% of 
the net budget to 23% by 25/26. This increase is primarily driven by the additional borrowing 
in the forecast capital spend. 

8.5 Recognising Expected losses  

8.5.1 The council’s statement of account is prepared under IFRS 9. IFRS 9 uses an “expected 
credit loss model” for all financial instruments that are subject to impairment accounting. It 
requires that the council shall recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on an 
asset that is measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. 
IFRS 9 will be applied to the council’s financial assets which would include loans.  

8.6 Non-financial assets 

8.6.1 The council has the following types of non-financial asset on its balance sheet at the 
31/03/2022: 

Table 17 Non-financial assets in £m 

Asset   

Land at the airport 10.385 

Telecom equipment 0.316 

Other land 6.171 

Total 16.873 

 

8.6.2 As the land, land at the airport and the telecom equipment are made up of numerous smaller 
plots these are not considered to be material and are not referred to further in this report. 

8.7 Net Income from Commercial and Service Investment Income to net budget  

8.7.1 This is a new prudential indicator required for the net income from commercial and service 
investments as a proportion of the net revenue stream. It shows the financial exposure of the 
Council to the loss of its non-treasury investment income. 

8.7.2 The higher the ratio, the more reliant the Council is on income from commercial and service 
investments which represents a potential affordability risk should those investments perform 
badly or fail. 

Page 117



 

24 

Table 18 Net income from Commercial and Service investment income to net budget 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Net income from commercial and service 
investment 

2.2 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 

net budget £m 175.6 206.6 236.1 253.2 250.7 255.8 

Capital financing to net budget Ratio 0.013 0.004 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 

 

9 Recommendations 

9.1 Members are asked to approve the strategy for 2023/24 including: 

 The Treasury Management Strategy 

 Annual Investment Strategy and specifically: 

 Approve the policy for the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision  

 Approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices 

 

  

 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:    Budget Strategy, Treasury Management Policy  

 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:    N/A 

 

 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:     The monitoring and control of risk underpins treasury management 

activities. The main risks are of adverse or unforeseen fluctuations in interest rates and loss of 
Capital. Risk control measures mitigate these risks. 

 

 

 

Page 118



 

25 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor  Tel. 219 6323 

The Treasury Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Annual Investment 
Strategy set out the Council's policies for managing its investments which includes giving priority to 
security and liquidity. It is effectively the management of the Council’s  cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations require the Council to “have 
regard” to “such guidance as the Secretary of State (for the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC)) may issue, namely the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code and to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable.   

The Act therefore requires the Council to set out its Treasury Management Strategy at the start of 
each new financial year and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by Investment 
Guidance subsequent to the Act and referred to at section 6 of this report); this sets out the Council’s 
policies for maintaining capital security whilst managing its investments and for giving priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments to enable it to carry out its business. The borrowing 
strategy (at section 6 of the report) aims to minimise the revenue cost of debt whilst securing the 
Council from revenue pressures in the event of interest rate volatility. 

One revenue consequence of borrowing is the statutory requirement to set aside an amount for 
repayment of debt, known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), which is an annual revenue 
expense in the Council’s budget. Regulations require the authority to determine annually a principle 
by which MRP will be determined. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    Tony Thompstone (Strategic Finance Manager) 

      May Sung (Finance Manager) 

There is revenue budget provision for all TMSS related expenditure and there are no additional 
financial commitments resulting from this report. 

 

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    Emma Heyes 

There are no procurement implications arising from this report 

 

 

 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    Steve Hulme Strategic HR & OD Manger 

 

There are no direct employee relations matters arising from this report. The Leading Salford 
leadership development programme includes the Management Essentials programme for newly 

Page 119



 

26 

appointed managers which includes a financial management module to ensure that all managers 
and officers are aware of the financial regulations and their responsibilities, in addition further 
training is being delivered to existing managers to enhance their financial skills.  

 

 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Michael Hemingway, Principal Officer 
Climate Change 

 

When we make investments, they fully support the ethos of socially responsible investments. And 
therefore, where consistent with our fiduciary responsibilities, we will avoid direct investment in 
institutions with material links to environmentally harmful activities including fossil fuels. 

 

 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:    N/A 

 

 

CONTACT OFFICER:  Tony Thompstone  TEL NO:    0161 793 2016 

May Sung   TEL NO:    0161 793 2851 

 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:    N/A      

  

Page 120



 

27 

APPENDIX A Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is an annual charge to the income and expenditure account to 
provide for the repayment of debt incurred as a result of financing Capital expenditure. Local 
authorities are required to make this charge by regulations issued under statute by central 
government (Local Government Act 2003). 

The council will determine MRP in accordance with the following policy: 

For the historic debt liability up to 31 March 2008, or subsequent supported Capital expenditure, as 
with previous years, we will adopt option 1 of The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, which allows for MRP to be charged at the 
rate of 4% of the reducing debt balance, with an adjustment to align the charge to the amount 
provided in the previous year, where that is greater. 

For unsupported Capital expenditure, MRP will be charged over a period which is reasonably 
commensurate with the estimated useful life applicable to the nature of expenditure, using the 
annuity method, in accordance with option 3 of the above regulation.  

Estimated life periods will be determined by the Chief Finance Officer. To the extent that 
expenditure is not on the creation of an asset and is of a type that is subject to estimated life 
periods that are referred to in the guidance, these periods will generally be adopted by the council. 
However, the council reserves the right to determine useful life periods and prudent MRP in 
exceptional circumstances where the recommendations of the guidance would not be appropriate. 

As some types of Capital expenditure incurred by the council are not capable of being related to an 
individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a basis which most reasonably reflects the 
anticipated period of benefit that arises from the expenditure. Also, whatever type of expenditure is 
involved, it will be grouped together in a manner which reflects the nature of the main component 
of expenditure and will only be divided up in cases where there are two or more components with 
substantially different useful economic lives.  

There is no requirement on the Housing Revenue Account to make a minimum revenue provision 
but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made. 

Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP. 

Where there is an underspend on the treasury management budget consideration will be given to 
applying this as additional MRP in the year, following consultation with the Lead member for 
Finance and support services. 

 

 

Page 121



 

28 

APPENDIX B Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

Table 19 Prudential indicators £m 

 
2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

Capital Expenditure 82.6 111.6 161.1 95.4 84.9 20.0 

Capital financing 
requirement (CFR) 

657.8 689.1 753.7 933.6 947.4 915.1 

Gross debt 497.8 491.9 523.4 711.7 748.7 725.0 

Annual Change in 
CFR 

            

Capital expenditure 
needing financing 

28.8 63.9 106.0 
 

232.7 63.2 20.0 

Debt repayment 
provision MRP 

-44.0 -32.6 -41.4 -52.7 -49.3 -52.4 

Total change -15.2 31.3 64.5 180.0 13.8 -32.4 

 

Table 20 The Operational Boundary £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 666.0 651.1 688.5 712.7 672.3 

Other long-term liabilities 189.1 182.5 325.1 314.7 304.7 

Operational boundary total 855.1 833.7 1,013.6 1,027.4 977.1 

 

Table 21 The Authorised Limit £m 

Treasury Indicators 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Borrowing 844.7 787.1 771.7 752.7 712.3 

Other long-term liabilities 219.1 212.5 355.1 344.7 335.7 

Authorised limit total 1,063.8 999.6 1,126.8 1,097.4 1,048.1 

 

Table 22 Upper limit for investments beyond 365 days in £m 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Upper limit for investments 
beyond 365 days 

40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 

 

Table 23 Graph of capital financing requirement, total debt, operational boundary and 
the authorised limit over time in £m 

  

Page 122



 

29 

  

 

Table 24 Maturity structure of borrowing for all years 

          Estimated 
position 

at year 
end 

Maturity structure for fixed rate borrowing   Upper 
Limit 

Lower 
Limit 

% £m 

Under 12 months   75% 0% 35% 181.9 

12 and within 24 months   50% 0% 6% 33.2 

24 months and within 5 years   50% 0% 15% 79.6 

5 years and within 10 years   50% 0% 8% 42.1 

10 years and above   100% 25% 36% 186.6 

            

Maturity structure for variable rate borrowing   Upper 

Limit 

Lower 

Limit 

% £M 

Under 12 months   10% 0% 0% 0.0 

12 and within 24 months   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

24 months and within 5 years   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

5 years and within 10 years   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

10 years and above   0% 0% 0% 0.0 

 
These indicators should be considered together. Whilst all the councils borrowing is fixed, the 
amount due to mature in the next 12 months looks high at £184.2m, this is partly explained because 
the figure includes £137m of LOBO loans that are callable in 2023/24, it is unlikely that LOBO loans 
will be called over the next few years as the LOBO interest rates already exceed current market 
rates and the option to change lies with the banks. The forecast £38.0m of temporary borrowing due 
for renewal within 12 months; is in-line with the council’s current strategy. 
 
For exceptional reasons only, such as a large-scale voluntary transfer of assets, the indicators may 
be temporarily flexed to allow repayment and rescheduling of borrowing. 
  

Page 123



 

30 

APPENDIX C Interest Rate Forecasts – provided by Link Treasury Services 

 

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to assist 
the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided the following forecasts on 19.12.22.   

In the upcoming months, their forecasts will be guided not only by economic data releases and 
clarifications from the MPC over its monetary policies and the Government over its fiscal policies. 

PWLB RATES 

Yield curve movements have become less volatile. PWLB 5 to 50 years Certainty Rates are, 
generally, in the range of 3.75% to 4.50%. The medium to longer part of the yield curve is currently 
inverted (yields are lower at the longer end of the yield curve compared to the short to medium end). 

 

The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is to the downside. 

 
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

 

 Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress economic 
activity. 

 

 The Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next two years to raise Bank Rate 

and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently 
anticipate.  

 

 UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial 
services due to complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining 
issues.  

 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, China/Taiwan/US, Iran, North Korea and 

Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows.  

 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

 

Page 124



 

31 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 
therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly and for a longer period within 
the UK economy, which then necessitates an even more rapid series of increases in Bank 
Rate faster than we currently expect.  

 

 The Government acts too slowly to increase taxes and/or cut expenditure to balance the 

public finances, in the light of the cost-of-living squeeze. 

 

 The pound weakens because of a lack of confidence in the UK Government’s fiscal policies, 

resulting in investors pricing in a risk premium for holding UK sovereign debt. 

 

 Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly, if inflation numbers disappoint on the upside, 

and pull gilt yields up higher than currently forecast. 

Page 125



32 

 

APPENDIX D Credit and Counterparty Risk Management Specified and Non-specified 
Investments 

Specified Investments 

Specified investments will be sterling denominated and fulfil the following criteria were 
judged by treasury officers to be appropriate having regard to the security of the principal 
sum invested and advice taken from Link Asset Services, as described in paragraph 6.1.8. 

 

Sector Maximum investment Maximum period 

UK Banks £15m 364 days 

UK Building Societies £15m 364 days 

European banks £15m 364 days 

Money-Market Funds; 
CNAV, LVNAV, VNAV 

£15m Callable 

Local Authorities £15m 364 days 

Debt Management Office £30m 364 days 

 

The aim is to have callable investments of £40m in order to manage the council’s liquidity.  

In accordance with the guidance, all local authorities and the Government’s Debt 
Management Office will count as specified investments, even though local authorities may 
not carry a formal rating.  

 

Non-Specified Investments  

Non-specified investments are any investments which do not meet the Specified Investments 
criteria. They must be with counterparties rated at least A by Fitch or equivalent, and include 
products such as callable deposits, range accruals, UK government gilts, Treasury Bills , 
Certificates of Deposit (CDs). Although not included in the lists issued by the credit rating 
agencies, approval to invest in property funds was given by members as part of the TM mid-
year update 2015/16 presented to council on 18 November 2015. 

The main reasons for making a non-specified investment would be: 

 Yield: in a circumstance where advantageous interest rates could be secured at a 

negligible risk; 

 Practicalities: for example, a counterparty’s rating does not satisfy the minima set 

out above, but may be the only available option for late deals should, for example, 
the council receive funding late in the day and unannounced. In such cases, 
balances will be held overnight only. 

The main types of institutions that the council may wish to deal with for the reasons outlined 
above are UK and Irish clearing banks. However, currently the Irish Republic is not AA- rated 
so no investments will be made with Irish banks unless the AA- rating is restored. 

In the event that treasury officers consider an investment outside of these parameters, then 
advice will be taken from Link Groups, the council’s treasury management consultants. Any 
such decision will be made by the Chief Finance Officer and reported to the Lead Member 
for Finance and Support Services.  

Page 126



33 

 

Investment strategy: in-house funds 

Investments will be made with reference to the core balance, cash flow requirements and the 
outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months).  

For its cash flow generated balances, the council will seek to utilise its business reserve 
accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (1-3 months) in order to benefit 
from the compounding of interest.  

Investment strategy: managed funds 

The council no longer uses external fund managers to manage any part of its investments, 
but will keep under review whether conditions become favourable to use them. 

Socially responsible investments 

Salford City Council, in making investments through its treasury management function, fully 
supports the ethos of socially responsible investments. Salford City Council will therefore, 
where consistent with its fiduciary responsibilities, avoid direct investment in institutions with 
material links to environmentally harmful activities including fossil fuels. 

Page 127



34 

 

APPENDIX E Approved Countries for Investments   

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (we show the 
lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of writing - for Hong Kong, 
Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit ratings of 
green or above in the Link credit worthiness service. 

Based on lowest available rating 

AAA 

Australia 

Denmark 

Germany 

Luxembourg 

Netherlands  

Norway 

Singapore 

Sweden 

Switzerland 

AA+ 

Canada    

Finland 

U.S.A. 

AA 

Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

France 

AA- 

Belgium 

Qatar 

U.K. 

This list is as at 2.12.22 

Page 128



35 

 

APPENDIX F Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

Council 

• Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and activities 

• Approval of the annual strategy. 

• Approval of/amendments to the council’s adopted clauses and treasury management policy 
statement 

• Receiving and reviewing the mid-year update report 

• Receiving and reviewing the outturn report 

• Budget consideration and approval 

 Overview and Scrutiny Board 

• Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making recommendations 

• Receiving and reviewing the quarterly reports and making recommendations 

Lead Member for Finance and Support Services     

• Receiving and reviewing the mid-year update report 

• Receiving and reviewing the outturn report 

• Receiving and reviewing the quarterly reports 

 

Chief Finance Officer    

 Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the council. 

 Adopting the treasury management policy and procedures in day-to-day treasury 
management transactions. 

Page 129



36 

 

APPENDIX G The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer  

The S151 Officer 

• recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 
same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

• submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

• submitting budgets and budget variations; 

• receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

• reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

• ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective division 
of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

• ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

• recommending the appointment of external service providers.  

• preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-financial 
investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe  

• ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long 
term and provides value for money 

• ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial investments 
and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

• ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing 

• ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a level 
of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its financial 
resources 

• ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long-term liabilities 

• provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees  

• ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken on 
by an authority 

• ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, to 
carry out the above 

• creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury 
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following - 

o Risk management (TMP1), including investment and risk management criteria for 
any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2), including methodology and 
criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury investments  

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5), including a statement of the 
governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury 
investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 
diligence is carried out to support decision making; 

o Reporting and management information (TMP6), including where and how often 
monitoring reports are taken; 

Page 130



37 

 

o Training and qualifications (TMP10), including how the relevant knowledge and 
skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

  

Page 131



38 

 

APPENDIX H Economic Background – provided by Link Treasury Services 

Against a backdrop of inflationary pressures, the easing of Covid restrictions in most developed 
economies, the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and movement within UK Government policies, UK 
interest rates have been volatile across the curve, from Bank Rate through to 50-year gilt yields, for 
all of 2022. 

 

 UK Eurozone US 

Bank Rate 3.0% 1.5% 3.75%-4.00% 

GDP -0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.4%y/y) 

+0.2%q/q Q3 
(2.1%y/y) 

2.6% Q3 Annualised 

Inflation 11.1%y/y (Oct) 10.0%y/y (Nov) 7.7%y/y (Oct) 

Unemployment 
Rate 

3.6% (Sep) 6.6% (Sep) 3.7% (Aug) 

 

In the table below, the rise in gilt yields, and therein PWLB rates, through the first half of 2022/23 is 
clear to see. 

 

However, the peak in rates on 28th September as illustrated in the table covering April to September 
2022 below, has been followed by the whole curve shifting ever lower.   PWLB rates at the front end 
of the curve are generally over 1% lower now whilst the 50 years is over 1.75% lower.  

 

 
 

1.40%

1.80%

2.20%

2.60%

3.00%

3.40%

3.80%

4.20%

4.60%

5.00%

5.40%

5.80%

PWLB Rates 1.4.22 - 30.9.22

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year target %

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25%

Date 01/04/2022 13/05/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022

High 5.11% 5.44% 5.35% 5.80% 5.51%

Date 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 28/09/2022

Average 2.81% 2.92% 3.13% 3.44% 3.17%

Spread 3.16% 3.26% 2.99% 3.28% 3.26%

Page 132



39 

 

APPENDIX I - TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES  

Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) set out the manner in which Salford City Council (the 
Council) will seek to achieve its treasury management policies and objectives (as set out in the 
Treasury Management Policy Statement) and how it will manage and control its treasury 
management activities. 

This council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for financial 
return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment management. 
Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in subsidiaries, and 
investment property portfolios.  

This council will ensure that all the organisation’s investments are covered in the capital strategy, 
investment strategy or equivalent, and will set out, where relevant, the organisation’s risk appetite 
and specific policies and arrangements for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the 
risk appetite for these activities may differ from that for treasury management.  

Page 133



40 

 

TMP1 - RISK MANAGEMENT 

1 LIQUIDITY 

Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments 

The balance sheet cash figure includes credit bank balances, bank balances overdrawn and 
short-term callable investments.  

In daily dealings the Treasury Manager will attempt to ensure that the expected net bank 
balance for the day remains between 0 and £200,000cr. Overdraft arrangements, if required, 
are set out in 1.2b below. There is no approved minimum amount for short-term investments, 
which may therefore be nil, but in order to maintain liquidity a balance of £40m in callable 
investments is targeted. 

Cash-in-transit and sums held in delegated schools’ bank accounts are also included in the 
Council’s balance sheet as ‘cash’, but these do not contribute to treasury management daily 
dealing procedures and decisions. These sums are outside of central control and there is no 
approved minimum balance. 

Details of: 

 Standby facilities 

In an emergency, an extension to the bank overdraft facilities outlined in b below may be 
arranged with Barclays Bank plc. Apart from that, the provisions outlined in 1.1 above, and 
b to e below, are considered to be sufficient. 

 Bank overdraft arrangements 

Net: £0.5m (the aggregate of all balances on the main pooled accounts). 

Gross: no limit (the aggregate of debit balances on the main pooled accounts). 

 Short-term borrowing facilities 

Use is made of short term funds on the money market.  

 Insurance/guarantee facilities 

See paragraph 8.3. 

 Other contingency arrangements. 

The Treasury Manager shall make use of borrowing and lending facilities to ensure that the 
Council has sufficient, but not excessive, cash resources. 

 

2 INTEREST RATE 

Details of approved interest rate exposure limits 

The Council has no control over interest rates and no set minimum or maximum allowable in 
its dealings. However, the Treasury Manager will take advice from its treasury management 
consultants and senior managers if necessary, particularly for long-term borrowing, and 
make a judgement on the most appropriate timing of borrowing and lending to ensure that 
the most favourable rates are achieved, while having regard to service needs, cash flow and 
maturity profiles. 

Page 134



41 

 

Trigger points and other guidelines for managing changes to interest rate levels 

See 2.1 

Minimum/maximum proportions of variable rate debt  

In accordance with CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management as adopted by the 
Council on 20th March 2002, before each financial year the Council shall set a limit on the 
maximum proportion of borrowing which is subject to variable rate interest. The limit set shall 
not exceed 10%, set by Council in February 2018.  

In preparing the maturity structure PIs lender option borrower option (LOBOs) have been 
treated as fixed borrowing with a maturity date as the next call date. When setting the 
previous limit for variable rate borrowing, the year with the most callable LOBOs in was used 
to determine the percentage of loans that were variable. 

The current maximum proportion is 10%.  The minimum is 0%. 

Minimum/maximum proportions of fixed rate debt/interest  

This is the converse of 2.3. The minimum proportion of borrowing which is subject to fixed 
rate interest is 90%.  The maximum is 100%. 

Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives and other instruments for interest rate 
management. 

 Forward dealing - At the discretion of the Treasury Manager, if it secures 
advantageous rates, and having consideration to cash flow and security of 
investment. 

 Callable deposits (fixed investments for up to 5 years at borrower’s option) 

 LOBOs (borrowing under lender’s option/borrower’s option) 

While providing the potential for a favourable return, LOBO loans are considered to 
exacerbate exposure to interest rate risk and to lessen the Council’s control of its portfolio. 
Treasury officers shall not borrow under LOBO agreements without obtaining approval from 
the S151 Officer (in consultation with the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services). 

3 EXCHANGE RATE 

Details of approved exchange rate exposure limits for cash investments/debt  

Not applicable to local authorities. 

Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives for exchange rate risk management  

Not applicable to local authorities. 

Approved criteria for managing changes in exchange rate levels 

 As a result of the nature of the Council’s business, there may be an exposure to 
exchange rate risk from time to time. This will mainly arise from the receipt of 
income or the incurring of expenditure in a currency other than sterling. Where 
material, the Council will adopt a full hedging strategy to control and add certainty to 
the sterling value of these transactions. This will mean that the Council will eliminate 
all foreign exchange exposures as soon as they are identified.  

 Where there is a contractual obligation to receive income or make a payment in a 
currency other than sterling at a date in the future, forward foreign exchange 

Page 135



42 

 

transactions will be considered, with professional advice, to comply with this full-
cover hedging policy. Unexpected receipt of foreign currency income will be 
converted to sterling at the earliest appropriate opportunity. 

4 INFLATION  

Details of approved inflation exposure limits for cash investments/debt During the prior 
period of low and stable worldwide inflation there is little requirement for an active 
consideration of the impact of inflation.  

In the post-pandemic period, inflation has increased significantly with the Bank of England’s 
Monetary Policy Committee indicating that further rate increases are highly likely,  

The key consideration is that investments reap the highest real rate of return, with debt 
costing the lowest real cost, consistent with other risks mentioned within this section. 

Approved criteria for managing changes in inflation levels  

Inflation, both current and projected, will form part of the debt and investment decision-
making criteria both within the strategy and operational considerations. 

Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives for inflation risk management  

Not applicable to local authorities. 

5 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY POLICIES 

Criteria to be used for creating/ managing approved counterparty lists/limits  

 There is no risk to the Council regarding sums which it has borrowed and 
accordingly the policy is that monies can be borrowed from any counterparty. 

 The security of any Capital sums which are available for investment is of paramount 
importance and is the overriding issue whenever investments are made. 

 The S151 Officer will formulate criteria for assessing and monitoring the credit risk 
of investment counterparties and will determine time, type, sector and specific 
counterparty limits. The criteria/limits are outlined at d - l below. 

 Guidance on Local Authority Investments issued by the Secretary of State under 
Section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 distinguishes between Specified 
and Non-specified investments. Specified investments are those that offer high 
security and high liquidity in sterling for no more than one year. They include 
investments with central or local government or in a body with a “high credit rating”. 
Non-specified investments have a higher potential risk. 

 The Council’s treasury management advisors, Link, provide information on a regular 
basis regarding creditworthiness of potential counterparties. This information 
includes the credit ratings ascribed by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s 
together with a further measure based on the traded price of credit default swaps in 
the financial markets. A credit default swap is, in essence, an insurance against the 
counterparty defaulting on a deal. The price of credit default swap is used as an 
indicator of the market sentiment towards an individual institution’s likelihood of 
defaulting on a deal.  

Link use the credit rating and credit default swap information to construct a matrix and assign 
a colour code to indicate the relative credit worthiness of institutions which have varying 
ratings. The colour code relates to the suggested maximum period for which monies should 
be invested with a counterparty.  

Page 136



43 

 

 Minimum requirements for Specified investments are as follows: 

 

 Fitch 

Rating  

Fitch  

Ratin
g 

Fitch 

Rating 

Fitch 

Rating 

Maximum  

Investment 

Maximum  

Period 

Sovereign – 
European Union and 
Scandanavia 

AA-      

Sovereign – rest of 
the world  

AAA      

UK Clearing Banks A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days 

UK Building 
Societies 

A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days 

European Banks A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days 

Money Market 
Funds; CNAV, 
LVNAV, VNAV 

AAA    £15m 3 months 

Local Authorities : n/a n/a n/a n/a £15m 364 days 

Debt Management 
Office 

n/a n/a n/a n/a £30m 364 days 

 

In accordance with the guidance all local authorities and the Debt Management Office count 
as specified investments even though they do not carry a formal rating. 

 Non-specified investments are those which are not in sterling or of greater than 365 
days duration or not satisfying the creditworthiness criteria above. Non specified 
investments will be made in compliance with the following guidelines.  

I. The investment will be in sterling. 

II. The duration will be less than 365 days unless approved by the S151 Officer. 

III. The sovereign rating of the country in which the institution is domiciled must be AA- if within 
the European Union or Scandanavia or AAA if elsewhere.  

IV. Up to £15M in aggregate at any time may be invested for periods up to 364 days with the 
Council’s bank, Barclays Bank plc. 

V. In addition, up to £45M in aggregate at any time may be invested in UK banks and building 
societies with a minimum credit rating of A/F1/C/3. No more than £15M at any time may be 
invested in any one such institution. Any such investment should secure an additional 
interest yield when compared with the best available specified investment. 

VI. Investments of up to £5M for up to 6 months may be invested in Irish banks or building 
societies with a minimum credit rating of A/F1/C/3 subject to the sovereign rating. Again, 

Page 137



44 

 

any such investment should secure an additional interest yield when compared with the 
best available specified investment. 

VII. No more than 20% of investments shall be with any one organisation. 

VIII. No more than half of the total investment limit for an individual institution shall be invested 
for more than 6 months. 

IX. The total investment in institutions within a trading group shall be limited to £15M. 

X. Where the Council contracts with an external cash fund manager, the contract shall include 
an investment policy statement approved by the S151 Officer. This will take into 
consideration the Council’s own policies, flexibilities to be allowed the fund manager, and 
the advice of the Council’s treasury management consultants. 

Approved methodology for changing limits and adding / removing counterparties 

Credit ratings for individual counterparties can change at any time. The Treasury Manager 
will adjust the counterparty list as appropriate when there is a change in the credit ratings of 
individual counterparties or in banking structures e.g. on mergers or takeovers.  

The S151 Officer may, from time to time, amend the limits in section 5 above, taking into 
account advice from the Treasury Manager. The Treasury Manager shall on such an 
occasion update the counterparty list. 

 

6 Policy on environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations 

This Council is supportive of the Principles for Responsible Investment (www.unpri.org) and 
will seek to bring ESG (environmental, social and governance) factors into the decision-
making process for investments. Within this, the Council is also appreciative of the Statement 
on ESG in Credit Risk and Ratings which commits signatories to incorporating ESG into 
credit ratings and analysis in a systemic and transparent way. The Council uses ratings from 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s to support its assessment of suitable counterparties. 
Each of these rating agencies is a signatory to the ESG in credit risk and ratings statement, 
which is as follows:   

“We, the undersigned, recognise that environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors 
can affect borrowers’ cash flows and the likelihood that they will default on their debt 
obligations. ESG factors are therefore important elements in assessing the creditworthiness 
of borrowers. For corporates, concerns such as stranded assets linked to climate change, 
labour relations challenges or lack of transparency around accounting practices can cause 
unexpected losses, expenditure, inefficiencies, litigation, regulatory pressure and 
reputational impacts. 

For short term investments with counterparties, this Council utilises the ratings provided by 
Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s to assess creditworthiness, which do include analysis  
of ESG factors when assigning ratings. The Council will continue to evaluate additional ESG-
related metrics and assessment processes that it could incorporate into its investment 
process and will update accordingly. 

7 REFINANCING 

Debt/other Capital financing maturity profiling, policies and practices 

As a general principle, treasury management officers should seek to ensure an ‘even’ 
maturity profile, particularly in the short to medium term. However, the Treasury Manager 

Page 138



45 

 

shall determine actual borrowing, having regard to the Council’s funding needs, current 
borrowing strategy and achievable interest rates. 

The Treasury Manager shall bear in mind the opportunity for rescheduling of debt, having 
regard to the potential interest savings and risk, the maturity profile, and taking advice from 
the Council’s treasury management advisers. 

The approval of the S151 Officer is required for any debt rescheduling, which shall be 
reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the meeting following its 
action. 

Projected Capital investment requirements 

The Treasury Manager shall liaise with Capital Accountants and have regard to the Capital 
financing requirement arising from the Capital programme in making subsequent borrowing 
and lending decisions. 

Policy concerning limits on revenue consequences of Capital financing. 

Treasury management staff shall have full regard to the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities.  

8 LEGAL AND REGULATORY 

References to relevant statutes and regulations 

Officers and members involved in treasury management shall have regard to: 

 The CIPFA Code of Practice ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services’, of 
which TMPs form an important part; 

 The ‘Non-Investment Products Code;  

 Overarching primary and secondary legislation such as the Local Government Act 
2003. 

 The CIPFA Standards of Professional Practice. 

 The UK Money Markets Code 

Procedures for evidencing the organisation’s powers/authorities to counterparties 

As a local authority, the Council’s powers to borrow and lend are widely known by 
counterparties, and it is not necessary to have specific procedures to evidence them.  

Where he/she considers it to be appropriate, at the request of a counterparty, the Treasury 
Manager will sign documentation class ifying the Council as a ‘Professional Client’. 

Required information from counterparties concerning their powers/authorities 

Those organisations which meet the criteria set out in 1.5.1 will, by definition, have powers to 
borrow from the Council.  

The regulatory risk is not relevant in the case of the Council borrowing monies (the risk is 
with the lender) however treasury management officers shall have regard to TMP9 Money 
Laundering. 

Statement on the organisation’s political risks and management of same. 

The risk of a change in Council policy sufficient to have a significant impact on the treasury 
management function is considered to be negligible. 

Page 139



46 

 

 

9 FRAUD, ERROR AND CORRUPTION AND CONTINGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Details of systems and procedures to be followed, including internet services 

To reduce the risk of fraud in its dealing with other bodies, treasury management officers 
shall deal only with certain corporations and public bodies, and through recognised brokers, 
each regulated by legislation and code. Details are found in section 5 and in TMP9 Money 
Laundering. 

All treasury management activities include requirements for checking and authorisation, and 
adhere to the principle of division of duties. Details can be found in TMP4 Approved 
Instruments, Methods and Techniques and TMP5 Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of 
Responsibilities, and Dealing Arrangements. 

Likewise Barclays.net, the Council’s on-line banking and dealing system, is subject to 
comprehensive password and authorisation controls. 

Recruitment procedures ensure that the integrity of treasury management staff is of the 
highest level.  

Treasury management shall be conducted via internet dealing including the use of the ICD 
Portal to place or draw down funds with approved City Council counter parties. In the event 
of a change in this policy (to be authorised by the S151 Officer), the risk will be assessed 
and appropriate procedures developed. 

Emergency and contingency planning arrangements 

Arrangements for staff cover are set out in TMP5 Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of 
Responsibilities, and Dealing Arrangements. 

In the event of failure of the Barclays.net system, treasury management officers shall contact 
the relevant department at Barclays Bank for assistance. These also include requirements 
for checking and authorisation, and adhere to the principle of division of duties. 

Insurance cover details. 

The Council’s insurance is arranged by Insurance Officers of the Risk Management Section. 

Fidelity Guarantee insurance with AIG cover the Council’s legal liability to pay compensation 
through the fraud or corruption of its employees to the sum of £5m, subject to an excess of 
£100,000. 

Officials Indemnity insurance through AIG covers the Council’s legal liability to pay 
compensation to third parties caused by the error of Council officers to the sum of £5m, 
subject to an excess of £250,000. 

10 MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS 

Details of approved procedures and limits for controlling exposure to investments whose 
Capital value may fluctuate (gilts, CDs, etc) 

Treasury management officers shall not invest in instruments whose Capital value may 
fluctuate with the exception of property funds as approved by Council on 18 November 2015. 
In the event of a change in this policy (to be authorised by the S151 Officer), the risk will be 
assessed and appropriate procedures developed. 

Where external fund managers invest on behalf of the Council, they shall be required to 
submit an annual strategy which includes plans and procedures for dealing with this kind of 
instrument. This strategy shall be submitted to the S151 Officer who will take into 
consideration advice from the Council’s treasury management advisors. 

Page 140



47 

 

 

11 Non-Treasury risk management 

For non-treasury investments the council should be clear as to what powers have been used 
for each non-treasury investment. The council should record, normally in the report 
approving the investment: -  

 

 Date investment made 

 Cost 

 Expected income 

 Approval by which committee / full council / officer (if using delegated authority) 

 Legal power used 

 Purpose e.g. income generation 

 Service (where relevant) 

 The extent to which the capital invested is placed at risk 

 The impact of any potential losses on the financial sustainability of the organisation 

 Dates for periodic review to take account of changes in market and other conditions. 

 Title of posts outside of the treasury management team who are responsible for 
each non treasury investment and periodic monitoring 

 

Page 141



48 

 

TMP2 - PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

1 Annual Review 

Treasury management officers shall prepare for Overview and Scrutiny Board and Council 
an annual report on treasury management activities, as set out in TMP6. 

Achievement of the investment interest earned budget will be measured as part of the 
budget monitoring process. 

2 POLICY CONCERNING METHODS FOR TESTING BEST VALUE IN TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT 

Frequency and processes for tendering 

Treasury management tenders will follow standard Council practice as set down in Standing 
Orders and Financial Regulations and, where appropriate, OJEU procedures. 

Banking services 

The Chief Finance Officer will negotiate a contract for banking services that balances a level 
of service provision with a competitive pricing structure to ensure best value. The contract 
may contain break clauses and is to be capable of re-tendering and/or renegotiation at 
suitable intervals in order to preserve the best interests of the Council. 

The current contract, with Barclays Bank plc, is for 5 years with the option of a 5 year 
extension which has been exercised, the contract ends 31 January 2027. 

Money-broking services 

The Council shall use money broking services in order to make deposits or to borrow, and 
will establish charges for all services prior to using them.  

An approved list of brokers will be established which takes account of quality of service and 
standing in the market. 

On a daily basis, treasury management officers shall compare rates available from different 
brokers and bank rates and also consider the use of money market funds in order to obtain 
the most competitive rate. 

Cash/Fund Management Services 

The Council’s current policy is that treasury management is a key, corporate function that 
should be retained within the Council. However, from time to time the Chief Finance Officer 
shall consider the advantages and disadvantages of alternative means of providing the 
treasury management function, as part of a best value review of the service.  

  

Page 142



49 

 

Consultants’/advisers’ services 

The Council’s policy is to appoint professional treasury management consultants to provide 
impartial advice and add value to the treasury management function. See TMP11 Use of 
External Service Providers for further details. 

Policy on External Managers  

The Council's policy is to appoint professional cash/external investment fund managers for a 
proportion (to be determined by the Chief Finance Officer) of its investments where 
appropriate. It will comply with the Local Organisations (Contracting Out of Investment 
Functions) Order 1996 (SI 1996 No 1883). 

a. The delegation of investment management to external managers will entail the 
following: 

b. A formal contractual agreement and documentation; 

c. Agreement on terms for early termination of the contract; 

d. Setting of a benchmark of 7 day LIBID with a performance target of at least 15% in 
excess of this 

e. Setting of investment counterparty constraints; 

f. Quarterly reporting of performance;  

g. Quarterly meetings with investment managers; 

h. Setting of other constraints/parameters/conditions as are considered to be necessary 
to preserve the best interests of the Council. 

i. The Code of Practice places an obligation on the organisation to monitor the 
performance of the fund managers. This organisation has appointed Link Asset 
Services Limited to assist in this. 

j. See TMP11 Use of External Service Providers for further details. 

 

3 METHODS TO BE EMPLOYED FOR MEASURING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE 
ORGANISATION’S TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES 

Benchmarking 

The Treasury Manager shall attend the Greater Manchester Treasury Management Group 
and any other appropriate forums to discuss and compare the performance of the Council’s 
treasury management activities. 

 Performance Indicators 

The GM Treasury Management Group uses the CIPFA Benchmarking Club to compare 
performance in the following areas: 

a) Size of portfolio; 

b) Numbers of transactions; 

c) Service costs (absolute and in relation to overall budget); 

Page 143



50 

 

d) Consolidated rate of interest; 

e) Average daily investments managed; 

f) Investment rate achieved; 

g) Tolerance for daily bank balance (and proportion of days within tolerance); 

h) Proportion of debt subject to variable interest rates. 

BENCHMARKS AND CALCULATION METHODOLOGY 

Debt management 

Treasury management officers shall produce indicators based on the following benchmarks  

a) Average rate on all external debt 

b) Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year 

c) Average period to maturity of external debt  

d) Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year 

Investment. 

The performance of investment earnings for both in-house and cash fund manager’s 
investments will be measured against 7 day SONIA. 

Non-Treasury  

The report approving the non-treasury investment should detail the person responsible for 
monitoring non treasury investment and the review periods 

 

  

Page 144



51 

 

TMP3 - DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS 

1 Decision Records to be kept 

Council, Cabinet, Committee or Lead Member minutes and decision notices will record all 
treasury management decisions taken by members. 

Treasury management officers shall record the daily dealing transactions on the sheet daily 
summary sheet from PS Live. They are not required to record the reasons behind the choice 
of a particular deal over another one that might be available, except where the transaction is 
exceptional or unusual. 

Treasury management officers shall record all transactions on the PS Live database, and 
retain electronic copies of documents for each individual transaction. 

 

Processes to be pursued 

In respect of funding decisions: 

a. the Chief Finance Officer will consult with the Council’s treasury management 
advisors and formulate a strategy; 

b. the strategy will be set down in an annual report as outlined in TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements; 

c. treasury management officers will conduct their activities in line with the strategy and 
the practices set out in TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, 
and dealing arrangements. 

In respect of borrowing and investment decisions, treasury management officers will: 

a. consult with brokers on a daily basis to determine the availability, duration and interest 
rates of deals; 

b. decide upon and conduct the most favourable deals for the Council; 

c. carry out the transactions in accordance with the practices set out in TMP5 
Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing arrangements. 

 

Issues to be addressed 

In respect of every decision made, appropriate members or officers of the Council will: 

a. above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the Council may 
become exposed; 

b. be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the transaction, 
and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained; 

c. be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s objectives 
and protect the Council’s interests, and to deliver good housekeeping; 

d. ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the Council’s 
creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been exceeded; 

e. be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against the 
market, and have been found to be competitive. 

Page 145



52 

 

In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, appropriate members or officers of the 
Council will: 

f. evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and timing 
of any decision to fund; 

g. consider the advantages and disadvantages of alternative forms of funding, including 
funding from revenue, leasing and private partnerships; 

h. consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate periods to 
fund and repayment profiles to use; 

i. consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the Council’s 
future plans and budgets. 

In respect of investment decisions, appropriate members or officers of the Council will: 

j. consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and prevailing market 
conditions; 

k. consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, especially the 
implications of using any which may expose the Council to changes in the value of its 
Capital. 

  

Page 146



53 

 

TMP4 - APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES 

1 GENERAL 

The following paragraphs specify the wider activities, instruments and techniques permitted 
by law and adopted by the Council. 

Where there is a conflict with another TMP which details a narrower range of permitted 
activities, instruments or techniques than that shown below, the other TMP shall have 
priority. In particular, this may be the case with TMP1 Treasury risk management where the 
Council may restrict activities beyond the limits permitted by this TMP in order to ensure 
even greater control over risks. 

Page 147



54 

 

2 APPROVED ACTIVITIES OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT OPERATION 

 Borrowing 

 Lending 

 Debt repayment and rescheduling 

 Consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury 
management techniques 

 Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s Capital financing and 
surplus funds activities 

 Managing cash flow 

 Banking activities 

 Leasing 

 Use of external fund managers  

 Managing the underlying exchange rate risk associated with the Council’s business 
activities 

3 APPROVED INSTRUMENTS FOR INVESTMENTS 

 Gilts 

 Treasury Bills 

 Deposits with banks, building societies or local authorities and money market funds 

 Certificates of deposits with banks or building societies  

 Euro-Sterling issues by certain supra-national bodies listed on the London and 
Dublin Stock Exchanges 

 AAA-rated money market funds 

 Debt Management Account  (run by DMO/PWLB) 

 Property funds 

4 APPROVED TECHNIQUES 

 Forward dealing  

 Callable deposits  

5 APPROVED METHODS AND SOURCES OF RAISING CAPITAL FINANCE 

On Balance Sheet             Fixed      Variable    

 

Page 148



55 

 

PWLB            

Municipal bonds agency       

EIB            

Market (long-term)          

Market (temporary)        

Market (LOBOs)        

Stock issues         

Local temporary        

Local Bonds       

Overdraft         

Negotiable Bonds        

Internal (Capital receipts & revenue balances)    

Commercial Paper      

Medium Term Notes        

 

Off Balance Sheet  

Leasing (not finance leases) *        

Deferred Purchase        

  

*Under IFRS16 due to be implemented in 2024/25 financial year, leases will no longer be classified 
as operating or finance and will both be on the Balance Sheet. 

All forms of funding will be considered dependent on the prevailing regulations, economic 
climate and local considerations. The S151 Officer has the power (through the scheme of 
delegation) to take the most appropriate form of borrowing from approved sources.  

6 LIMITS 

Limits on the value of borrowing and investment through different instruments are set out in 
TMP1 Treasury risk management 

7 IMPLEMENTATION OF MIFID II REQUIREMENTS 

Since 3 January 2018, UK public sector bodies have been defaulted to “retail” status under 
the requirements of MiFID II. However, for each counterparty it is looking to transact with, 
(e.g. financial institution, fund management operator, broker), there remains the option to opt 
up to “professional” status, subject to meeting certain requirements specified by MIFID II and 
that it has the appropriate level of knowledge and experience and decision making 
processes in place in order to use regulated investment products.  

Page 149



56 

 

MIFID II does not cover term deposits so local authorities should not be required to opt up to 
professional status. However, some non-UK banks do not have the necessary regulatory 
permissions to deal with retail clients, so opting up to professional status would be required.  

For investing in negotiable investment instruments, (e.g. certificates of deposit, gilts, 
corporate bonds), money market funds and other types of investment funds, which are 
covered by MIFID II, a schedule is maintained of all counterparties that the treasury 
management team are authorised to place investments with. This specifies for each 
investment instrument and for each counterparty, whether the authority has been opted up to 
professional status. (N.B. some money markets funds will deal with both retail and 
professional clients.) 

8 SCHEDULE FOR OPT UPS TO PROFESSIONAL STATUS 

TP-ICAP 

BGC Brokers 

Link Asset services 

ICD 

FIS  

Federated 

Deutsche Bank 

KBC Bank 

Page 150



57 

 

TMP5 - ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES,   AND 
DEALING ARRANGEMENTS 

1 LIMITS TO RESPONSIBILITIES/DISCRETION AT COMMITTEE/EXECUTIVE LEVELS 

General 

Salford City Council has an elected City Mayor. The elected City Mayor is democratically 
accountable to all residents of the City of Salford and has adopted the ‘leader and cabinet’ 
style of executive. In general, this means that policies within the ‘policy framework’ are 
approved at full Council. All other functions are the responsibility of the Cabinet. The 
Treasury Management Policy falls within the policy framework, and its adoption by Cabinet 
has been approved by Council. 

Through the Council Constitution’s Scheme of Delegation, responsibility for the 
implementation and monitoring of treasury management policies and practices is delegated 
from the City Mayor to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services, responsibility for 
the execution and administration of treasury management decisions is delegated to the S151 
Officer, and authority to execute transactions is delegated to the Strategic Finance Manager. 

Full Council 

Full Council shall:- 

a. receive the annual review of treasury management activities; 

b. approve the annual budget, including the revenue consequences of capital financing; 

c. receive and review Audit Committee recommendations and require appropriate action of 
Cabinet. 

d. approve the Council’s adopted clauses (of the treasury management code of practice); 

e. approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement; 

f. approve treasury limits and the annual Treasury Management Strategy; 

g. receive recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 

The Lead Member for Finance and Support Services is responsible to Cabinet for all 
financial activities, including treasury management, and shall: 

a. require the S151 Officer to make arrangements for treasury management in 
accordance with the policy and strategy approved by full council;   

b. monitor performance against the approved policy and strategy; 

c. submit reports prepared by the S151 Officer to the City Mayor where approval or note 
is required;  

d. approve the selection of external service providers and agree terms of appointment. 

 Audit and Accounts Committee 

Audit and Accounts Committee shall:- 

a. receive reports of Internal and External Audit; 

Page 151



58 

 

b. recommend appropriate actions to the Lead Member, City Mayor, and/or full Council. 

Overview and Scrutiny Board 

Overview and Scrutiny Board shall:- 

a. receive half-yearly reports, the outturn report, the treasury management strategy statement 
and quarterly reporting (end of June/end of December) on treasury management activities; 

b. recommend appropriate actions to the Lead Member, City Mayor, and/or full Council. 

2 PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES CONCERNING SEGREGATION OF DUTIES 

The main principle is that those officers with the authority and ability to authorise, effect and 
verify Treasury Management transactions shall in each case be different officers. 

All transactions shall be authorised by one of the officers delegated by the S151 Officer (i.e. 
one of the designated strategic finance or finance managers). 

The S151 Officer (or a delegated member of his/her team) shall be responsible for effecting 
transactions.. 

 

3 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION CHARTS 

Members 

 

  

FULL COUNCIL 

Executive Lead Member 

(Finance and Support 
Services) 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Board 

S151 Officer 

(Chief Finance Officer) 

 

Office of the 
City Mayor 

Page 152



59 

 

 Officers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive 

(Head of the Paid Service) 

S151 Officer 

(Chief Finance Officer) 

Monitoring Officer 

(Monitoring Officer) 

Deputy S151 Officer 

Strategic Finance Manager 

Finance Manager  

(Treasury Manager) 

 

Finance Officer 

Page 153



60 

 

4 STATEMENT OF DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES OF EACH TREASURY POST 

Chief Finance Officer 

The Chief Finance Officer is the S151 Officer. He/she has overarching responsibilities under 
s151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to make proper arrangements for financial affairs. 

In relation to treasury management they shall: 

a. recommend for adoption the clauses of the treasury management code of practice; 

b. recommend for approval the treasury management policy; 

c. approve Treasury Management Practices; 

d. regularly review and monitor compliance against the treasury management policy and 
Treasury Management Practices; 

e. report non-compliance to the Lead Member; 

f. submit budgets and budget variations to the Lead Member; 

g. receive and review management information reports; 

h. review the performance of the treasury management function and promote best value 
reviews; 

i. ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

j. ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

k. recommend to the Lead Member the appointment of external service providers. 

In practice, the S151 Officer may delegate any or all of these functions to the Deputy S151 
Officer.  

Deputy S151 Officer 

The Deputy S151 Officer has delegated power to take the most appropriate form of 
borrowing from the approved sources and to take the most appropriate form of investments 
in approved instruments. 

Prior to entering into any Capital financing, lending or investment transaction, it is the 
responsibility of the Deputy S151 Officer to be satisfied, by reference to the S151 Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer, the Council’s legal team and external advisors as appropriate, that the 
proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation, Standing Order, 
Financial Regulation or other part of the Council’s constitution. 

The Deputy S151 Officer may delegate his/her power to borrow and invest to members of 
staff. All transactions must be conducted by officers authorised by the Deputy S151 Officer, 
and all transactions must be authorised by officers given that power by the Deputy S151 
Officer. 

It is also the responsibility of the Deputy S151 Officer to ensure that the Council complies 
with the requirements of The Non-Investment Products Code for principals and broking firms 
in the wholesale markets. 

  

Page 154



61 

 

Treasury Manager 

The Finance Manager (Treasury Management) on the Corporate Accountancy team is 
assigned the role of Treasury Manager. His/her duties shall include:- 

a. Administration of the Treasury Management function on a day-to-day basis 

b. Calculation of cash flow; 

c. Execution of Treasury Management transactions; 

d. Ensuring adherence to agreed policies and practices; 

e. Maintaining good relationships with third parties and external service providers; 

f. Supervising Treasury Management staff; 

g. Monitoring and reporting on performance; 

h. Preparation and submission of management information; 

i. Identification of opportunities for improving practices. 

The Treasury Manager may delegate any non-supervisory duties to the Finance Officer on 
his/her team. 

Strategic Finance Manager  

This position has a management role over the treasury management team. They shall act for 
the S151 Officer to ensure that the treasury management team has sufficient resources to 
carry out its functions effectively. 

The Strategic Finance Manager shall control access and passwords on the Barclays.net and 
ICD on line systems. 

Finance Officer 

The Finance Officer on the treasury management team shall conduct all treasury 
management activities under the direction of the Treasury Manager.  

Head of the Paid Service (Chief executive) 

The responsibilities of this post in respect of Treasury Management shall be:  

a. Ensuring that a treasury management system is specified and implemented by the S151 
Officer 

b. Ensuring that the Chief finance officer reports regularly to Lead Member for Finance and 
Support Services on treasury policy, activity and performance. 

Monitoring Officer 

The Monitoring Officer role is currently assigned to the City Solicitor.  

The responsibilities of this post in respect of Treasury Management shall be: - 

a. To be satisfied that the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Treasury 
Management Practices, and any proposals to vary them, comply with the law, any 
appropriate codes of practice and the Council's Constitution; 

Page 155



62 

 

b. Ensuring that the S151 Officer complies with the Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and Treasury Management Practices; 

 To give advice to the S151 Officer when it is sought. 

Internal Audit 

Internal audit shall be carried out by the Audit and Risk Management Unit (ARMU). The 
responsibilities of AMRU shall be to: - 

a. Review compliance with the approved Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
Treasury Management Practices; 

b. Review division of duties and operational practice; 

c. Assess value for money from treasury activities; 

d. Undertake probity audits of the treasury function. 

5 ABSENCE COVER ARRANGEMENTS 

Daily money-market dealing is to be carried out by a member of the Treasury team. The 
team comprises the Finance Manager and the Finance Officer and they will endeavour to 
plan leave so that their absence is not concurrent. 

In the absence of both members of the Treasury team, cover will be provided by other 
members of the accountancy team.  

Transaction authorisation is to be given out by one of the Strategic Finance Managers  

If operational requirements dictate, the S151 Officer may give other officers temporary 
powers to conduct or authorise transactions.  

6 DEALING LIMITS 

Overall limits are set out in TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques. 

There are no further limits placed on the powers of individual officers to conduct or authorise 
transactions. 

7 LIST OF APPROVED BROKERS 

Approved brokers: 

a. ICAP; 

b. Martin Brokers (UK) plc; 

c. Prebon Yamane; 

d. Tradition UK Ltd; 

e. Sterling International Brokers Limited; 

f. ICD Institutional Cash Distributors 

Brokers are regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and also governed by the 
Non-Investments Products Code. The Treasury Manager may add properly-registered 
brokers to the approved list as he/she sees fit. 

Page 156



63 

 

8 POLICY ON BROKERS’ SERVICES 

Apart from the following transactions all treasury management deals shall be conducted 
through brokers: 

a. Deals with the Barclays Bank plc; 

b. Investments with the DMO; 

c. Loans from PWLB; municipal bonds agency 

d. Investments in call accounts ( Svenska / Barclays FIBCA). 

e. Investments in Money Market Funds (Prime Rate/Standard life/Blackrock/Deutsche) 

f. Investments with Bank of Ireland / Anglo Irish Bank  

g. Rescheduling of market loans directly with existing lenders 

9 POLICY ON TAPING OF CONVERSATIONS 

Officers undertaking treasury management activities may have their telephone conversations 
taped by other organisations.  

Some telephone conversations may be recorded by Council Voice Communications staff as 
a matter of routine, but Finance and Support Services staff are not required to tape 
conversations. 

10 DIRECT DEALING PRACTICES 

 See 7 

11 SETTLEMENT TRANSMISSION PROCEDURES 

Investments shall be transmitted via the Barclays.net system. There are three steps to this 
process: 

a. Set the payment up in Barclays.net; 

b. Electronic approval in Barclays.net; 

c. Verification of the payment post authorisation 

Steps a and c are to be conducted by the treasury management team, step b by an officer 
with power to approve a treasury management transaction (see 5.4 above). Access 
restrictions on the system, maintained by the Strategic Finance Manager shall ensure the 
division of duties. 

 In the case of failure of the Barclays.net system, transactions may be actioned directly in 
the local branch of Barclays Bank. Documents shall be signed by the officer arranging the 
transaction and by the authorising officer (who shall have the appropriate signatory level on 
the authorised signatory list of the bank account) so that the same authorities and divisions 
of duties apply. 

 Investments with Barclays Bank may be conducted by treasury management officers 
manually, subject to the normal authority. 

12 DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS 

Each treasury management transaction shall be evidenced by a pdf from pslive, containing 
the details of the transaction: 

Page 157



64 

 

the officer who carries out the transaction and inputs it into the Barclays.net shall be 
recorded in Microsoft teams; 

the officer who authorises the transaction and electronically approves it in the Barclays.net 
system shall be recorded my Microsoft teams. 

13 ARRANGEMENTS CONCERNING THE MANAGEMENT OF THIRD-PARTY FUNDS 

The treasury management policy and practices shall apply to the funds of Salford 
Community Leisure Ltd (SCL) and any similar organisation created for the provision of 
services on behalf of the City Council, where such funds are managed by the treasury 
management team. The Council’s treasury management team shall manage these funds as 
part of their overall activities. 

In general, any trust fund monies or other third-party funds managed by the Council’s 
treasury management team shall be consolidated with the Council’s monies for treasury 
management purposes and the treasury management policy and practices shall apply. 

Where officers of the Council, acting as trustees of any fund (and not as officers of the 
Council) manage trust fund monies, the policy and practices of the trust fund shall apply, not 
those of the Council. 

14 ARRANGEMENTS FOR LOCALLY-MANAGED SCHOOLS TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE CODE AND THE AUTHORITY 'S POLICIES AND PRACTICES. 

The School Bank Accounts Scheme enables schools to operate bank accounts with those 
high street banks and building societies listed on the ‘approved institutions list maintained by 
the Chief finance officer’.  

Schools are not permitted to lend, invest or otherwise place funds except in accordance with 
the Scheme without the prior permission of the S151 Officer, to be obtained via the Treasury 
Manager, nor are schools permitted to borrow money except from the Council.  

The approved institutions list maintained by the S151 Officer shall include those banks and 
building societies set out in the counterparty list in TMP1 Treasury Risk Management. 

15 Non-Treasury  

Non- treasury investments should be approved in accordance with the council constitution. 

Page 158



65 

 

TMP6 - REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS 

1 Annual programme of reporting 

a. Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: - 

 review of the organisation’s approved clauses, treasury management policy statement 
and practices 

 treasury management strategy report on proposed treasury management activities 

for the year comprising of the Treasury management strategy statement, Annual 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement   

 capital strategy to cover the following: - 

I. give a long term view of the capital programme and treasury management 
implications thereof.  

II. an overview of treasury and non-treasury investments to highlight the risks and 
returns involved in each and the balance, (proportionality), between both types of 
investments. 

III. The authorities risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for non-
treasury investments 

IV. Schedule of non-treasury investments 

b. Mid-year review  

c. Annual review report after the end of the year 

2 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to overview and 
scrutiny board and then to the full Council for approval before the commencement of each 
financial year.  

 

The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the anticipated 
movement in both fixed and shorter -term variable interest rates. For instance, this Council 
may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are expected to fall, or borrow early 
if fixed interest rates are expected to rise.  

 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following elements: 

a. Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

b. current Treasury portfolio position 

c. borrowing requirement  

d. prospects for interest rates 

e. borrowing strategy 

Page 159



66 

 

f. policy on borrowing in advance of need 

g. debt rescheduling 

h. investment strategy 

i. creditworthiness policy 

j. policy on the use of external service providers 

k. any extraordinary treasury issue 

l. the MRP strategy 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in interest 
rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published interest rate 
forecasts where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios. 

3 The Annual Investment Strategy Statement 

At the same time as the Council receives the Treasury Management Strategy Statement it 
will also receive a report on the Annual Investment Strategy which will set out the following: - 

a. The Council’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance 

b. The definition of high credit quality to determine what are specified investments as 
distinct from non-specified investments 

c. Which specified and non-specified instruments the Council will use 

d. Whether they will be used by the in house team, external managers or both (if 
applicable) 

e. The Council’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 
techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list 

f. Which credit rating agencies the Council will use 

g. How the Council will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks 

h. Limits for individual counterparties and group limits 

i. Country limits  

j. Levels of cash balances 

k. Interest rate outlook 

l. Budget for investment earnings 

m. Use of a cash fund manager (if applicable) 

n. Policy on the use of external service providers 

Page 160



67 

 

4 The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement  

This statement will set out how the Council will make revenue provision for repayment of its 
borrowing using the four options for so doing and will be submitted at the same time as the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 

5 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

The Council approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of treasury limits 
which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

 

The responsible officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the limits. Should it 
prove necessary to amend these limits, the responsible officer shall submit the changes for 
approval to the full Council 

6 Mid-year review 

The Council will review its treasury management activities and strategy on a six monthly 
basis. This review will consider the following: - 

a. activities undertaken 

b. variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

c. interim performance report 

d. regular monitoring 

e. monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 

7 Annual Review Report on Treasury Management Activity 

An annual report will be presented to overview and scrutiny board at the earliest practicable 
meeting after the end of the financial year, but in any case by the end of September. This 
report will include the following: -  

a. transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects 

b. report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions executed 

c. compliance report on agreed policies and practices, and on statutory/regulatory 
requirements 

d. performance report 

e. report on compliance with CIPFA Code recommendations 

f. monitoring of treasury management indicators  

8 Quarterly review 

The Council will review its treasury management activities and strategy on a three-monthly 
basis. This review will consider the following: - 

f. activities undertaken 

Page 161



68 

 

g. variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 

h. interim performance report 

i. regular monitoring 

j. monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 

9 Non-Treasury  

The report approving the non-treasury investment should detail the person responsible for 
monitoring non treasury investment and the review periods.

Page 162



69 

 

TMP7 -  BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS 

1 Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper accounting 
practices.  

The Council has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s ‘Treasury Management 
in the Public Services - Code of Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), together with those of its 
specific recommendations that are relevant to this Council’s treasury management activities. 

2 Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

The treasury manager will prepare a three year treasury management medium term financial 
plan with Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury management which will incorporate 
the budget for the forthcoming year and provisional estimates for the following two years. 
This will bring together all the costs involved in running the function, together with associated 
income. The treasury manager will exercise effective controls over this budget and 
monitoring of performance against Prudential and Treasury Indicators, and will report upon 
and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6.  

The Council’s budget is set out annually in the document ‘Revenue Estimates and Capital 
Programme’, also published on the internet at www.salford.gov.uk 

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is published annually and is also included on the 
internet at www.salford.gov.uk 

Comprehensive backing papers to all sets of accounts are maintained on the Corporate 
Accountancy team of the Finance Division of the Finance and Support Services Directorate. 

 List of Information Requirements of External Auditors. 

 Reconciliation of loans outstanding in the financial ledger to treasury management 
records 

 Maturity analysis of loans outstanding 

 Certificates for new long term loans taken out in the year 

 Reconciliation of loan interest, discounts received and premiums paid to financial ledger 
by loan type 

 Calculation of loans fund interest and debt management expenses 

 Details of interest rates applied to internal investments 

 Calculation of interest on working balances 

 Interest accrual calculation  

 Principal and interest charges reports from the <<system >> 

 Analysis of any deferred charges 

 Calculation of loans fund creditors and debtors 

 Annual Treasury Report 

Page 163

http://www.salford.gov.uk/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/


70 

 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

 Review of observance of  limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

 Calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision 

 External fund manager(s) valuations including investment income schedules and 
movement in capital values. 

3 Monthly Budget Monitoring Report 

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the corporate management team, the 
report is intended to highlight any variances between budgets and spend in order that the 
Council can assess its financial position. Details of treasury management activities are 
included within this report.  

 

Page 164



71 

 

TMP8 - CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT 

1 Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow projections are maintained on a daily basis to determine daily funding 
requirements. This is to be checked by another member of staff and authorised by an 
appropriate officer as set out in TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of 
responsibilities, and dealing arrangements. The cash flow projections are prepared from the 
previous years’ cash flow records, adjusted for known changes in levels of income and 
expenditure and also changes in payments and receipts dates. These details are 
supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received of new or revised amounts to be 
paid or received as and when they are known using PSlive software. A regular report is sent 
to the Head of Finance/Strategic Finance Manager. A record of loan transactions and 
investments is maintained on the pslive database 

2 Bank Statements Procedures 

The Council receives a daily electronic bank statements. A formal bank reconciliation is 
undertaken on a monthly basis. 

3 Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade With Creditors 

The Council has two standard contract conditions documents – one for goods and one for 
services – however, these may be modified for individual contracts. The standard payment 
terms are 30 days after receipt of goods or services. 

The creditors (SAP accounts payable or AP) system is run to generate BACS payments and 
cheques every working day.  

The system prepares a payment for an invoice whenever the payment terms for that 
particular supplier cause it to fall due. The default payment term is 30 days, but these can be 
overridden for particular suppliers (or for certain invoices) to terms of 7 days or ‘for 
immediate payment’. 

4 Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels 

Treasury management staff have access to the SAP AP system. Creditor levels are 
monitored on a daily basis to inform daily cash-flow decisions. 

Debtors staff are instructed to inform treasury management staff when significant payments 
are expected. 

5 Procedures for Banking of Funds 

There are no longer any significant cash collection facilities run by the Council. Those 
establishments that do collect cash and cheques for fees and charges are required to make 
adequate arrangements for the security of monies and regular banking arrangements. 

The Council has Post Office-run giro accounts to collect the majority of the cash and 
cheques previously paid into Council cash offices. The funds in these accounts are 
transferred into the Council’s bank accounts on a weekly basis. Various other cashless 
collection facilities administered by Allpay are used and funds are transferred to the Council 
on a daily basis.  

The most important of the funds with regard to the collection of income are: 

a. Council Tax; 

b. NNDR; 

c. Care on call; 

Page 165



72 

 

d. Sundry debtors. 

The Council encourages the majority of payers to use means of direct payment into the 
Council’s bank accounts. 

6 PRACTICES CONCERNING PREPAYMENTS TO OBTAIN BENEFITS 

When procuring goods and services under a contract, the Council’s standard tendering 
procedures include a question on possible discounts for early payment.  

At their discretion, directorates’ administrative staff may accelerate payment of creditor 
invoices through the urgent payments system in order to secure a discount. 

On request, treasury management officers provide analyses of the cash flow benefits of 
earlier collection of income or later payment of creditors to cost centre managers, in order to 
inform budgeting/savings decisions. 

 

 

Page 166



73 

 

TMP9 - MONEY LAUNDERING 

1 Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated through criminal 
activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report suspicions of money laundering. 
The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 established the main offences relating to money 
laundering. In summary, these are: 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property from 
England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates the 
acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 

These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any person 
involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a criminal 
conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences 

 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 
document. 

2 The Terrorism Act 2000 

This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an arrangement 
relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purposes of terrorism, 
or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses in the UK have an 
obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the 
proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to 
information that comes to them in the course of their business or employment  

 

3 The Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017 

Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services industry 
regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: - 

 identify and assess the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing 

 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively the risks of 
money laundering and terrorist financing identified through the risk assessments 

 appoint a nominated officer 

 implement internal reporting procedures 

 train relevant staff in the subject 

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new clients and 
transactions undertaken 

Page 167



74 

 

 report their suspicions.  

4  Local authorities 

Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the Terrorism 
Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the principal offences 
under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017. However, as responsible public bodies, they should 
employ policies and procedures which reflect the essence of the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, 
and anti-money laundering, regimes. Accordingly the Council has done the following: - 

a. Devised a money laundering policy, supported by anti-money laundering procedures 

b. appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions. This person is the 
chief internal auditor 

5 Procedures for Establishing Identity / Authenticity of Lenders 

It is not a requirement under POCA for local authorities to require identification from every 
person or organisation it deals with. However, in respect of treasury management 
transactions, there is a need for due diligence and this will be effected by following the 
procedures below. 

The Council does not accept loans from individuals.  

The Council uses brokers to obtain some loans. Initially, the source of a particular deposit is 
unidentified, as is required by the codes of conduct under which brokers are required to 
operate. 

The Council is able to place reliance on the brokers because of the codes under which they 
operate and their monitoring by the FSA. Brokers use only recognised sectors, ie banks, 
building societies, universities, local government and large corporate organisations. Any new 
accounts must first be approved by brokers’ compliance officers. Their experience and 
knowledge of the market further protects the Council against money laundering activities. 

 

  

Page 168



75 

 

TMP10 -TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS 

The Council recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 
treasury management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of relevant 
individuals: -  

a. Treasury management staff employed by the Council 

b. Members charged with governance of the treasury management function 

All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the 
requirements of their duties at the appropriate time. The Council operates a Professional 
Development Review system which identifies the training requirements of individual 
members of staff engaged on treasury related activities. 

Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the 
treasury manager to ensure that all staff under his / her authority receive the level of training 
appropriate to their duties. This will also apply to those staff who from time to time cover for 
absences from the treasury management team. 

 

1 DETAILS OF APPROVED TRAINING COURSES 

Approved courses are those provided by Link, the Council’s treasury management 
consultants, including: 

a. Introduction to treasury management; 

b. Treasury management for practitioners; 

c. Other relevant courses. 

Other approved courses include any provided by CIPFA or any other considered suitable by 
the S151 Officer.  

Internal training through periodic accountants briefings and, where relevant, on-the-job 
training, is also provided. 

2 RECORDS OF TRAINING RECEIVED BY TREASURY STAFF 

The Strategic Finance Manager shall arrange for the review of training needs via regular 
appraisal and for a record to be kept of training delivered to treasury management staff. 

The Finance Division of the Finance and Support Services Directorate has adopted a 
scheme of continuing professional development for all senior accountancy staff. This scheme 
applies to all staff engaged on treasury management activities. 

3 CAREER DEVELOPMENT / SUCCESSION ARRANGEMENTS 

The Council’s equal opportunities policy requires that all vacancies are filled by the standard 
recruitment and selection procedures. The policy does not allow for succession 
arrangements. 

The Head of Financial Management and Strategic Finance Manager shall be responsible for 
the development of treasury management staff to help ensure that they are capable of 
competing with other applicants in pursuit of career advancement. 

4 APPROVED QUALIFICATIONS FOR TREASURY STAFF 

Approved qualifications are: 

Page 169



76 

 

a. AAT; 

b. CIPFA (or other CCAB). 

5 STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE (SOPP) 

Where the Chief Finance Officer is a member of CIPFA, they must be seen to be committed 
to professional responsibilities through both personal compliance and by ensuring that 
relevant staff are appropriately trained. 

Other staff involved in treasury management activities who are members of CIPFA must also 
comply with the SOPP. 

Non treasury investments  

The council has professionally qualified staff across a range of disciplines including finance, 
legal and property that follow continuous professional development (CPD) and attend 
courses on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of new developments and skills. 

The council establishes project teams from all the professional disciplines from across the 
council as and when required. External professional advice is taken where required and will 
always be sought in consideration of any major commercial property investment decision. 

  

Page 170



77 

 

TMP11 - USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 

1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 
Consultants, Advisers 

This Council will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of treasury 
management. In particular, it will use external consultants to provide specialist advice in this 
ever more complex area. However, it will ensure that it fully understands what services are 
being provided and that they meet the needs of this organisation, especially in terms of being 
objective and free from conflicts of interest. 

It will also ensure that the skills of the in house treasury management team are maintained to 
a high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice and 
can avoid undue reliance on such advice. 

Treasury management staff and their senior management will therefore be required to 
allocate appropriate levels of time to using the following sources of information so that they 
are able to develop suitable levels of understanding to carry out their duties, especially in 
challenge and avoiding undue reliance.  

 The quality financial press 

 Market data 

 Information on government support for banks an 

 The credit ratings of that government support 

 

2 Banking services 

a. Name of supplier of service: Barclays Bank plc 

b. Contract commenced: 1 February 2022 and runs for 5 years to 30 January 2027 with 
the option of a further year 5 years. 

c. Cost of service: the cost is partly transaction-based, full details are available 

d. Payments due: quarterly 

e. Terms for early termination of the contract: either party may terminate the contract at 
the break points. 

3 Money-broking services 

Names of supplier of service:  

a. ICAP 

b. ICD 

c. Martin Brokers (UK) plc 

d. Prebon Yamane  

e. Tradition UK Limited 

f. Sterling International Brokers Limited 

Page 171



78 

 

For all of these brokers the council has opted up to professional status under MIFID II.  

 

4 Cash/fund management services 

a. Name of supplier of service: Not applicable 

5 Consultants’/advisers’ services 

a. Name of supplier of service:  Link Asset Services Ltd. 

b. Contract commenced 1st April 2019 for 3 years to 31st March 2022 with the option of 
a one year extension.  

c. Cost of service: £15,000 p.a.  

d. Payments due: bi-annually 

e. Terms for early termination of the contract: by agreement 

6 PROCEDURES AND FREQUENCY FOR TENDERING SERVICES    

Treasury management tenders will follow standard Council practice as set down in Standing 
Orders and Financial Regulations and, where appropriate, OJEC procedures. 

The Chief Finance Officer shall consider an appropriate contract length during the tendering 
process. 

 

  

Page 172



79 

 

TMP12 - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE   

The Council is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its treasury 
management function and in all of its functions. 

It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and implemented key 
recommendations on developing Treasury Management Practices, formulating a Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and implementing the other principles of the Code. 

The following documents are available for public inspection: - 

 Treasury Management Policy Statement 

 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  

 Annual Investment Strategy  

 Minimum Revenue provision policy statement  

 Annual Treasury Review Report 

 Treasury Management monitoring reports 

 Annual accounts and financial instruments disclosure notes 

 Annual budget 

 Capital Strategy 

 Minutes of Council / Cabinet / committee meetings 

 Schedule of all external funds managed by the Council on behalf of others and the basis 
of attributing interest earned and costs of these investments. 

 

1 Procedures for consultation with stakeholders. 

Stakeholders include: 

a. Members of the Council; 

b. Citizens of Salford; 

c. The partners discussed in TMP11 Use of external service providers; 

d. Other directorates of the Council. 

The Lead Member shall be accountable to the Council for treasury management. The annual 
report is to be submitted to Council. 

Members shall be accountable to the citizens of Salford through the normal democratic 
procedures. Interested parties may question Members through forums such as Councillors’ 
surgeries and Community Committees. 

The Treasury Manager shall maintain good relationships with the Council’s partners. 

Treasury management is a specialist financial activity and the S151 Officer shall direct it as 
they see fit within their s151 duties. Where other directorates have an interest through the 
budget process, details of cost and activities shall be made available to them. 

Page 173



80 

 

APPENDIX J – SELF-ASSESSMENT 

The CIPFA treasury management code requires public service organisations to nominate a body to 
be responsible for the scrutiny of treasury management strategies and policies. This is a relatively 
new responsibility for many organisations and to undertake this role effectively the nominated 
committee will require support training and guidance. CIPFAs publication audit committees, 
practical guidance for local authorities and police provides guidance to the audit committee if it is 
nominated take on the scrutiny role. It also identifies core areas of knowledge that committee 
members would require to undertake this role effectively 

Effective scrutiny is important as well as demonstrating compliance with the cord the scrutiny is an 
important part of ensuring effective governance of treasury management 

 it helps develop a better understanding of the treasury risk faced by the organisation 

 it helps better decision making on strategy and policy matters 

 it improves accountability and transparency 

 it improves knowledge and understanding of treasury matters amongst the 
members of the governing body 

This self-assessment has been designed to support the development of effective scrutiny there are 
a number of ways it came it can be used including 

 self-assessment by the committee responsible for undertaking the scrutiny  

 self-assessment by the responsible committee with additional input from the audit 
committee (where the audit committee doesn't undertake this function directly) 

 review as part of an internal audit of treasury management 

 reviewed by the treasury officers finance team responsible for reporting to the 
committee 

The most important thing is that the review is used to identify any areas where support or training 
is needed to ensure the development of effective scrutiny 

Page 174



81 

 

 

 

 

P
age 175



82 

 

P
age 176



83 

 

P
age 177



84 

 

P
age 178



85 

 

 

Page 179



2023/24 Medium term financial forecast    

1 

 

PART 1 

(OPEN TO THE PUBLIC) 
ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES 

TO COUNCIL  

WEDNESDAY, 22 FEBRUARY 2023 

 

Subject:  Medium term financial strategy 2023/24 - 2025/26 

Recommendations:  

Council is asked to endorse the Medium-Term Financial Strategy. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

This report outlines the proposed three-year Medium Term Financial Strategy which will inform the 
Council’s future financial planning and budget decisions to support delivery of the Council’s priorities. 
If agreed, the Strategy will form part of the Council’s policy and financial framework. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Local government finance settlement. 

Working papers held in the finance division. 

 

KEY DECISION: NO 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

Budget Strategy, Mayoral team priorities, Business Plans 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

As part of this decision-making process, the Public Sector Equality Duty requires council staff and 
elected members to consider what will be the impact on people with protected characteristics, whether 
in the wider city or in our own organisation. The Council needs to understand who will be affected, 
how will they be affected and where possible how to minimise unintended negative consequences by 
planning in mitigations from the start. 

This report sets out the three-year Medium Term Financial Strategy and reserves strategy which will 
inform the annual budget setting and service and investment decisions. Some proposals will need 
further development for Cabinet to make a specific decision. For these proposals a relevance check 
is required and, where it is indicated as needed by the relevance check, a full Equalities Impact 

Page 180

Agenda Item 6



2023/24 Medium term financial forecast  

2 

Assessment will be undertaken to inform the City Mayor when making that decision. 

  

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: 

There are risks to the council’s medium term financial position due to uncertainty in funding levels 
beyond 2023/24. In December 2022 the government published a local government finance policy 
statement setting out the government’s intentions for the local government finance settlement for 
the years 2023/24 and 2024/25, however, funding allocations within the settlement covered only 
2023/24. Whilst the government has provided some indications of its approach to the 
implementation of funding changes, the impact of these will only be clear once a full settlement is 
published at local authority level for 2024/5 and 2025/26. It should be noted that the government 
has committed to a wide ranging review of local authority finance in 2025/26. 

The council is managing its finances against a backdrop of a number of economic pressures such 
as rising interest rates and inflation. These factors continue to present a risk to the council’s budget 
assumptions over the medium term. 

The council has attempted to mitigate the risks around the uncertainty of resource levels and 
continuing economic pressures within its budget assumptions however the impacts will be 
monitored and managed as far as possible through the three-year plan and the council’s reserves 
strategy. 

The council’s capital programme is important in generating growth in the city. Elements funded by 
unsupported borrowing have a financial consequence on the revenue budget. 

 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires the Council to set a balanced budget for the 
following year by 11 March each year. The Council’s Medium term financial strategy and reserves 
policy supports the budget setting process and is consistent with the Council’s obligations to ensure 
sound financial management. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Report produced by the finance team working with budget managers in service groups. 

 

Contact officers: 

 

Joanne Hardman – telephone no. 793 3156 

e-mail: joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk 

Paul Hutchings- telephone no. 793 2574 

e-mail: paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk 

Page 181

mailto:joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk
mailto:paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk


2023/24 Medium term financial forecast  

3 

Tony Thompstone - telephone no. 793 2016 

e-mail: tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk 

 

 

3. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Anthony Hilton – Strategic Head of Procurement 

The procurement team will continue to work collaboratively with stakeholders, service areas, 
suppliers and partner organisations to deliver improved outcomes, ensuring that revenue budget 
savings delivered as part of the Innovate program are captured and reported to enable ongoing 
efficiencies to be maximised. 

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES: Sam Betts – Assistant Director (Human Resources and Organisational 
Development) 

The HR & OD team will continue to work alongside service directorates and the Innovate 
programme team to support the redesign of services in response to new ways of working, place 
based / integrated neighbourhoods' delivery, and new and emerging technologies.  Ensuring 
appropriate workforce development plans are in place to ensure we have the right people in the 

right place with the right skills maximising the opportunities that the apprenticeship levy provides. 

5.CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Michael Hemmingway Principal officer climate change 

The Salford Great Eight identified ‘Tackling the climate emergency’ as a  key priority for the city, this 
followed the City Council declaring a Climate Emergency in July 2019 and agreeing to Set a 
challenging target date of 2038 for carbon neutrality in Salford and to consider the climate change 
impact of each area of the Council’s activities. Consequently the medium term financial strategy 
should facilitate the mitigation of carbon emissions and support climate adaptation across the 
council and the city. 

 

 

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 

 

All wards 

 

 

Page 182

mailto:tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk


 

4 

1 Medium term financial strategy 
1.1 The medium term strategy 

1.1.1 The medium-term financial strategy (MTFS) takes a three-year view from April 2023 
to March 2026 and links together the revenue budget, capital strategy, annual 
capital programme, reserves strategy and treasury management strategy. 

1.1.2 The MTFS brings together current operating costs, the council’s ambitions and 
priorities and future funding streams, highlighting future pressures and opportunities 
which will feed into the annual budget setting cycle. The MTFS:- 

 Is the central document for future financial planning. 

 Plays a key role in the annual budget setting process – outlining the financial 
context in which the council’s annual resource allocation and budget setting is 

considered. 

 Aligns the budget with Salford priorities. 

 Covers a three-year period but is updated and reviewed regularly and will be subject 
to approval by Council on an annual basis as part of the budget setting process. 

 Reflects a range of financial principles and objectives as set out in section 1.2 
below. 

1.2 Financial Principles and Objectives 

1.2.1 The constitution sets out the framework for financial decision making but underlying 
decision making are the following objectives and principles. 

Financial objectives 

 Align resources with priorities. 

 Continue to seek increased efficiency from service delivery models. 

 Use innovation and transformation to improve or at least maintain quality at lower 

cost. 

 Minimise the impact of any cuts in service to those that are unavoidable. 

 Seek to deliver services which improve outcomes and represent value for money. 

 Manage risk, including holding reserves as appropriate. 

 Maintain the financial health of the council. 

Financial principles 

 The council will set and achieve a balanced annual budget. 

 Budget monitoring will be undertaken and reported to lead members, Cabinet and 

Overview and Scrutiny Board. 

 Where costs are not contained within existing budgets, managers will develop a 

recovery plan identifying options to bring budgets back in line with the budget. 

Page 183



 

5 

1.3 Current financial context and funding outlook 

1.3.1 In December 2022 the government published a local government finance policy 
statement setting out the government’s intentions for the local government finance 
settlement for the years 2023/24 and 2024/25, however, funding allocations within 
the settlement covered only 2023/24. Whilst the government has provided some 
indications of its approach to the implementation of funding changes, the impact of 
these will only be clear once a full settlement is published at local authority level for 
2024/5 and 2025/26. It should be noted that the government has committed to a 
wide ranging review of local authority finance in 2025/26. 

1.3.2 Core Spending Power (CSP) is the government’s preferred measure of resources 
available to local government. In the local government finance settlement 2023/24, 
CSP will increase by 9.4% nationally in cash terms in 2023-24 (a 1.1% cut in real 
terms, with inflation rates are currently much higher with CPI to December 2022 
being 10.5%). No further indications have been given for 2024-25 and 2025-26. 

1.4 Integrated Fund 

1.4.1 Following health service reform and the creation of an integrated care system at a 
Greater Manchester level, the locality integrated fund budget will be confirmed on 
an annual basis with health partners. This annual confirmation will include the value 
of contributions to the fund and approaches to sharing risks associated with budget 
pressures. Contributions to the fund will depend upon future funding flows from 
government in the form of social care grants and the government’s approach to 
adult social care precepts as part of the council tax regime. 

1.5 Council tax projections 

1.5.1 The government has confirmed its approach to council tax referendum limits for the 
period to 2024/25. The maximum council tax increase for both 2023/24 and 2024/25 
is 3% core council tax and 2% adult social care precept. The funding settlement 
confirms allocations for 2023/24 and published 2023/24 core spending values 
reflect the assumption that the maximum increase will be applied to council tax 
charges. On that basis the full increase is reflected in 2023/24 budget assumptions. 

1.5.2 The council’s current projections now provide for the following: 

 23/24 assumes a 2.99% core and 2% increase in the ASC precept, reflecting 

government assumptions within the core spending power calculations. 

 24/25 assumes a 1.99% core and 2% increase in the ASC precept. Whilst the 
government has indicated that core council tax can increase by up to 3%, the 
council will await confirmation of core spending power assumptions for 2024/25 and 

will consider in the context of the overall budget position. 

 25/26 assumes a 1.99% core increase. The government has not yet indicated the 
referendum limits for council tax increases in 2025/26 so current estimates 
represent a baseline position that will be reviewed once further guidance is made 

available. 

 

Page 184



 

6 

1.5.3 Council tax resources, as included within the MTFS, are summarised below. 
Projections include an assumed growth in the council tax base, expressed on a 
Band D basis, after an allowance for increased reliefs. Growth in the council’s 
council tax base for 24/25 to 25/26 will be continually updated, using the latest 
projections from the council’s regeneration team. 

Table 1 Council tax resource projections 

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Council tax (band D) base level £1,773.76 £1,862.28 £1,936.58 
Estimated increase (incl. ASC precept) 4.99% 3.99% 1.99% 

Revised council tax (band D) level £1,862.28 £1,936.58 £1,975.12 

Council tax property base (number) 71,905 73,859 74,936 
Add property base increases  1,954 1,077 500 

Revised council tax property base 73,859 74,936 75,436 

        

Estimated council tax resources (£m) 137.546 145.120 148.995 

 

1.6 Business rate projections 

1.6.1 The council’s projections are designed to protect the council’s resources from any 
significant fluctuations whilst being positive about the level of growth and therefore 
giving a realistic estimate of the overall level of our retained business rates. 

1.6.2 The council's projections for 2023/24 to 2025/26 assume the following: 

 Compensation by section 31 grant for the loss of income due to the freezing of 

business rate multipliers for 23/24 in the spending review. 

 Business rate multipliers will increase by 7.4% in 24/25 and 2% in 25/26. 

 Projections for growth in the council’s business rate yield for 23/24 to 25/26 will be 
continually updated, using the latest projections from the council’s regeneration 

team. 

 The cost of appeals will continue based on our updated historical trends. 

 That the council will move from the 100% business rates pilot to 49% retention in 
24/25 following the government’s commitment to a review of business rate retention 
levels prior to the 2024/25 settlement. 

 Business rates reset in 2025/26 based upon indications from the government that 
the reset will not be implemented prior to 2025/26. 

Page 185



 

7 

Table 2 Business rate resource projections in £m 

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

at 49% retention   45.237 48.585 
at 99% retention 91.396     

Baseline reset assumed in 23/24 0.000 0.000 5.225 

Estimated increase to the multiplier 0.00% 7.40% 2.00% 

Business rate resources, govt assumption 91.396 48.585 54.886 

Existing cumulative growth 5.227 9.671 5.225 
Baseline reset assumed 0.000 0.000 -5.225 

Return to 49% retention from 99% 0.000 -4.806 0.000 

Estimated increase to the multiplier 0.00% 7.40% 2.00% 

New growth 4.444 0.000 0.000 

Council share, excess over govt assumption 9.671 5.225 0.000 

 

1.7 Local resource summary 

1.7.1 Table 3 identifies the estimated resources available to the council over the period to 
2025/26. 

 These estimates will be updated as projections of council tax and business rate 

income are revised. 

 The notional RSG, business rate top ups and settlement funding changes are 
estimates taking into account advice from the council’s financial advisors  and 

membership of external groups such as SIGOMA. 

 The impact of collection fund estimated balances for 2022/23 are built into the 

council’s budget projections for 2023/24. 

 Exceptional collection fund balances were estimated for 2020/21 with the impact of 
these being required to be spread equally over the following 3 financial years 

(2021/22 to 2023/24). 

 Under the 100% pilot, public health grant is funded from within business rates 
income. If the council moves to 49% retention the grant will be received and 
accounted for by the service. An adjustment is made at the foot of the table to give a 
true comparator in the line “total available resources”. 

Page 186



 

8 

Table 3 Forecast resources in £m 

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Council tax 137.546 145.120 148.995 

Retained business rates:       

 > Council share, govt assumption 91.396 48.585 54.886 

 > Council share, excess over govt 
assumption 

9.671 5.225 0.000 

Government funding:       

 Business rates top up 30.788 32.342 27.660 

 Settlement funding changes 0.000 0.000 -1.189 

Collection fund estimated balances 31/03/2023:       

 Council tax estimated surplus 4.651 0.000 0.000 

 Business rates estimated surplus 2.015 0.000 0.000 

Collection fund 3rd (and final) year allocations of 
exceptional 20/21 balances: 

      

 Council tax -2.414 0.000 0.000 

 Business rates -6.360 0.000 0.000 

Notional RSG / RSG equivalent funding 0.000 26.025 21.728 

Total resources 267.293 257.297 252.080 

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -22.601 0.000 0.000 

Total available resources 244.692 257.297 252.080 

 

1.8 Financial projections  

1.8.1 The following projection is based on the council’s estimate of its local resources and 
changes to the council budget for example inflationary and demand pressures 
within services. 

Page 187



 

9 

Table 4 Budget projection in £m 

  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26  

Total available resources 244.692 257.297 252.080  

Prior year budget requirement 206.565 244.692 257.297  

Add forecast changes     

Capital financing requirement 1.500 0.000 0.000 1 

Pay inflation  11.105 8.010 7.218 2 

Price inflation 8.623 2.772 2.710 3 

National Insurance contribution rate -1.085 0.000 0.000 4 

Increments 0.220 0.220 0.220 5 

Other funding issues 2.918 0.100 0.100 6 

New Homes Bonus  -0.949 2.960 0.000 7 

Adult and Children's social care provision 30.772 21.319 -0.876 8 

Government specific grant changes -26.896 -3.391 21.885 9 

Business Rates reserve changes 0.000 0.000 -6.900 10 

Business Rates S31 grant reserve 13.680 0.000 0.000 11 

Reserve changes 3.598 -13.815 -5.668 12 

2022/23 investments and savings step ups 
and reversals 

0.608 3.409 0.000 13 

2023/24 savings proposals -5.967 3.462 0.000 14 

Total spending requirement 244.692 269.738 275.986  

Funding gap 0.000 12.441 23.906  

 

Page 188



 

10 

Table 5 Budget Assumptions 

Note 
ref 

Budget assumption 

1 Revenue consequences of capital spend estimates included within the capital 
programme, reflecting profiling over a three year period. 

2 Estimated impact of future pay awards and pay review. 

3 Prices – general provision for the impact of inflationary increases on the council 
with specific provision for a small number of items including energy costs and 
levies. 

4 Reflecting a change in government policy, the council will no longer need to meet 
the costs of an additional 1.25% employers national insurance levy to fund social 
care. This adjustment therefore reflects the removal of this cost from previous 
budget assumptions. 

5 Increments – potential cost of increments with budget set aside for specific 
requirements. 

6 Other funding issues addressing existing service pressures and capital 
maintenance. 

7 New Homes Bonus – Year 13 will attract a NHB reward for one year in 2023/24. 
Legacy payments have now stopped, The government has committed to reviewing 
the NHB scheme prior to the 2024/25 settlement announcement therefore a 
reduced level of funding is assumed for 2024/25. 

8 Increased contribution to the integrated health and care fund for adults and 
children’s services reflecting additional grant support and adult social care precept. 
For 2024/25 and 2025/26 this reflects existing grant receipts and changes in 
distribution formula. 

9 Changes to government specific grants including social care funding and 
reductions in section 31 grants as the 100% pilot ceasing and a change to relative 
needs formula for distributing adult social care grants. 

10 Delay in the business rates reset to 25/26, using a reserve to smooth the transition 

11 Reversal of the use of the business rates section 31 grant for extended retail relief 
and nursery discount. 

12 Application of the reserves strategy over the life of the MTFS. 

13 Impact of step ups and reversals for investments and savings approved for the 
2022/23 budget. 

14 Impact of 2023/24 savings proposals. 

 

Page 189



 

11 

1.9 Capital expenditure proposals 2024-2026 

1.9.1 Capital expenditure for 2024/25 and 2025/26 has provisionally been identified by 
services, but no approval, at this stage, has been given to these schemes or level of 
funding. 

Table 6 Capital expenditure by internal and external sources of finance £m 

 2024/25 2024/25 2025/26 2025/26 Total 

 Internal External Internal External  

Total Requirement 72.624 36.249 60.634 21.787 191.294 

 

1.10 Innovate 

1.10.1 Given the forecast future funding gaps in 2024/25 and 2025/26 and the risks 
inherent with the level of anticipated change in funding streams the council is 
continuing the Innovate Salford project – a programme aimed at identifying 
opportunities to develop long term, sustainable solutions to balancing the budget. 
Building upon our strengths of people, technology, and innovation there will be a 
focus on key workstreams including areas of high spend, housing and 
neighbourhoods. This work will be data and insight driven and support the council’s 
priorities of prevention and early intervention. 

1.11 Governance 

1.11.1 The council has a strong system of financial controls and procedures. Finance 
Regulations are embedded in the council’s constitution and apply to all elected 
members and officers of the council. As part of our commitment to being a 
transparent and effective organisation, we are committed to bringing together our 
financial performance, with our performance against each of our strategic priorities. 
This will give us a rounded and comprehensive view of how we are using our 
resources to deliver outcomes for our residents. 

1.11.2 Financial reporting will be integrated with performance reporting, to ensure 
alignment with the council’s core existing decision making and scrutiny 
arrangements. Governance will be exercised primarily through Lead Members, with 
monthly financial monitoring. 

1.11.3 Lead Members will be accountable to the City Mayor for financial performance 
through our already established performance meetings. This will align management 
of the budget with progress on key priorities and financial risk will be considered 
alongside service risks.  

1.11.4 Cabinet will be updated on corporate financial performance, as part of the council’s 
performance and risk reporting arrangements. 

1.11.5 By mainstreaming financial accountability in this way, the council is committed to 
strengthening our commitment to the City Mayor’s priority to create an effective and 
transparent organisation. 

Page 190



 

12 

1.12 Links to other strategies 

1.12.1 The MTFS sets out how medium-term financial planning will help the Council to 
continue to invest in priority services and to deliver its objectives through the 
effective management of the resources available. The Strategy also sets out the 
critical planning assumptions that ensure the council can continue to be 
sustainable. There is a degree of uncertainty and risk underpinning these 
assumptions, and this increases as we plan into the future. The strategy allows for 
flexibility to ensure the council is able to continue to manage the risks of uncertain 
funding, growing costs and increasing demands for its services. 

1.12.2 The MTFS forms a core part of the council’s Financial and Policy Framework and is 
supported by several related plans and financial strategies. 

1.13 Annual Budget Report 

1.13.1 The council is legally required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to deliver 
a balanced budget each year. The Annual Budget Report sets out how the Council 
will manage its available income to deliver against its priorities and sets out any 
significant changes to services as a result. The report sets out specific proposals for 
each year’s revenue budget and council tax, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
budget, capital programme and prudential borrowing limits. 

1.14 Treasury Management Strategy 

1.14.1 The Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) sets out the expected treasury 
operations on an annual basis and is reported to Full Council in February of each 
year, together with the Annual Budget Report and MTFS. The TMS sets out how 
the council will meet the key legislative requirements that govern good financial 
management in terms of:- 

 How the council will manage its borrowing and investment plans considering 
forecast interest rates and identifies the limits on any activity through treasury 

prudential indicators. 

 The reporting of prudential indicators for capital, external debt and any treasury 
management prudential indicators required under the Local Government Act 2003, 
CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and CIPFA Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance. 

 The Council’s cash investment strategy, relating to the investment of short-term 
cash surpluses. Longer term capital investments are set out in the Council’s Capital 
Programme. Criteria set out are in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance on Local Government 

Investments. 

 The Council’s Minimum Revenue Position (MRP) policy setting out the principles to 
be adopted for setting aside resources for the repayment of debt as required by the 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations. 

Page 191



 

13 

1.15 Capital Strategy and Capital Programme 

1.15.1 The Capital Strategy is set out in section 3 of the Annual Budget Report and is 
considered by Full Council in February each year. The Strategy sets out the 
framework for the management of capital finance, considering: capital expenditure 
and investment plans; debt and borrowing, and treasury management; commercial 
activity; other long-term liabilities; and knowledge and skills. The Strategy follows 
the framework established by the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities issued by CIPFA and updated in 2017. 

1.15.2 The strategy sets out the size of the council’s Capital Programme, the way in which 
it will be funded, and identifies priorities for investment that will be funded through 
the programme. 

1.16 Asset Management Plan 

1.16.1 The Asset Management Plan sets out the use and management of the Council’s 
assets now and into the future. The Plan plays a critical role in supporting delivery 
of the city’s and council’s priorities. Good management of our physical assets 
supports and shapes the quality of life, health and wellbeing of local people and 
businesses in the city. 

1.17 Reserves Strategy 

1.17.1 Reserves are a vital tool in financial management and are one of the mechanisms 
for managing financial risk, economic uncertainty and supporting longer term 
budget strategies and investment. The National Audit Office has identified the level 
of reserves as a key measure of financial sustainability – where authorities have 
insufficient reserves to meet financial pressures, they are at risk of failing to balance 
their budgets. 

1.17.2 General Reserves are currently £13.2m, therefore within the risk assessed range of 
an acceptable level of reserves identified within the 2023/24 budget report. On an 
annual basis this assessment will be reviewed, and any changes reflected in a 
revised recommendation from the Section 151 officer to increase or decrease the 
level of general reserves. 

1.17.3 The council holds a number of earmarked reserves. There is a need to have a 
strategic approach to the creation and maintenance of earmarked reserves to 
ensure long term financial sustainability. These, reserves should be aligned to the 
council’s strategic objectives and key risks through an annual assessment. 

In undertaking this assessment, the following should be considered:- 

 The council’s ability to withstand and mitigate the impact of unknown costs because 

of local and national changes across the medium-term period. 

 The purpose of the reserve and any associated restrictions on use. 

 Existing assumptions on the application of reserves over the life of the medium-term 
financial strategy, for example to provide a smoothing facility for anticipated 

changes in funding. 

 Any changes to the risk profile associated with the reserve and whether the level of 
the reserve remains appropriate to provide resilience against the financial risks and 

challenges facing the council. 

Page 192



 

14 

 Whether the nature of the risks facing the council have changed significantly with 
the need for existing reserves to be reclassified to meet the council’s corporate and 

strategic objectives over the medium-term period or new reserves established. 

 Changes in the wider economic environment which might have a material impact 
upon the council’s finances. For example, funding changes and scarring from 

Covid19. 

 Reserves are non-recurrent funds. Their use to cover recurring budget pressures 
only delays the requirement to make a recurrent saving. If therefore, reserves can 
be released from their planned purpose, consideration should be given to 
investment in innovation and transformational programmes designed to facilitate 

ongoing financial benefits. 

1.17.4 In undertaking this risk-based assessment the Section 151 Officer will consider the 
view of the external auditor. 

2 Conclusion 

2.1.1 As indicated within the report, the scale of the financial challenge facing the council 
over the medium-term period remains significant. The forecasts and assumptions 
included within the strategy will continue to be reviewed in the light of further clarity 
of funding changes, the impact of the cost-of-living crisis on service demand and 
the wider economy. These revisions will further inform work on the 2024/25 annual 
budget which will commence early in 2023/24. 

3 Recommendation 
3.1.1 Members are asked to endorse the medium-Term Financial Strategy. 

 

Page 193



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public 

 

REPORT OF:  
Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 

Chair of the Workforce Panel 
 

TO 

Council 

ON  
22nd February 2023

 

TITLE: Senior Manager Appointments & Remuneration 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
That Council: 

 Approve the changes to remuneration level for senior posts as detailed in the 

report as agreed by the Workforce Panel on 24th January 2023. 
 Note the establishment of the two posts of Executive Director of Children’s 

Services and Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health Partnerships. 

 Approve the remuneration level for these posts in line with the revised pay 

structure at a salary range of £125,000 to £140,000. 

 Authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any necessary or consequential 

amendments to the Council's Constitution required as a result of this decision 

or the decision of the Workforce Panel. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Significant challenges have recently been felt across all sectors regarding 
recruitment and retention of high-quality staff. Salford City Council has not been 

immune to these challenges and has experienced a marked increase year on year in 
staff turnover as well as problems filling vacancies, particularly for specialist positions 
and senior officer posts which in turn can have a detrimental impact on service 

delivery as it affects the capacity and capability to deliver quality services for 
residents and businesses.  

 
These problems have been exacerbated by the offering of more competitive pay 
rates by similar and neighbouring local authorities, leading to many staff seeking 

similar positions elsewhere. Additionally, Salford City Council’s exemplary 
commitment to being a Foundation Living Wage employer, whilst pertinent, has 

presented an issue for fair pay with the erosion in differentials between pay levels as 
living wage rates have increased on an annual basis.   

Page 194

Agenda Item 7



 2 

 
To rectify these issues, a review and refresh of the current pay structures and pay 
line in its entirety has been undertaken with a clear focus on fair and equitable pay 

across the organisation.  
 
At a meeting of the Workforce Panel in January 2023 approval was given to implement the 
revised local pay model on 1st April 2023 subject to the approval by Full Council of the 

budget required for the revised model.  

 
In line with the Council Constitution, the Council makes determinations in relation to 

the remuneration of posts whose remuneration is, or would become, £100,000 per 

annum or above.  As the salary range for a number of posts affected by this review 

already exceed £100,000 Council must be offered the opportunity to consider the 

revised salary ranges and are asked to approve the remuneration levels as agreed 

by the Workforce Panel. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:  

Peer Review Report 2022 

Workforce Panel Report 22nd November 2022 

Workforce Panel Report 24th January 2022 

 

KEY DECISION: YES / NO 

 

DETAILS: 

 
1. Background  

 

Significant challenges have recently been felt across all sectors regarding 

recruitment and retention of high-quality staff. Salford City Council has not been 
immune to these challenges and has experienced a marked increase year on year in 
staff turnover as well as problems filling vacancies, particularly for specialist positions 

and senior officer posts which in turn can have a detrimental impact on service 
delivery as it affects the capacity and capability to deliver quality services for 

residents and businesses.  
 
These problems have been exacerbated by the offering of more competitive pay 

rates by similar and neighbouring local authorities, leading to many staff seeking 
similar positions elsewhere. Additionally, Salford City Council’s exemplary 

commitment to being a Foundation Living Wage employer, whilst pertinent, has 
presented an issue for fair pay with the erosion in differentials between pay levels as 
living wage rates have increased on an annual basis.   

 
To rectify these issues, a review and refresh of the current pay structures and pay 

line in its entirety has been undertaken with a clear focus on fair and equitable pay 

Page 195



 3 

across the organisation. This review has been undertaken over the past number of 
months with a range of evidence-led processes being incorporated into the work to 
ensure robust analysis in reaching a conclusion.   

 
Agreement was reached with the joint trade unions in relation to a jointly agreed model  

to be put forward for formal consultation with their members resulting in an 
overwhelmingly positive response of 97% voting to accept the revised new pay model.  
 

At a meeting of the Workforce Panel in January 2023 approval was given to implement the 
revised local pay model on 1st April 2023 subject to the approval by Full Council of the 

budget required for the revised model.  
 
In line with the Council Constitution, the Council makes determinations in relation to 

the remuneration of posts whose remuneration is, or would become, £100,000 per 

annum or above.  As the salary range for a number of posts affected by this review 

already exceed £100,000 Council must be offered the opportunity to consider the 

revised salary ranges and are asked to approve the remuneration levels as agreed 

by the Workforce Panel. 
 

2. Changes to leadership posts 

 

On 24 January 2023 the Workforce Panel considered a report of the Chief Executive 

regarding Senior Leadership Arrangements & Appointments and agreed the 

recommendations. In summary the report proposed that: 

 The vacant Strategic Director for People post be redesignated as the 

Executive Director of Children’s Services and hold the statutory role and 

responsibilities of the Director of Children's Services (DCS). This post would 

also have service responsibilities for Children’s Social Care, Early Help and 

School Readiness, Education and Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing. 

 

 The post of Director of Social Care, which was hosted by Salford Royal 

Foundation Trust as part of the Integrated Care Organisation leadership 

arrangements (which is substantively vacant following the resignation of the 

permanent postholder) transfer with funding to Salford Council and be 

designated as holding the statutory role and responsibilities of the Director of 

Adult Social Services (DASS). This new post of Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care and Health Partnerships would initially take responsibility for Adult 

Services, a strengthened integrated commissioning function, and Public 

Health. The post will provide Director leadership to Salford Care Organisation 

and be part of the Salford Care Organisation leadership team. 

 

 The Director of Public Health (DPH) role will report directly to the Executive 

Director of Adult Social Care and Health Partnerships (DASS). However, in 

line with statutory requirements, the post will retain a dotted line to the Chief 

Executive and contribute to the corporate management of the council, in 

particular through membership of the Corporate Management Team.  

 

 The Assistant Director for People and Communities, whose role includes the 

management of housing options, homelessness and supported tenancies will 

Page 196



 4 

report directly to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

Partnerships (DASS). However, the post will have a dotted reporting line to the 

Executive Director of Place to build greater alignment with the place lead 

responsibility for delivering affordable housing without losing the alignment of 

housing support with the delivery of services to people. 

 

 To reflect the change in context and following the conclusion of the pay review 

that the posts of Strategic Director be re-designated as Executive Director and 

Assistant Director posts will be redesignated as Director. 

 

The Workforce Panel have established appointment panels and agreed the approach 

and process for the recruitment, selection, and appointment to the posts of Executive 

Director of Children’s Services and Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 

Health Partnerships. 

 

Council is recommended to: 

 Note the establishment of the two posts of Executive Director of Children’s 

Services and Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health Partnerships. 

 Approve the remuneration level for these posts in line with the revised pay 

structure detailed below. 

 Authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any necessary or consequential 

amendments to the Council's Constitution required as a result of this decision 

or the decision of the Workforce Panel. 

 

 
3. Revised pay structure  

 
The agreed key guiding principles to underpin the council wide pay review have 
remained the core reference point throughout and have ensured that the revised pay 

model has incorporated the pay line and structures in their entirety across all pay 
bands, maintained the integrity of the job evaluation schemes and is equitable and 

equal pay compliant. 
 
As detailed in the Pay Policy Statement the council uses the chief officer job 

evaluation scheme developed by the Local Government Employers. This scheme 
applies to all senior posts paid on locally determined salary points from spinal column 

point 53 and above, incorporating all chief officer posts.  This provides assurance that 
all pay differentials can be objectively justified through the use of job evaluation 
mechanisms which directly establish the relative levels of posts and grades according 

to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.  
 

There are eight posts affected by the pay review where the salary range already 
exceeds £100,000.  The revised arrangements for which are outlined in the table 
below: 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 197



 5 

Job Type Post Salary Range 

 

Point Salary £ 

Chief Executive / Head of 
the Paid Service 

Chief Executive 1 
2 

3 
4 

170,000 
175,000 

180,000 
185,000 

Executive Director Executive Director Children’s 
Services 

 
Executive Director Adult Social 

Care & Health Partnerships 
 
Executive Director Place 

 
Executive Director Service 

Reform 

1 
2 

3 
4 

 

125,000 
130,000 

135,000 
140,000 

Director / Statutory 
Officer 

City Solicitor 
 

Director of Public Health 
 
Chief Finance Officer 

1 
2 

3 

100,000 
106,000 

112,000 

 

There is a requirement for transparency in setting pay and any changes to the pay 
structure and therefore these changes will also be reflected in the City Council's 

annual pay policy statement.  
 
4. Conclusion 

 
Ensuring fair and equitable pay across the organisation is imperative in order to 

recruit and retain a high calibre of talent and provide quality services for residents 
and businesses within the city.  
 

Therefore, Council is asked to: 

 Approve the changes to remuneration level for senior posts as detailed in the 

report as agreed by the Workforce Panel on 24th January 2023. 
 Note the establishment of the two posts of Executive Director of Children’s 

Services and Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Health Partnerships. 

 Approve the remuneration level for these posts in line with the revised pay 

structure at a salary range of £125,000 to £140,000. 

 Authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any necessary or consequential 

amendments to the Council's Constitution required as a result of this decision 

or the decision of the Workforce Panel. 

 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
Salford City Council Constitution 

 

Page 198



 6 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  
To ensure potential modelling did not have a disproportionate negative impact on 
particular groups, equality impact analysis was carried out on an ongoing basis 
throughout the course of the pay review. Informing this approach, a newly designed 

equality survey which was broken down by protected characteristics as laid out in the 
Equality Act, 2010 was distributed across the organisation supported by an internal 

communication plan to encourage completion. The survey was created in 
collaboration with workforce equality groups to ensure it was in line with best practice 
and used the most relevant wording regarding inclusivity. A new digitalised process 

was implemented to make it as simple as possible for staff to supply data with the 
trade unions providing a point of access for staff who may lack digital accessibility.  

 
The gathered equality data was then amalgamated alongside proposed pay 
modelling. The outcome of the review and revised model provide a positive outcome 

for all, and a summary of findings are outlined below with further details contained 
within the EIA: 

 There was no significant disproportionate negative impact as a result of 
applying the revised model when analysed across the range of protected 
characteristics. 

 The most notable impact was found within the ‘gender’ protected 
characteristic, with females receiving a slightly lower increase in basic pay on 

average compared to males under the revised model. On further analysis this 
primarily relates to a high proportion of females occupying posts in the first 
pay band which has benefited historically from investment in ensuring 

minimum pay rates in line with the foundation living wage and higher 
percentage uplifts from national pay negotiations.  This band therefore has 

remained largely unaffected by the pay review alone.  This is reflective of 
Salford’s most current statutory reported Gender Pay Gap data, particularly 
looking at the roles occupied by women.  

 Analysis against the ‘race’ protected characteristic found that those employees 
identifying as BAEM will receive a higher average increase in monetary terms 

than others across this indicator, with the exception of those employees 
selecting ‘prefer not to say’.  

 
The recruitment, selection and appointment process will be undertaken in a lawful, 
fair, transparent and consistent manner in line with our recruitment and selection and 

equal opportunities policies, commitments and frameworks.  

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:   

Stability and capacity of the workforce is reported as a strategic risk in the Council’s 
Strategic Risk Register with a likely impact and major risk for the continuity of the 
delivery of quality service provision if action is not taken to address.  This review is 

reported as a priority action to mitigate the impact and address the issues as 
outlined. 

 

Page 199



 7 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Jeanette Williams, Principal Solicitor, 
Employment Team 
In order to address significant challenges throughout the City Council regarding 
recruitment and retention of staff, it was agreed that formal discussions with the joint 
trade unions should commence to review and refresh the current pay structures and 

pay line in its entirety with a clear focus on fair and equitable pay across the 
organisation.   

  
At its meeting on 24th January 2023 Workforce Panel approved the implementation of 
the revised pay model with effect from 1 April 2023 in principle, subject to the 

approval by Full Council of the budget required for the revised model.  
 

The approval of Full Council is required for implementation of the revised pay model 
as it affects the remuneration of officers earning above £100,000. 
 

Furthermore, there is a requirement for transparency in setting pay and any changes 
to the pay structure and this will need to be reflected in the City Council's annual pay 

policy statement.  
 
It is noted that the redesignation of some senior posts as part of the work undertaken 

will require changes to the Constitution to ensure that this accurately reflects the 
current management structure.  Council can delegate the power to make the 

necessary changes to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Joanne Hardman, Chief Finance 
Officer 
 

The budget process, for both the annual 2023/24 budget and the medium-term 
financial strategy are due to be discussed at Budget Council in February. The 

revenue budget report will propose a balanced budget position for 2023/24 which 
incorporates the estimated costs of the pay review including the changes outlined in 
this report.  

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: n/a 
 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  

Are contained within the body of the report. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: n/a 

 

Page 200



 8 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: ALL 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Samantha Betts, Assistant Director Human 
Resources and Organisational Development 
Samantha.betts@salford.gov.uk  

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:  
 

 

Page 201

mailto:Samantha.betts@salford.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Report of the City Mayor - 2023/24 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme
	04b Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 2023-24 Conservative Group Amendment

	5 Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement
	6 Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023/24 - 2025/26
	7 Senior Manager Appointments and Remuneration

